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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) @@

Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
Professor Xu Yang

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung sss, 88s (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff BBs, uP

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBS, SBS, Jr (123

Mr. Li Wai Keung ()2

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen up

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel s8s, MH, Jp ()

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (FCPA)

Company Secretary
Ms. Tse Man Yu Michelle (FCPA)

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors
As to Hong Kong law
Baker & McKenzie

As to China law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Member of Nomination Committee
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China CITIC Bank Corporate Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office
Room 2205, Sun Life Tower,
The Gateway, 15 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Company’s 13.5% 5 years senior notes due 2016
The Company’s 13.5% 5 years senior notes due 2017
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Convertible Notes Listing
The Company’s 6.5% convertible notes due 2018
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

SHENZHEN
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Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

2.64

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K

A Birdview — CSC Shenzhen
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A Phase Il trade center
ZHRZ S

China South City Holdings Limited ZERGHIEA AR A7)

China South City Shenzhen
Located in Pinghu, Shenzhen, China South City
Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”) covers a total site area of
approximately 1.06 million square meters (“sg.m.”) with
a planned gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
2.64 million sg.m.. Phase |, phase Il and part of its
phase lll properties with a total GFA of approximately
1.80 million sg.m. are in operation.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics
and trading platform to serve the Pearl River Delta
Region, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide spectrum of
product range, from raw materials to commodities
of various industries, themed products and factory
outlets, complemented by comprehensive ancillary
facilities and services including offices, residential
facilities, conference and exhibition facilities, both
bonded and common warehousing, hotel and
restaurants, banking and financial services, on-site
logistics services in couple of quality testing services,
property management, e-commerce platform, on-site
governmental organization, etc.
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
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Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

4.28

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K

A Phase | trade centers
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A The Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Commodity Fair 2013
held in CSC Nanchang L
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China South City Nanchang
Located in Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province,
China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) covers
a site area of approximately 1.54 million sg.m. with a
total planned GFA of approximately 4.28 million sqg.m.
for phased development. Currently, the project is in
its phase | construction with a planned GFA of 1.09
million sg.m., including trade centers of 708,000 sg.m.
and residential facilities of 383,000 sg.m..

CSC Nanchang aims to make full use of its advantageous
location as a vigorous, integrated logistics trading
platform for the Pan Pearl River Delta and Yangtze
River Delta regions. The project site is highly accessible
with a comprehensive freight and public transportation
network, together with Nanchang West Railway
Station, a principal high speed rail station located
just about 1.2 km from CSC Nanchang and slated
for operation at the end of 2013. Benefiting from the
office relocation plan of the provincial government
to the vicinity of merely about 2 km from the project
site, CSC Nanchang will excel itself with its profound
business potential, which will in turn boost the regional
economy, as well as its own economic value.
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

NANNING
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Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

4.88

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K

A Trade center: Plaza 1

RHHL - SRR HES

A Trade center: Plaza 2

RHHL SRR HES

A Residential facilities
FEF
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China South City Nanning

Located in Nanning, the capital city of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, China South City Nanning
(“CSC Nanning”) is planned to cover a net land area of
approximately 1.83 million sg.m. with a total planned
GFA of approximately 4.88 million sq.m. for phased
development. Currently, the project is in its phase |
construction, of which a planned GFA of 1.36 million
sg.m. is underway, including trade centers of 896,000
sg.m. and residential facilities of 465,000 sg.m..

Capitalizing on its ideal geographical position with
extensive transportation network, CSC Nanning will
be developed to meet the demand in the Northern
Bay Region and Southeast Asia. The tariff waiver for
crossborder trade since the establishment of the China
— Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN”)
Free Trade Area will help boost business and trade
activities for CSC Nanning.
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
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Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

17.50

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K

A Trade center in shopping mall style

BB RFTRZZH 0

A Trade center in shopping mall style

EH AR RSP0

A Trade center in shopping mall style: Plaza 2
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China South City Xi’an

Located in Xi'an, the capital city of Shaanxi Province,
China South City Xi’an (“CSC Xi’an”) is planned to
develop a site area of approximately 10 million sg.m.
with a planned total GFA of approximately 17.5 million
sqg.m. for phased development. Currently, the project
is in its phase | construction with a planned GFA of
933,000 sqg.m. for trade centers underway, among
which 557,000 sg.m. are in shopping mall style and
376,000 sg.m. are standalone low-rise trade center
shops.

With its strategic location at Xi’an International Trade
and Logistics Park, which is well equipped with a
railway container terminal and the largest bonded
area in the Northwest China, CSC Xi'an is amidst an
extensive transportation network. It is situated at an
exit of the North Third Ring Road, and two subway
lines are planned to pass through. Combining its
geographical convenience with its modern facilities and
services provided, the Group is positioning CSC Xi'an
to become a major and integrated logistics and trade
centre.
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
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Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

12.00

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K

A Standalone low-rise trade center shops

BEEERZT L

A Standalone low-rise trade center shops
BBEERZSHF O

A Standalone low-rise trade center shops
BREER ST
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China South City Harbin

Located in Harbin, the capital city of Heilongjiang
province, China South City Harbin (“CSC Harbin”) is
planned to develop a site area of approximately 10.0
million sg.m. with a planned total GFA of approximately
12.0 million sg.m. for phased development. Currently,
the project is in its phase | construction with a planned
total GFA of approximately 1.57 million sq.m., of
which 1.07 million sg.m. are trade centers and the
remaining 497,000 sg.m. are ancillary facilities, among
which, construction of 673,000 sg.m. trade centers is
underway.

Capitalizing on its beneficial position in Northeast
China, a premier hub for cross-boarded trade with
countries in Northeast Asia and its proximity to the
China-Russia boarder, the project aims to capture
opportunities arising from the emerging development
potential in the area.
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

ZHENGZHOU
RN == R I

Planned Total GFA #3522 £ HE

12.00

million m®>* BE ¥ 5K
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A Trade center: Plaza 1
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A Trade center: Plaza 1

RHHL SRR HES

A Standalone low-rise trade center shops
BHBEERZSHHD

14 China South City Holdings Limited i G R A 7

China South City Zhengzhou
Located in Zhengzhou, the capital city of Henan
Province, China South City Zhengzhou (“CSC
Zhengzhou”) plans to occupy a net land area of
approximately 7 million sgq.m. with a planned total GFA
of 12 million sg.m. for phased development. Currently,
the project is in its phase | construction with a planned
total GFA of approximately 2.65 million sg.m. for trade
centers, among which 1.50 million sg.m. is under
construction.

Leveraging its strategic location, CSC Zhengzhou has
access to extensive transportation networks. It is an
important passenger and freight hub in China, together
with Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport, the
Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and Beijing-
Hong Kong-Macao Highway. Benefitting from its prime
location in Zhengzhou City, the project aims to cater
to the strong demand for integrated logistics and trade
centers in China’s interior regions, and will provide a
convenient trading platform to promote trade among
cities in central China.
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CSC Zhengzhou under construction 7E3&H Y ZBM ZERT I, A
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

HEFEI
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Planned Total GFA #5272 £ HE

12.00

million m®>* BE ¥ A ¥

A Rendering
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China South City Hefei

Located in Hefei, the capital city of Anhui Province,
China South City Hefei (“CSC Hefei”) is planned to
cover a site area of approximately 10.0 million sg.m.
with a planned total GFA of approximately 12.0
million sg.m. for phased development. In May 2013,
CSC Hefei successfully bid for the first batch of land
with attributable GFA of 3.94 million sq.m. and the
groundbreaking ceremony was held by the end of
June 2013.

Capitalizing on its strategic location in Hefei New Industrial
Demonstration Park with well-developed infrastructure
in adjacent areas, extensive transportation system of
railways, highways and river transport across China
and a political, economic, cultural and financial center
at the heart of East China, the project aims to capture
opportunities arising from the emerging development
potential in the area.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MERE

(in HK$'000F% )

Revenue

WA
7,488,061

3,670,767
2,234,033 I
2011 2012 2013

Net assets value

EEFE
16,042,761

12,995,291
10,618,036 I

2011 2012 2013

18 China South City Holdings Limited #EEg 5 IR B fR A 7]

Net profit attributable to owners of the

parent
BRAREEAEBLEFE
2,749,864
2,070,708
1,552,455 I
2011 2012 2013

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent excluding fair
value gains on investment properties, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries and their respective related tax effects

AT RENEAFERE - HERBARAKERZERE
MEBBBZENTARES AREENE

1,776,382
922,641
542,339 I
2011 2012 2013



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

= —d
HEBmEGE)
(in HK$'000F%&t)
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31BLEE
2013 2012  Approximate
HK$ HK$ Change %
B IT BT AV 18 %
Revenue WA 7,488.1 milionHE&  3,670.8 milionH & 104.0
Gross profit E 5 4,176.7 milionBE  2,236.1 milion® & 86.8
Gross profit ratio eS| 56% 61%
Net profit attributable to owners ~ BF A EHEHE AFE(S
of the parent bl pie| 2,749.9 millionE&  2,070.7 milionB & 32.8
Net profit attributable to owners  REHREWE A FE
of the parent excluding fair value ~ Utzs « HEFHTE R A
gains on investment properties, Wzt Mz EH WS HY
gain on disposal of subsidiaries AR 2/
and their respective related tax ~ RFA RIS AE(L
effects (“Operating Profit”) FERE(T&EWER]) 1,776.4 milionH & 922.6 millionH & 92.5
Net assets value BEFE 16,042.8 millionEE&E 12,995.3 milion® & 23.5
Gearing ratio BEREGFHE 32% 21%
Proposed final dividend per share #%& < EAA% = (G A% ) HK10.0 cents3&1l HK7.5 cents &Ll 33.3

Dividend payout ratio KB L&

34%

34%

Annual Report 2012/13 5 19



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
MBRE(E)

(in HK$ 000F& 1)

Analysis on net profit attributable to owners of the parent

BRREEAREFERED T

35%
HK$973.5 million
973.5F&EE T

37%
HK$767.7 million
T67.7TEEETT

65%
HK$1,776.4 million
1,776.4BE&E T

45%
HK$922.6 million
9226 BB T

FY2012/13 FY2011/12
2012130 EE 2011/120 &
HK$2,749.9 million HK$2,070.7 million
2,749.9B B ETT 2,070.7B BB
@® Operating Profit @ Fair value gains on Gain on disposal of

& investment properties subsidiaries after
after related tax related tax effects
effects MBS S 2%
MBS S 2% HEHBA TS
HEMER T ER S

20 China South City Holdings Limited g3 A% B R A 7



AWARDS

BRI

Projects Awards Organizer
1HE 815 THIRE{Y
CSC Shenzhen e Brand Enterprise Award e The Organizing Committee of China (Shenzhen)

RY | R

i EE

e National Excellent Enterprise with Foreign Investment
ZEERINGIRECHE
— Excellent Enterprise & Turnover
(2012 e Shenzhen)
B (2012FF « FII)
— Top Ten Taxpayment Enterprise
(2012 e Shenzhen)
T RNFIRER (20126 F « FII)
e Guangdong Famous Trademark

ERAEREE

International Logistics and Transportation Fair
FECRIDBEBRDREZBEREESERS

e China Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment & Shenzhen Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment

PESNEIRE D EHE R IINERECE RS

e Guangdong Province Administration For Industry &
Commerce
BERETIE/ITHRERR

CSC Nanning
FIEE R

1st Charity Award, Nanning - Special Award
FERERSE  FHERE

Nanning Municipal Government
FZE T ARBUT

CSC Nanchang

e QOutstanding Enterprise to Promote Urbanization, 2012

e China Commercial Real Estate Association

FEEEEE 2012F R BB T L iERR R L B R % PEEEMETERS
CSC Xi’an e Xi'an Key Project, 2012 e Xi'an Municipal Development and Reform Commission
FAERERDI Faem201 2F EERIE R & The Leading Office of Xi'an Key Projects

ALMERINEZE G RARTENERAR A
AN N

CSC Zhengzhou
BB AN ZE R

e Zhengzhou Metropolis Building Enterprise, 2012
2012F EEM T ABTERER N B

e Major Investment Award, Zhengzhou 2012

2012F EEM MBS EEAIEE 42

e Zhengzhou Housing Security and the Real Estate Board
& Zhengzhou Housing and Real Estate Association
WM EEREF HEEIE R RN HERE R
BHEXHE

e CPC, Zhengzhou & Zhengzhou Municipal Government
R HLER N 2 ] 8RN T A RBUR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EREWwE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China South City
Holdings Limited (“China South City” or the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | am pleased to report the annual results
of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2013 (“FY2012/13”
or the “Year”).

Results and Dividend

The Group continued to excel in its operating performance in
FY2012/13, during which revenue surged by 104.0% to HK$7,488.1
million (the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012 (“FY2011/12”) :
HK$3,670.8 million). The substantial growth in revenue was mainly
attributable to the successful replication of its business model and
strong execution capabilities as evidenced by the remarkable sales
performance of CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC Nanning and
CSC Xi’an. Net profit attributable to equity owners of the parent
also rose by 32.8% to HK$2,749.9 million (FY2011/12: HK$2,070.7
million). Basic earnings per share were HK45.62 cents (FY2011/12:
HK34.58 cents).

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK10.0 cents per share
for the FY2012/13 (FY2011/12: HK7.5 cents per share), subject to
shareholder approval at the Company’s forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM”) to be held on 21 August 2013.

Review of the Market and Operations
Robust Growth in Revenue Backed by
Successful Replication of Business Model

With the aim to pursue a sustainable society, the Chinese
Government has delegated the structural transformation and new
urbanization strategies in the “12th National Congress” and added
attention to modern logistics in the 12th National Five-Year Plan, while
the local governments echo to increase strategic tendency to relocate
existing less equipped, single-industry wholesale markets from prime
urban areas. Such favorable operational environment, along with
various supportive measures, have gradually translated into solid
catalysts, creating much stronger demand for integrated logistics and
trade centers during the fiscal year.

22 China South City Holdings Limited EEGH3EAR AR A
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EREHE (E)

As one of the leading developers and operators of large-scale,
integrated logistics and trade centers in China, China South City is
well positioned to capitalize on the abundant opportunities brought
by the robust market demand. This, along with our dedication to our
core competencies, has enabled us to deliver remarkable Contracted
Sales (including property sales in finance lease) performance in
FY2012/13, contributed by CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC
Nanning, CSC Xi’an, CSC Harbin, and CSC Zhengzhou. For the fiscal
year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded Contracted Sales
of approximately HK$8.2 billion, up 15.5% year-on-year (FY2011/12:
HK$7.1 billion), exceeding the Group’s annual sales target of HK$8.0
billion for the Year. Excluding asset disposal effect amounted HK$894
million in FY2011/12, the Group’s annual Contracted Sales recorded
a year-on-year increase of 32.2%, demonstrating the Group’s
successful replication of its business model in other parts of China
and its strong execution capabilities. With more projects slated for
launch and to commence operation, couple with the increasing pace
for urbanization in our project areas, the Group is expected to enjoy
an accelerated growing trend in the coming years.

Leveraging the Group’s success and experience from, and brand
recognition built upon, CSC Shenzhen, the Group has been
enhancing its presence in fast growing economic regions with well-
developed transportation networks in a bid to achieve sustainable
business growth. In April and December 2012, the Group entered
into cooperative agreements for its latest projects, CSC Zhengzhou
and CSC Hefei, bringing its total number of projects to seven and
forming a solid project pipeline that will drive the Group’s further
growth. In November 2012, the Group signed an equity transfer
agreement to acquire the entire equity capital of Harbin Baolitong
Market Development Management Company Limited (“Baolitong”,
previously known as Hydoo Harbin Trade City Co., Ltd. (“Hydoo
Harbin”)). The transaction was completed by December 2012 and
the project originally developed by Hydoo Harbin has been included
in CSC Harbin and the development will be conducted by the Group
thereafter. In FY2012/13, the Group acquired the first batch of
land for both CSC Harbin and CSC Zhengzhou. The first batch of
land in CSC Hefei was also successfully bid in May 2013. Phase |
construction of these projects are slated to commence successively
after the land acquisitions.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EREHE (E)

To support the Group’s growth opportunities, China South City has
strived to fortify its capital base. In September 2012, the Group signed
a HK$400 million bilateral loan with The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited (“‘HSBC”). In October 2012, the Group
completed the issuance of US$125 million senior notes. In April 2013,
PAG, one of the leading alternative investment fund management
groups in Asia with extensive experience in investing in the region’s
capital markets and property sectors, made a strategic investment
of HK$975 million in the Group in the form of convertible notes, at
a conversion price of HK$1.56 per new share of the Company. The
new financing facilities and strategic investment demonstrate a strong
vote of confidence from the capital market in the Group’s excellent
operations capabilities, sound business model and immense future
growth potential.

Expanded Ancillary Services

While further building upon its unique yet replicable “One Body with
Two Wings” business model to serve the economic and industrial
needs of the regions in which it operates, the Group continued
to strengthen its five pillars of ancillary services — namely (i) outlet
operation and management, (iij e-commerce platforms, (i) one-stop
logistics services with warehousing, delivery and freight forwarding,
(iv) property management and (v) convention and exhibition services
— that complement its core business of developing and operating
integrated logistics and trade centers during the Year with the aim of
establishing a self-sustaining business operations model.

Highlights of the Group’s relentless efforts in enhancing its ancillary
services last year include the offering of over 100 brands at the outlet
center of CSC Shenzhen. The Group also planned to have outlet
centers launched at CSC Nanning, CSC Nanchang and CSC Xi'an for
the fiscal year ending 31 March 2014 (“FY2013/14”).

Aiming to allow the Group’s trade center tenants to better promote
their online wholesale and retail trade, China South City has also
commenced the revamp of its e-commerce platforms to better meet
the evolving market needs.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EREHE (E)

The Group is also committed to offering well-equipped supply-chain
services. Meanwhile, the Group is also upgrading the warehouse
facilities and freight forward market at CSC Shenzhen. To cope with
the upcoming operation schedule, the construction, design and
planning of the logistics facilities of other projects are also in the
pipeline.

In addition, the Group continues to capitalize on its non-stop
exhibition platform to promote trade in a joint effort with local
governments. In June 2012, the Group led a delegation to participate
in the China Harbin International Economic and Trade Fair to assist
its tenants and merchants in promoting their businesses. The China
(Shenzhen) International Industrial Fair (“Industrial Fair”) and “2012
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Commaodity Fair” at CSC Shenzhen
and the China-ASEAN Light Industrial Products Fair (“Light Industrial
Fair’) at CSC Nanning were successfully held in FY2012/13. In
addition, the “2013 Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Commodity Fair”
has its first time been held at CSC Nanchang in April 2013, which was
also the first municipal event held at our Nanchang project. By raising
its profile through these events, the Group is poised to enhance its
brand recognition, display the strengths of its projects, and expand
its customer base and network with domestic and international
businesses.

Prospects

Looking forward, the growth momentum of China’s economy is
expected to sustain as driven by the infrastructure investment and
resilient internal demand. The Group remains optimistic about the
long-term development of integrated logistics and trade centers in
China, given the Chinese Government’s structural transformation
and new urbanization strategies promulgated in the “12th National
Congress”, the greater attention to modern logistics in the 12th
National Five-Year Plan, coupled with the local governments’ strategy
to relocate existing wholesale markets from prime urban areas.
Leveraging the Group’s unique business model, proven operational
capabilities and solid project pipelines, China South City is poised to
capture the enormous market opportunities. The Group is optimistic
about meeting its annual sales target of HK$11.0 billion by the end
of FY2013/14. With the support of its strong financial position and
healthy cash flow, the Group will prudently continue to identify further
investment opportunities with an aim to bring greater value to its
shareholders.
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)¢ RERSALE - AETHEEE
and staff for their professionalism B MRIERRHE -

and wholehearted commitment.

Cheng Chung Hing g
Co-Chairman & Executive Director BEFEENTEE
Hong Kong, 24 June 2013 &7 - 2013F6H24H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

Business Overview

During the fiscal year under review, demand for trade centers
remained strong as the Chinese Government implemented supportive
measures such as an increase in infrastructure spending and
monetary loosening, stabilizing the nation’s economic growth. Along
with the Central Government’s structural transformation and new
urbanization strategies promulgated in the “12th National Congress”,
the greater attention to modern logistics in the 12th National Five-
Year Plan, and the local governments’ strategic initiative to relocate
existing wholesale markets from prime urban areas, all of these
favorable factors facilitated growth for large-scale developers and
operators of integrated logistics and trade centers.

By virtue of the diversifying income portfolio brought on by the launch
of sales of new projects, the Group entered into a rapid growth phase
in FY2012/13 with revenue reaching a record high of approximately
HK$7.5 billion, representing year-on-year growth of 104.0%
(FY2011/12: HK$3.7 billion). Contracted Sales also grew by 15.5%
to HK$8.2 billion (FY2011/12: HK$7.1 billion), exceeding the annual
sales target of HK$8.0 billion.
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A Presale event at CSC Shenzhen
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A Presale event at CSC Zhengzhou
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (F)

Details on Contracted Sales are shown in the table below: SHEELEFHNTE -
Average
selling price  Contracted
(“ASP”) amount
(before (before
Contracted deduction of deduction of Project
area business tax) business tax) contribution
FHEE =y Ok
(R (R
BHREE EEBAT) EEBAT) 15 B 'R
(sa.m.) (HK$/sg. m.) (HK$ million)
(CFAR) GB/ERkK) (B&%T)

CSC Shenzhen RYZEFE 87,200 17,400 1,518.7 18.5%
Trade center (Mall)® TR 58,500 20,900 1,222.9 14.9%
Office PWRE 16,600 10,900 181.9 2.2%
Residential property FEME 12,100 9,400 113.9 1.4%

CSC Nanchang FEERE 219,300 10,500 2,303.9 28.1%
Trade center (Mall) T 5P (EE) 108,700 13,700 1,490.1 18.2%
Residential property (ERe=ty/ES 110,600 7,400 813.8 9.9%

CSC Nanning FIEFER 71,600 11,300 807.7 9.9%
Trade center (Mall) ZH5H 0 (FES) 37,900 15,500 586.8 7.2%
Residential property EEME 33,700 6,500 220.9 2.7%

CSC Xi’an FARERH 194,400 10,100 1,971.5 24.0%
Trade center (Mall) 5P (EE) 64,500 14,100 909.5 11.1%
Trade center (Detached)® R0 (EEhE)e 129,900 8,200 1,062.0 12.9%

CSC Zhengzhou LN E-3=3p
Trade center (Mall) RBHALNFES) 103,000 13,200 1,355.7 16.5%

CSC Harbin R EE R
Trade center (Detached) RHH 0 (EEE) 33,500 7,400 2481 3.0%

Total N/A

st 709,000 T EA 8,205.6 100%

Notes: (  Refer to multi-storey trade centers in shopping mall style. g0 JERBEAERNZERSF L

@ Refer to standalone low-rise trade center shops.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (F)

The Group strives to enhance its presence in fast growing economic
regions with well-developed transportation networks in China to
maintain its sustainable business growth. As of 31 March 2013, the
Group has seven large-scale integrated logistics and trade center
projects at different stages of development. CSC Shenzhen is
currently in its phase Ill development whereas CSC Nanchang, CSC
Nanning, CSC Xi’an, CSC Zhengzhou and CSC Harbin are in phase .
CSC Hefei is still under planning but will soon to commence its phase
| development in the second quarter of FY2013/14, following the
acquisition of the first batch of land in May 2013.

.1

A The phase | construction in full-swing in CSC Zhengzhou

BMEFERH - HRRIEREFNRE

As of 31 March 2013, land with a total attributable gross floor
area (“GFA”) of 17.9 million sq.m. has been acquired throughout
our projects aside from CSC Hefei. In May 2013, first batches of
land with attributable GFA of 3.9 million sq.m. in CSC Hefei were
also successfully bid for, increasing the Group’s land bank to an
attributable GFA of 21.8 million sg.m., accounting for 33% of its
total planned GFA, with a weighted average land cost per GFA at
RMB269/sg.m. among all projects.
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A The Ground-breaking Ceremony at CSC Hefei in June 2013
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (F)

Details of project land bank are shown in the table below:

FIAB LHRHEFHBEEHN TR

Land Bank T i fEE
as of 15 June 2013 HZ2013F6H15H
Properties
Properties Planned Total Attributable GFA
Completed Properties under for Future Planned for Land Acquired
(as of 31 March 2013) Development Development GFA (% to Total Planned GFA)
BRINE BREERR R EEIHTREERR
(8Z2013F3A318) BERNE BENE BEEE (LAREREEEELH)
(in sq.m.) Sold Unsold Estimated Estimated %
(FHK) Bis A& &t fhat
CSC Shenzhen Y 636,200 1,166,000 - 841,800 2644000 2,644,000 100%
CSC Nanchang EEES 563,400 199,600 328,000 3,189,000 4,280,000 4,280,000 100%
CSC Nanning AEEREY 62,700 266,300 1,032,000 3519000 4,880,000 2,480,000 51%
0SC X'an FEREER, 177,300 446,500 309,000 16,567,200 17,500,000 2,045,000 12%
CSC Harbin BEEZRH - - 673000 11,327,000 12,000,000 2,231,000 19%
CSC Zhengzhou =z - - 1500000 10,500,000 12,000,000 4,215,000 35%
CSC Hefei AR - - - 12000000  12,000000 3,941,000 33%
Total @it 1439600 2078400 3,842,000 57,944,000 65,304,000 21,836,000 33%
Broaden Financing Channel hERERE

To support its rapid growth, China South City further fortified its
solid financial position. In September 2012, the Group signed a
HK$400 million bilateral loan with HSBC with a one-year tenor at an
interest rate of HIBOR+2.75% per annum. In the following month,
the Group completed the issuance of US$125 million senior notes
at coupon rate of 13.5% per annum due in 2017. In April 2013, the
Group introduced PAG, one of the leading alternative investment fund
management groups in Asia with extensive experience in investing
in the region’s capital markets and property sectors, for a strategic
investment of HK$975 million in the form of convertible notes at
coupon rate of 6.5% per annum due in 2018, at a conversion price of
HK$1.56 per new share of the Company.

The successful conclusion of the new financing facilities and the
introduction of a new strategic investor is an assertion of the capital
market towards the Group’s excellent operational capabilities, sound
business model and promising prospects. The Group’s further
improved financial position will not only allow it to fund properties
under development and properties planned for future development,
but will also allow it to explore opportunities by extending its footprint
to other regional economic hubs in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (F)

Operations on Projects: Five Pillars of Ancillary
Services

To keep pace with its projects in Nanchang, Nanning and Xi’an slated
for trial operation in FY2013/14, the Group continued to enhance its
five pillars of ancillary services with the valuable experience gained
from CSC Shenzhen, in a bid to complement its unique and replicable
“One Body with Two Wings” business model, and aim to better serve
its trade center merchants and customers and to allow them to enjoy
a mutually-beneficial operation environment.

Outlet Operation and Management

As a part of the five core service pillars, the outlet team is committed
to offering value branded goods to end-users and to boosting overall
traffic flow. CSC Shenzhen opened its first outlet center in April 2011
mainly featuring global sportswear and outdoor brands initially, but
it now accommodates brands of sportswear, causalwear, outdoor
wear, men’s and women’s fashion. There are over 100 international
brands such as Levis, Chevignon, Columbia, Samsonite, Nike,
Adidas, etc. Building on the successful opening of the outlet center
at CSC Shenzhen, the Group continues to expand and replicate
this further at its other projects. The outlet centers at CSC Nanning,
CSC Nanchang and CSC Xi’an are scheduled for trial operation in
FY2013/14.

E-commerce Platforms

The Group’s online platforms primarily aim to provide our trade
center shops the combined advantages of physical stores and virtual
shops for both B2B and B2C trading. As of 31 March 2013, there
were over 4,750 cumulative online trade shops from our Shenzhen
project with over 195,000 registered users. With more projects slated
for operation in FY2013/14 successively, the quantity and variety
of goods available on its online platform are expected to increase
substantially.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In a bid to enhance the scope of the Group’s e-commerce services,
an e-commerce park with a total GFA of 65,000 sg.m. has been
established at the CSC Shenzhen phase Il trade center and has
been appointed as a “Model Unit of E-commerce” by the Municipal
Government of Shenzhen. CSC Shenzhen and the tenants of the
park can benefit from the supporting policies introduced by the local
government.

One-stop logistics services

A subsidiary dedicated in logistics services is in charge of
warehousing and logistics services of the Group. Currently, it runs
warehousing and freight forwarding market in CSC Shenzhen. It also
provides warehousing management service and arranges on-site third
party delivery and distribution services. With the development of our
projects and the growing demand from our customers, our logistics
services will be extended from our Shenzhen project to Nanning,
Nanchang, Xi’an and Zhengzhou in FY2013/14 with a broadened
service range, including scaled-up warehousing and management as
well as freight forwarding markets, together with exchange centers
with nationwide freight and logistics network, in a bid to provide
our customers with one-stop logistics services on warehousing,
transportation and distribution.
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A The 5th Industrial Fair in CSC Shenzhen
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Property Management

With an aim of ensuring project safety and sustainability, the Group
has established project management teams to be stationed at the
projects when construction commences so as to provide professional
advice and to take into account the sustainability and specific needs
at each project in order to ensure its smooth operation. In addition,
the Group has entered into management agreement with our trade
center shops owners and tenants for property management service.
This will allow a better management and service on each of our
projects, and in turn become a source of income to the Group. The
Group endeavors to differentiate its projects from old wholesale
markets by stepping up efforts to strengthen fire prevention
standards, security, maintenance services as well as the management
of transportation and parking lots at each of its project sites.

Convention and Exhibition Services

Through its non-stop exhibition platform aimed at promoting trade
and through joint efforts with local governments to attract international
and regional exhibitors and to draw traffic and business flow to its
trade centers, the Group continued to organize signature regional
exhibitions and conventions.

In addition, to promote the businesses of its trade center merchants
while seeking to expand its business outreach, the Group has a team
specified in convention and exhibition services formed to actively take
part in trade fairs across the country.

Trade Fairs at a Glance

In April 2012, the Group co-organized the 5th Industrial Fair with the
China Council for the Promotion of International Trade, the China
Chamber of International Commerce and the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government. With the supportive involvement of the
municipal and regional governments, CSC Shenzhen has proven to
be an effective platform for merchants outside Shenzhen to promote
their businesses and for the local government to attract cross-regional
trade.

The Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Commodity Fair from 29
September to 4 October 2012 in CSC Shenzhen, co-organized by
the Trade Development Bureau of the Ministry of Commerce, the
Group, etc., involved Macau for the first time. It was the first fair in
China to feature a single exhibition accommodating exhibitors from
the three economies with an aim to support national trade policies
and to advocate cross-regional trade.
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Leveraging its success in Shenzhen, the Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan Commodity Fair was also held in CSC Nanchang between
28 April and 2 May 2013, and was co-organized by the Trade
Development Bureau of Ministry of Commerce, the Municipal
Government of Nanchang and the Group.

Since 2011, the Group has held the renowned Light Industrial Fair
at CSC Nanning between September and October each year. The
9th Light Industrial Fair, co-organized by the Ministry of Commerce
of China and their ASEAN counterparts plus the China-ASEAN Expo
Secretariat, and hosted by the government of the Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, was held at CSC Nanning from 21 to 25
September 2012, and received an overwhelming response.

These five interdependent service pillars, coupled with our trade
centers, provide an integrated platform for our trade center tenants
and their customers from which they can access a comprehensive
range of trade, logistics and supporting services at our seven leading
projects.

China South City Shenzhen

CSC Shenzhen, the first project developed by the Group, is
strategically located in the heart of the Pearl River Delta region and
is centered within an extensive transportation network. Occupying a
site area of approximately 1.06 million sg.m., the project comprises
a planned total GFA of approximately 2.64 million sg.m.. As of 31
March 2013, phase |, phase Il and part of its phase Ill properties
with a total GFA of approximately 1.80 million sg.m. is in operation,
of which approximately 1.32 million sq.m. is trade center and
approximately 485,000 sg.m. are ancillary facilities.

Currently, CSC Shenzhen is in its phase lll development with a total
planned GFA of approximately 1.2 million sg.m., including 842,000
sq.m. of trade centers, 330,000 sg.m of logistics facilities and 52,000
sg.m. of office facilities. Apart from the office facilities completed
by FY2011/12, trade center Plaza 5, a multi-functional trade center
complex designed for the trading of electronic goods, gadgets and
accessories was launched in March 2013. With a planned GFA
of 330,000 sg.m., it comprises 232,000 sg.m. trade center units,
64,000 sg.m. apartment units and 34,000 sg.m. office units.
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By stepping up the Group’s marketing efforts in tandem with the
increasingly mature operation, CSC Shenzhen continued to record
significant results with Contracted Sales in FY2012/13, amounting
to HK$1,518.7 million (FY2011/12: HK$1,335.1 million), including
trade center units with GFA of approximately 58,500 sg.m. at an ASP
HK$20,900/sg.m., mainly from Plaza 5 of phase lIl and the remaining
phase | and Il properties, (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 51,300 sg.m. at
an ASP HK$17,300/sg.m), office units with a total GFA approximately
16,600 sg.m. at an ASP HK$10,900/sq.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of
41,000 sg.m. at an ASP HK$10,000/sg.m) and residential properties
with a total GFA approximately 12,100 sq.m. at an ASP HK$9,400/
sg.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 4,500 sq.m. at an ASP HK$7,700/
sg.m.).

For FY2012/13, rental income rose steadily by 28.6% as compared
to the last fiscal year, mainly due to rental increases resulting from
tenancy renewals and new lease contracts signed during the fiscal
year. As at 31 March 2013, the occupancy rate and rental income of
phase | trade center and shops reached 96% and HK$40/sg.m. (As
at 31 March 2012: 95% at HK$35/sg.m.). The total occupancy rate
of the launched rentable total GFA of phase Il trade center and shops
increased to 55% and HK$35/sq.m. respectively (As at 31 March
2012: 48% at HK$35/sq.m.).

China South City Nanchang

CSC Nanchang, strategically situated in Nanchang the capital city of
Jiangxi Province, aims to fully leverage its advantageous location at
one of China’s major transportation hubs to operate as a dynamic
integrated logistics trading platform for the Pan Pearl River Delta and
Yangtze River Delta regions. Located at the intersection of the Jingjiu
and Zhegan Railways, the site is readily accessible to suppliers,
manufacturers and merchants via major highways, the largest port
on the Gan River and a complete freight network including a cargo
marshall yard, a container terminus and an international airport,
together with Nanchang West Railway Station — a principal high
speed rail station located just about 1.2 km from CSC Nanchang
and slated for operation at the end of 2013. Furthermore, the Jiangxi
provincial government is scheduled to relocate its office to the vicinity
of merely approximately 2 km from our project site in the first quarter
of 2014, which will boost the business potential of the trade centers
and supporting facilities at CSC Nanchang.
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With a site area of approximately 1.54 million sq.m. and a total
planned GFA of approximately 4.28 million sg.m., CSC Nanchang will
provide a comprehensive set of facilities that comprises trade centers,
supporting commercial and residential facilities, warehouses and car
parks. CSC Nanchang is being developed in phases with phase | to
cover a planned GFA of 1.09 million sg.m. including 708,000 sg.m. of
trade centers and 383,000 sqg.m. of supporting residential facilities.

Construction of residential facilities was completed during the first
half of FY2012/13. Also a GFA of 380,000 sg.m. of trade center,
covering clothing and textile, small commodities as well as shoes
and accessories, was completed in the previous fiscal year, while
the construction of the remaining 328,000 sq.m. phase | trade
centers planned for outlets, branded fashion and green food, will be
completed in FY2013/14. CSC Nanchang is slated for trial operation
in the fourth quarter of FY2013/14 (“Q4 FY2013/14”), in a bid to
capture the synergy effect brought by the opening of the Nanchang
West Railway Station.

In FY2012/13, CSC Nanchang recorded a total Contracted Sales of
HK$2,303.9 million (FY2011/12: HK$3,063.3 million), of which a GFA
of 108,700 sg.m. trade centers sold at an ASP of HK$13,700/sg.m.
(FY2011/12: total GFA of 174,300 sg.m. at an ASP of HK$11,900/sq.
m.). The keen market response seen in the sales of the trade centers
also spurred sales of ancillary residential facilities at CSC Nanchang.
A total GFA of 110,600 sqg.m. residential units was sold at an ASP of
HK$7,400/sq.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 170,600 sg.m. at an ASP
of HK$5,800/sg.m.).

China South City Nanning

CSC Nanning is strategically located in a prime area of Nanning, the
capital city of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. It is highly
accessible to railway stations, highways and an international airport
and distinguishes itself as a critical gateway between China and
ASEAN countries. Capitalizing on its proximity to Southeast Asia, and
with the establishment of the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area which
enjoys a tariff waiver for cross-border trade activities, CSC Nanning is
poised to meet the growing demand from the Northern Bay Region
and Southeast Asia.
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The project has a planned net land area of approximately 1.83
million sg.m. and a planned total GFA of approximately 4.88 million
sg.m.. CSC Nanning is currently under its phase | development, and
construction of GFA approximately 1.36 million sg.m. is underway,
which comprises approximately 896,000 sg.m. trade centers and
465,000 sg.m. residential facilities. For phase | trade centers, a
GFA of approximately 329,000 sq.m., serving the machinery and
hardware, leather, clothing and textile industries has been completed
in FY2011/12. The remaining 567,000 sg.m. of trade centers, planned
for housewares and furnishing products, tea and tea wares, ASEAN
products, outlets as well as showrooms, are under construction.
During the fiscal year under review, approval for change in land use
for residential purpose at CSC Nanning was granted by the Nanning
Bureau of Land at land grant fees of RMB533.5 million for a planned
GFA of 586,500 sg.m., of which 465,000 sqg.m. is currently under
construction. Together with the trade centers, it is expected that the
remaining phase | construction, with a GFA approximately 1.03 million
sg.m., would be completed by FY2013/14.

In FY2012/13, CSC Nanning generated Contracted Sales of
HK$807.7 million (FY2011/12: HK$507.0 million), of which trade
centers accounted for a total GFA of 37,900 sg.m. sold at an ASP of
approximately HK$15,500/sg.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 35,300
sg.m. at an ASP of HK$14,400/sg.m.) and a total GFA of 33,700
sqg.m. residential units sold at an ASP of approximately HK$6,500/
sg.m. (FY2011/12: Nil).

China South City Xi’an

Strategically located in the Xi’an International Trade and Logistics
Park in Shaanxi Province, CSC Xi’an is easily accessible within an
extensive transportation network connected to a railway container
terminal and the largest bonded area in the northwestern regions of
China. Two subway lines will cross the site, with one of the planned
subway stations to be located next to the phase | buildings. CSC
Xi'an, which is 65% owned by the Group, is a joint venture between
the Group and Shenzhen Shi Hao De Tien Cheng Investment Limited.

CSC Xi'an has a planned total site area of approximately 10.0 million
sg.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 17.5 million sgq.m.,
half of which will be trade centers and the remaining half is planned
for ancillary facilities. In FY2012/13, the Group acquired land with total
site area of approximately 120,000 sg.m.. The newly acquired land,
with planned GFA of 359,000 sqg.m., will be used for the development
of logistics and trade centers.

ZEEMREEEFGEREN1.88EEF A
Ko BIREEEAMBELN488EEF K  BE
ERNIREET —BERE  EFEERELY
1.36EBFHANERIRELRERA - 21F10
896,000F 75 K AI 22 5 H /s K 465,000 77 K #Y
FERM o —HIFE SR & £9329,000F 75 K HY
RSGHFLER2011/12HBFERT - FE/R
BHSHE KT  RERHBEFTE Mk
T567,000$7ﬁk€r\7x%q3:uiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂi% :
FrEEARARGRER  FERKAE - HHR
HFemam - ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂiﬁb&@%ﬁ%tﬁ R EEE
BHFEE MR+ ERBHH AR EER
DxiiﬂzﬁE%iAE%SSS.SE%ﬁH@%EéUL?@
E1&586,500 F F Kz T B R AFERAM 2
B - ER49465,000F 5 KIEEEE o B[R
REPL - —HBRTEEEEN1.0BEEFEH
KERR T IZTEERR 2013/ 14 B ER T -

R2012/13 BUF E + =2 815 807.7
BEATHNALNHEE (2011128 B FE -
507.0B&Bm) ERARZGHLAFHEEL
15,5008 7o/ 77 K& L 48 2 2 1837,900F 75
K(2011/128 FZ  LAFHEE14,400/8 7T
/TR E 4R SR FE 35,300 5 K) - mifE
F BN BT EEL6,500/8 T/ F FKEH

4R EEEIES3,700F oK (2011128 B FfE -
E:: I

7 2 FE I

P %2 22 R 40 A R PR P 5 P 2 B R 7 [ ) SRR
E - REN - RNEGEREREAT DA
Ko P B PRE [ S KR T [ HO SUB AR AR ) © 7
R TR AR RIS AL - B — BRI T
B A K R — B EE )5S o PR FERIIN65%E
S ASERE - AARKEERIIHRERK
BREFRATNAZERT °

ML EEHARE B EmEN1008ETFH
Ko BRBREEBENI7TSEEF K - H
—¥BRAERRRSH L - MEKRBREIER
ERM o R2012/13BFE - AEBBE AL
oA FE L 49120,000F HoKE) i - BB E -
1848 E) 32 SEE 15 8 359,000F H 2K - iR E
EEMARERRSH L

Annual Report 2012/13 &3 37



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (E)

CSC Xi'an is currently under its phase | construction with total planned
GFA of approximately 933,000 sg.m., which includes trade centers
of GFA of 557,000 sg.m. in shopping mall style covering fashion,
clothing and accessories industries completed in FY2012/13. There
are also standalone low-rise trade center shops with GFA of 376,000
sg.m. mainly serving machinery and hardware industries, with part
of the construction completed in this fiscal year, and the remaining
standalone low-rise trade center with GFA of 309,000 sg.m. is also
expected to have construction completed by FY2013/14. With part of
the phase | successively delivered in the second half of the fiscal year,
trial operation is planned to commence in Q4 FY2013/14.

In FY2012/13, a total of HK$1,971.5 million Contracted Sales was
generated from trade centers, including trade centers in shopping
mall style for a total GFA of 64,500 sg.m. at an ASP of approximately
HK$14,100/sq.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 57,500 sg.m. at an
ASP of HK$13,900/sg.m), and standalone low-rise trade center
shops for a total GFA of 129,900 sg.m. at an ASP of approximately
HK$8,200/sg.m. (FY2011/12: Total GFA of 40,700 sg.m. at an ASP
of HK$8,200/sg.m.).

China South City Harbin

Situated in the Daowai district of Harbin, the capital city of
Heilongjiang Province, CSC Harbin makes full use of its advantageous
location in Northeast China, a premier hub for cross-border trade
with countries in Northeast Asia, and its proximity to the China-Russia
border is expected to bridge economic activities within the region.
Capitalizing on the opportunities arising from the emerging potential
for development in the area, CSC Harbin is poised to become the
largest trade center in Northeast China.

By December 2012, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
equity capital of Baolitong at a total consideration of RMB500 million.
With the project developed by Baolitong included into our CSC
Harbin project, the Group will be able to fully control and realize the
synergy brought on by the centralized and coordinated development
of the two parcels of land.
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After the acquisition, CSC Harbin has a planned site area of
approximately 10.0 million sg.m. and a planned total GFA of
approximately 12.0 million sg.m.. In FY2012/13, a total attributable
GFA of 2.2 million sg.m. was obtained via tendering, auction and
listing-for-sale procedures and the acquisition of Baolitong. Phase |
construction has a total planned GFA of 1.57 million sg.m., including
1.07 million sg.m. trade centers and 497,000 sq.m. ancillary facilities.
Currently, trade centers of GFA approximately 673,000 sq.m. are
under construction and approximately of which 318,000 sg.m. are
expected to be completed by FY2013/14. For the trade centers under
construction there are 436,000 sg.m. in shopping mall style, covering
housewares and furnishing products, outlets and boutique shops.
The remaining 237,000 sg.m. are standalone low-rise trade center
shops targeted for machinery and hardware, as well as construction
materials. In FY2012/13, part of the standalone low-rise shops were
launched in the market. Driven by an enthusiastic market response,
a total GFA of 33,500 sg.m. was sold at an ASP of HK$7,400/sq.m,
generating Contracted Sales of HK$248.1 million.

China South City Zhengzhou

Leveraging its strategic location in Zhengzhou, the capital city
of Henan Province, CSC Zhengzhou has access to extensive
transportation networks, being a mere 16 km away from Zhengzhou
Xinzheng International Airport and only a couple of kilometers away
from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and Beijing-Hong
Kong-Macao Highway. CSC Zhengzhou aims to meet the strong
demand for integrated logistics and trade centers driven by the
thriving trading business in China’s interior regions. More importantly,
the projects, which are being developed in phases, are in line with
the government plans for urban rejuvenation, particularly the plan to
relocate and consolidate old wholesale markets in the city between
2012 and 2015.

CSC Zhengzhou has a total net land area of approximately 7.0 million
sg.m. and total planned GFA of 12.0 million sg.m.. In FY2012/13,
the Group acquired the first batch of land for CSC Zhengzhou. The
attributable GFA for the newly acquired land is approximately 4.2
million sg.m., and will be used for the development of trade centers.
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Phase | trade centers with planned GFA of 2.65 million sg.m. are
expected to cover six industries, including construction materials,
machinery and hardware, automobile and accessories, small
commodities, household goods and grains, and dried food and
seasonings. Currently, a total GFA of approximately 1.50 million sg.m.
is under construction and expected to be completed by FY2013/14,
of which 500,000 sg.m. is a trade center in shopping mall style,
serving small commodities. The remaining 1.0 million sq.m. are
standalone low-rise trade center shops targeted for machinery and
hardware, as well as construction materials. In FY2012/13, the trade
center in shopping mall style was launched with fervent response. A
total GFA of 103,000 sg.m. was contracted at an ASP of HK$13,200/
sg.m., generating Contracted Sales of HK$1,355.7 million.

China South City Hefei

Situated in Hefei, the capital city of Auhui Province, transport hub
in East China and a political, economic, cultural and financial center
at the heart of East China, CSC Hefei capitalizes on the strategic
location in Hefei New Industrial Demonstration Park with well-
developed infrastructure in adjacent areas and fully utilizes the city’s
extensive transportation system of railways, highways and river
transport across China.

According to the cooperative agreement signed with the Hefei
Government and Feixi County Government on 1 December 2012 for
the development of a large-scale, integrated logistics and trade center
in Hefei, CSC Hefei has a planned total net land area of approximately
10.0 million sg.m. and a planned GFA of 12.0 million sg.m..

In May 2013, the Group successfully bid for the first batch of land
for CSC Hefei. The land acquired has a total site area of 1.36 million
sg.m. with attributable GFA of 3.94 million sg.m.. On 28 June 2013,
the Ground-breaking Ceremony was held at CSC Hefei. Construction
is then scheduled to commence in FY2013/14.

40 China South City Holdings Limited ZEEg#i3% A% B R A 7

—HEmR P OREEEAELN2.6588 T
TR BERESNEITE - BEEEME -
WRREM - REREMS - DEM - Ra kB
AREzie RfARE - HEEZBEEMBELY
1.508 &F K - B3E500,000F 7 K AR 75 /)
ERAE SRR R HH 0 - URHBTH1.08
EFHK REEMEASHRETEMNSER
EBRZH LM FHeR2013/148 FE &
T o ARESBRFZETR SR O ER2012/1381
BEEHETS  BRERZ - WAFHEE
13,2007 70/ 75 K& [ A8 2 25 M 5 103,000 F
FK EAGLHEE135.7TEEATT

BEEREH
BIEEERUELZREEERTAE - RER
RiEted - AR TAERORENOE - &
B e RERB O - AEERBLNE N
BTRREBE  BFEMOTEERZRAR
R WD EREAEZOEE  REARE
Ko BB AR

REBEA QRIS T BT &AL FZBFR2012
FI2ATERNERERALGEHEYM R L
B 5 LR A ERE - AIRERNAN
HRENFAMAAEBELR10.0BEF K - MR
EEEEBRI/I20BBF K -

R2013F5 8 « AEBKINEGEE EEREHRD
Bt - 2L RhEEA1.3658F
FK o AIEEAmIES.94E BT H K - 12013
F6H28H ' AEEMMBITTEEELN ' IE
TR EIREENN 2013148 N F ERE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Financial Review

For FY2012/13, the Group reported a remarkable growth in its
financial performance, with revenue growth of 104.0% to HK$7,488.1
million (FY2011/12: HK$3,670.8 million), and net profit attributable
to owners of the parent for the Year grew 32.8% to HK$2,749.9
million (FY2011/12: HK$2,070.7 million). Excluding the effects of fair
value gains on investment properties, gain on disposal of subsidiaries
and their respective related tax effects, net profit attributable to
owners of the parent for the Year as adjusted increased by 92.5% to
HK$1,776.4 million (FY2011/12: HK$922.6 million). Basic earnings
per share increased to HK45.62 cents (FY2011/12: HK34.58 cents).

Revenue

Revenue increased by 104.0% to HK$7,488.1 million (FY2011/12:
HK$3,670.8 million). The increase was mainly due to the
commencement of sales and delivery of new and existing trade
center units at CSC Xi’an and residential properties at CSC Nanchang
during the fiscal year under review.

Bt 7% [B] B8

R2012/13 F R - AEBEMERIRERIS ]
BIEE > WA IN104.0%%7,488.1 5 &5 T
(201112 R fE : 3,670.8E BB L) * A
FEERQRER ARMLFFHEM32.8%=
2,749.98 &8t (2011128 L E : 2,070.7
BEBIL) c MBRIEEMELTERS - HE
B ARKRERZERENEERETE - 7
BENAFTFETARER ARG FFE LA
92.5%%F1,776.4B BETL(2011/120 B FE -
9226 EBHBIL) - FRERRF|IE INFE45.62
BAL(2011/128 BUF E - 34.5811) o
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U AIEHN1104.0% % 7,488.1 A B8 7T (2011/12
BIFE : 3,670.8E 8B ) WIEEERMA
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EEWTIEMEENR ST OEBAREEEE
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FY2012/13 FY2011/12 Change

2012/13 2011/12
MBEE BRFEE iR
HK$’000 HK$'000 %

FET FAT
Sales of properties YIS 6,899,068 3,010,808 129.1%
Sales of trade centers units EER S EL 5,190,427 2,851,531 82.0%
Sales of residential properties HEFTEYE 1,708,641 159,277 972.7%
Finance lease income mEHERA 279,644 420,515 (33.5%)
Rental income HEBWA 213,995 166,393 28.6%
Property management service income V5B IR RISUIA 43,589 41,500 5.0%
Hotel income B EWRA 13,291 26,946 (50.7%)
Other fee income HERIA 38,474 4,605 735.5%
7,488,061 3,670,767 104.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Revenue from Sales of Properties

Revenue from sales of properties increased by 129.1% to
HK$6,899.1 million (FY2011/12: HK$3,010.8 million). The increase
was mainly due to the commencement of sales and delivery of new
and existing trade center units at CSC Xi’an and residential properties
at CSC Nanchang, which contributed revenue to the Group of
approximately HK$3,782.4 million. The sales made by each project

SHEMEIKA

THEMEI AL NN129.1%56,899.1 A & 78 7T
(20111284 IR : 3,010.8 A &E ) * #IE
B2 HNBIA B E MR N A P TR T
EMEBHRZH OB RESERRAE
EWME - BAEBEEE43,782.48 8B ITAIK
AFTE - RIEBRIHEBRAT ¢

have been illustrated as follows:

Sales revenue
ASP (before deduction of (before deduction of Sales revenue
business tax) GFA sold business tax) (net of business tax)
(HKS/sq.m.) (sq.m.) HKS$ million HKS million
THEE HEWA HEWA
(HBRE B CEREER (HBRE%BiA) (MiRExsn)
(BL/ERK) (FHK) BEER BEER
FY2012/13  FY2011/12  FY201213  FY201112  FY2012/13  FY2011/12  FY2012113  FY2011/12
2012113 2011/12 2012113 2011/12 2012113 2011112 2012113 2011/12
UBEE  WHEE  WREE  MEEE  WEEE  MBEE  WHEE  MHEE
(CSC Shenzhen YR, 20,900 16,500 58,500 35,400 1,222.9 583.7 1,156.1 551.1
CSC Nanning HEERY 15,500 14,600 37,900 24,800 586.8 361.3 553.9 341.2
CSC Nanchang HaEEN
- Trade center units ~RSPLHEH 13,700 11,900 108,700 174,300 1,490.1 2,075.5 1,406.7 1,059.2
— Residential properties —FEmE 6,500 - 280,400 - 1,810.0 - 1,708.7 -
CSC Xian BREE 12,400 - 177,300 - 2,196.7 - 2,073.7 -
CSC Heyuan RERER - 10,500 - 16,700 - 167.1 - 159.3
Total gt NATER  NATNER 662,800 251,200 7,306.5 3,187.6 6,899.1 3,010.8
Finance Lease Income AIEHEERA

Finance lease income, derived from the leasing of office towers
and residential properties, decreased by approximately 33.5% to
HK$279.6 million (FY2011/12: HK$420.5 million). The decrease
was primarily attributable to the reduction in the remaining number
of available office of China South Development Tower and Global
Logistics Center and residential units of West Garden for finance
lease at CSC Shenzhen during the fiscal year under review.

During the fiscal year under review, the Group entered into finance
lease contracts with tenants for approximately 28,700 sg.m.
(FY2011/12: 45,500 sg.m.) at an average price of HK$10,300/sg.m.
(FY2011/12: HK$9,800/sg.m.).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Rental Income

Rental income increased by 28.6% to HK$214.0 million (FY2011/12:
HK$166.4 million). The increase was attributable to the continuous
increase in rental income of phase | and Il trade center of CSC
Shenzhen.

Occupancy at CSC Shenzhen has been driven by the demand for
large-scale integrated logistics and trade center facilities, and the
growing profile of China South City. The total occupancy rate of
phase | trade center and shops increased to approximately 96%
(81 March 2012: 95%), while the total occupancy rate for phase I
trade center and shops increased to 55% (31 March 2012: 48%)
of the launched area. The average effective monthly rental rate for
phase | and phase |l trade centers and shops were approximately
HK$40/sg.m. (31 March 2012: HK$35/sq.m.) and HK$35/sg.m. (31
March 2012: HK$35/sg.m.) respectively.

Property Management Service Income

Income from property management services rose by 5.0% to
HK$43.6 million (FY2011/12: HK$41.5 million). The increase in
income was mainly due to the continuous increase in the total
occupancy rate of the launched area of CSC Shenzhen phase | and
phase Il trade centers.

Hotel Income

Hotel income decreased by 50.7% to HK$13.3 million (FY2011/12:
HK$26.9 million). The Group has leased out the hotel properties to a
third party for operation to earn rental income after September 2012,
which led to the decrease in hotel income during the Year.

Other Fee Income

The other fee income rose by 735.5% to HK$38.5 million (FY2011/12:
HK$4.6 million). The increase was mainly contributed by warehousing
services and outlet center operation during the fiscal year under
review.

Increase in warehousing services income was mainly due to the
acquisition of additional equity interest in a joint-controlled entity,
which was then accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group during the
Year. Increase in income from outlet center operation was mainly due
to the growth of outlet operations and increase in leased area when
comparing to FY2011/12.

HASWA
e U A IN286% E2140 H & 8 7T
(2011128 4EE - 1664 A& TT) @ BER
FYIZERE — R RSP OMASKRAT
BT o

MHERAEGRE I EWIR R MR SO
MR - N EEERARETERS - 19
BEEBRYIZERMAHEAE - —HRZH 0L
N A R ARG A 2R 1 = 4996% (20124 3 A 31
H:95%) M-HXZHLEEHEEHELA
FEH AR B R INIE E55%(2012F3 A31H
48%) c —HiR —HIR S MEMEH T E
R A S B4 B407E T/ 5K (201243 A 31
B : 35 7T/ 5K ) M35 7T/ K (20124
3A318 : 35T/ FHK) °
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Ko PR 25 507 ¥ HH T 78 A9 484 PR =R 388 0 iy 75 2R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly includes construction costs of
properties sold, construction costs of properties held for finance
lease and rental expenses. Cost of sales increased by 130.8% to
HK$3,311.4 million (FY2011/12: HK$1,434.7 million).

The increase was in line with the area of the properties sold and
properties entered into finance lease contracts during the fiscal year
under review.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by 86.8% to HK$4,176.7 milion (FY2011/12:
HK$2,236.1 million). Gross profit margin dropped to 56% during
the fiscal year under review (FY2011/12: 61%), which was
mainly due to the change in product mix to include more sales of
residential properties. Sales of trade center units usually generate a
comparatively higher gross profit margin when compared with other
types of revenue. The gross profit ratios of sales of trade center units
and sales of residential properties were 62% and 45% respectively.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains dropped by 89.4% to HK$58.0 million
(FY2011/12: HK$547.2 million). The decrease was mainly due to last
fiscal year’s one-off gain on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$545.7
million; however, there were no such one-off gain recorded during the
fiscal year under review.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

The fair value gains on investment properties increased by 12.0%
to HK$1,251.4 million (FY2011/12: HK$1,117.7 million). During the
fiscal year under review, the fair value gain was mainly contributed
from new properties in CSC Shenzhen and CSC Nanning, for which
fair value was compared with the booked land and construction
costs. The value of the Group’s existing properties at CSC Shenzhen
remained stable.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 54.2% to HK$288.8
million (FY2011/12: HK$187.3 million). The increase was mainly
attributable to the commission fee paid to agency arising from
presales of the Group’s properties and the staff costs incurred due to
expansion of sales and marketing team during the fiscal year under
review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 53.0% to HK$536.9 million
(FY2011/12: HK$350.9 million). The increase was primarily due to the
increase in business activities from new projects, the expansion of the
management team and the increase in number of employees. During
the fiscal year under review, the Group has granted 116,870,000
share options to certain directors and employees, and HK$27.2
million (FY2011/12: HK$42.3 million) share option expenses were
recorded.

Finance Costs

Finance costs were up by 126.4% to HK$133.3 million (FY2011/12:
HK$58.9 million). The rise was mainly attributable to an increase in
new bank and other loans for general business purposes with interest
expenses recorded through income statement.

Tax

Tax expenses recorded an increase of 27.7% to HK$1,606.5 million
(FY2011/12: HK$1,258.0 million). The increase in tax expenses was
attributable to the increase in current income tax expenses and
land appreciation tax as a result of the income generated from CSC
Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC Xi'an and CSC Nanning during the
fiscal year under review.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables decreased by 25.9%
to HK$642.6 million (31 March 2012: HK$866.8 million) due to the
decrease in consideration receivables of disposed subsidiaries in the
previous year. As at 31 March 2013, the remaining consideration
receivable from the disposal was approximately HK$438.5 million.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables increased by 25.1% to HK$8,165.7 million
(81 March 2012: HK$6,529.7 million). The increase was mainly
due to the increase in construction fees and retention payables as
construction of new projects are underway, the increase in sales and
rental deposits received and receipts in advance (including those
received for Contracted Sales) arising from new projects, and the
increase in other tax payables arising from the delivery of properties
during the fiscal year under review. As at 31 March 2013, the balance
of construction fees and retention payables and deposits received
and receipts in advance were HK$3,002.4 million and HK$3,792.9
million, respectively.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group finances its operations primarily through internally
generated funds, bank and other loans and senior notes financing.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
As at 31 March 2013, the Group had HK$6,777.8 million in cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash (31 March 2012: HK$3,832.0
million), among which non-restricted cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$6,264.7 million (31 March 2012: HK$3,315.7
million). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
were primarily denominated in Renminbi, HK dollars and US dollars.

Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets
As at 31 March 2013, the Group had approximately HK$11,853.4
million in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes
(81 March 2012: HK$6,618.4 million). The Group had aggregated
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$9,000.0 million as at 31 March 2013 (31 March 2012:
HK$4,773.4 million), of which HK$4,418.3 million will be repayable
within one year or on demand, approximately HK$1,678.9 million
will be repayable in the second year, approximately HK$2,149.3
million will be repayable in the third to fifth years and approximately
HK$753.5 million will be repayable after five years. As at 31 March
2013, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$6,121.4 million were secured by certain
buildings, investment properties, properties under development and
properties held for sales with a total carrying value of approximately
HK$15,520.3 million.

Except for the bank loan equivalent to HK$400.0 million, which is
denominated in HK dollars and bears interest at floating rates of
HIBOR+2.75%, all other interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of the Group are denominated in Renminbi and bear interest at
floating rates that range from 5.40% to 7.54% (31 March 2012:
5.98% to 7.87%) per annum. Furthermore, as at 31 March 2013, the
Group had unused banking facilities of approximately HK$2,927.8
million. The Group will deploy these banking facilities as appropriate,
depending on project development needs and working capital status.
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In January 2011, the Company issued senior notes due in January
2016 with a nominal value of US$250 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,950.0 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per
annum for the purpose of financing existing and new projects and
for general corporate use. In FY2011/12, the Company repurchased
from the market a portion of the senior notes with nominal value of
US$9 million. In October 2012, the Company further issued senior
notes due in October 2017 with a nominal value of US$125 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$975.0 million) at a coupon rate of
13.5% per annum for the purpose of funding its properties under
development, and refinancing a portion of our existing debt and for
general corporate purposes. As at 31 March 2013, the carrying value
of the Group’s senior notes were HK$2,853.4 million.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 32% as
at 31 March 2013, 33% as at 30 September 2012 and 21% as at 31
March 2012, respectively.

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had net current assets of
HK$3,053.1 million (31 March 2012: net current assets HK$2,350.4
million). The current ratio was at 1.20 (31 March 2012: 1.22).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees with respect to banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage
loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s trade centers and
residential properties, and bank loans entered into by lessees of
the Group’s residential and commercial properties. As at 31 March
2013, the guarantees amounted to HK$1,366.4 million (31 March
2012: HK$352.6 million). The guarantees granted to purchasers
will be released when the purchasers obtain the building ownership
certificates, which will then be pledged with the banks. For leased
residential and commercial properties, the guarantees will be released
accordingly along with the repayment of loan principals by the
lessees.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided in the amount of HK$3,636.4 million
(31 March 2012: HK$3,129.6 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (F)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business mainly in Renminbi; this includes
our income and expenses, assets and liabilities. During the fiscal
year under review, the exchange rate of Renminbi to HK dollars and
US dollars increased steadily. The Group’s management believes
that the fluctuation of the Renminbi will not have a significant impact
on the Group’s operations. The Group has not issued any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiary and
Associated Company

Except for the acquisition of the entire equity capital of Hydoo Harbin
in December 2012, the Group had no material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiary and associated company during the fiscal year
under review.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group signs project agreements with local governments prior
to the development of all projects in order to outline the blueprints
of relevant projects in the area. Agreements generally set out the
intended size and use of land. However, the acquisition of land,
actual land area and other land restrictions are subject to the relevant
regulations and local government procedures of public tender,
auction and listing. The actual area of the land acquired and other
relevant conditions will be subject to these procedures.

The progress of the land acquisition and project development
depends on the progress of the Group’s planning and construction
of the relevant projects, as well as the procedures required and the
time required for each of these procedural formalities as determined
by the different local government departments, including the approval
for land use quotas, the requisition and planning of land, the changing
of land use, and the evaluation and valuation process prior to the
procedures of public tender, auction and listing. As the time taken
and requirements for such procedures vary in different places, as do
the formalities and time the Group requires for applying for certificates
for different projects, the Group adjusts the development for each
project accordingly. In view of its substantial land bank and greater
flexibility in project planning, the Group believes such circumstances
have little impact on its development as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE W& D (HE)

Pursuant to certain land grant contracts signed by CSC Shenzhen,
the saleable GFA of CSC Shenzhen properties built on these parcels
of land is limited to 30% of the total buildable GFA. Pursuant to
certain land grant contracts signed by CSC Nanchang and CSC
Nanning in 2010, the saleable GFA of trade centers and storage
facilities built on these parcels of land are limited to 60% of the total
buildable GFA. This restriction does not apply to properties built for
residential, commercial and other uses. Pursuant to certain land grant
contracts signed by CSC Hefei in May and June 2013, the saleable
GFA of trade centers built on these parcels of land are limited to
50% of the total buildable GFA. This restriction does not apply to
properties built for residential, commercial and other uses. Except
for the conditions mentioned above, there is no restriction on sales
of the land acquired by the Group. The Group holds and builds the
properties with restrictions for leasing and self-use.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had a workforce of approximately
3,730 people, including approximately 3,570 people directly employed
by the Group and approximately 160 people employed by our jointly-
controlled entity. The number of staff increased by 77.6% from 2,100
as at 31 March 2012. During the fiscal year under review, the total
employee benefit expenses amounted to HK$365.1 million, increased
by 38.9% (FY2011/12: HK$262.8 million). The Group aims to recruit,
retain and develop competent individuals who are committed to
the Group’s long-term success and growth. Remunerations and
other benefits of employees are reviewed annually both in response
to market conditions and trends, and are based on qualifications,
experience, responsibilities and performance. In addition to basic
salaries and other staff benefits, discretionary bonuses and share
options may be awarded to employees who display outstanding
performance and contributions to the Group. During the fiscal year
under review, the Company has granted 116,870,000 share options
to certain directors and employees.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO

HBAE

Properties held for sale/finance lease

KFHE/MEEENF

Project site
Group’s area Approx. GFA  Completion
Project Location Interest (sq. m.) Description (sq.m.) Year
BEEGEE BREEER
EH 12 rEERE (FFK) AR (FHKR) BRIFH
China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% 1,060,000 Phase | trade centers 6,300 2004
AYEER Pinghu, Longgang District, —HZ SN
Shenzhen, China
HERY (TR T Phase |l residential facilities 17,100 2008
EPRER CHEERERE
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
CHRERAMREDE
— Warehouse 43,900 2008
— B
— Office tower 3,600 2010
— WA
Phase Il trade centers 1,300 2009
ZHIRSH0
Phase Ill commercial and other
supporting facilities
“HEERAMREEDE
— Office tower 26,000 2012-2013
—PNE
Phase Ill trade centers 12,400 2013
“HRSH0
Phase Ill residential facilities 58,000 2013
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HEAS ()

Properties held for sale/finance lease

KFHE/MEEENR

Project site
Group’s area Approx. GFA  Completion
Project Location Interest (sq. m.) Description (sq.m.) Year
HEGEE BHAREER

HE bk rEEER (E5X) RE (FHK) RIFH
China South City Nanchang  No. 1, Huannan Avenue, 100% 1,534,000 Phase | trade centers 21,300 2012
HEEEN Honggutan New District, — %S

Nanchang City,

Jiangxi Province, China

hEIAAEETANENE Phase | residential facilities 4,400 2012

ERE—R — B ERERE
China South City Nanning ~ No. 56, Shajing Avenue, 100% 890,000 Phase | trade centers 262,600 2012
HEER Jiangnan District, —HR AL

Nanning City, Guangxi

Zhuang Autonomous Region,

China

HEERLREAREED

TR FRIB56%:
China South City Xi'an No. 8, Port Avenue, Xi'an 65% 717,000 Phase | trade centers 334,100 2013
AL International Trade & Logistics —HR AL

Park, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province,
China

HREREE AL
ARER KR
BB RIESHR
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HEAS(F)

Properties for Investment

REW=

Group’s Approx. GFA®
Project Location Interest  Description (sq.m.)  Lease Term
BHREERY
HE % rEEEE AR (ERK)  BZREH
China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100%  Phase | trade centers 167,100  Medium Term Lease
I ZE Pinghu, Longgang District, —HTSH0 HhHIE A
Shenzhen, China
REURYTRERE & Phase | commercial and other
THERAE supporting facilities
— R ERAMEERE
— Business centers 22,400  Medium Term Lease
— BB IR
— Hotel properties 32,100  Medium Term Lease
— BIEME IR
Phase Il trade centers 352,800  Medium Term Lease
B S%H IR
Phase Il commercial and other
supporting facilities
“HEERAMEERE
— Office tower 15,100  Medium Term Lease
— AR IR
— Shopping plaza 15,200  Medium Term Lease
— % IR
Phase Il trade centers 95,100  Medium Term Lease
ZHRHHL IR
Phase Ill commercial and other
supporting facilities
—HEERAMEER
— Office tower 4,400  Medium Term Lease
— AR IR
China South City Nanning ~ No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centers 492,100  Medium Term Lease
HEEE, Jiangnan District, Nanning City, —HRZH0 PR
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, China
HE BRI REAREER
L@ H KiB565%
Note 1:  The approximate GFA does not include the area of undergound MizE1 : AEEEBETBIEMEREEIE o

facilities.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)

HEAS (&)

Properties under Development — with Land use Rights Certificates

RETYE-ARLHEREES

Approx. Estimated
Group’s  Project site Approx. GFA under completion
Project/Location Interest area GFA®  Description construction®  Stage of completion calendar year
(sq.m) (sq. m.) (sq.m.)
BHEE B4
BA/EES FEEEE  BERY  BEEERe AF EEREEEC THER BIRIES
(FRK)  (FHK) (FHK)
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,060,000 2,133,000 a.  Remaining portions - Planning =
RYIERSE BIEHA Halp
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu,
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
RERYTEER T
EMAENR
2. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,480,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial 1,082,000 Superstructure in progress  2013-2014
BEERY and supporting faclities TETREH
No. 56, Shajing Avenus, Jiangnan R HE - BEREMRESR
District, Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
PEEEAEE ARRED AN %) Halp
TR I AE 5
3. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,534,000 3,529,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and 328,000 Superstructure in progress  2013-2014
EEELE: supporting facilties TETRE
No. 1, Huannan Avenue, ReRL - HEREMEER
Honggutan New District,
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province, b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
China AN %) REn
PETEEBETAAENE
EPAER
4. China South City Xi'an 65% 717,000 2,045,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and other 309,000 Superstructure in progress  2013-2014
BRERY supporting facilties TETRE
No.8, Port Avenue, Xi'an International ReRL - HEREMEER
Trade & Logistics Park, Xi'an Ciy,
Shaanxi Province, China b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
HEREEARTARERAEE N5 Halp
BBAES 7
5. China South City Harbin 100% 724000 2,231,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and other 673,000 Superstructure in progress  2013-2014
BEEERH supporting facilties TETREH
Tuan Jie Town, Daowei District, ReRL - HEREMEER
Harbin City, Hellongjiang Province,
China b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
HEREIERRENENEELE AN 1%) Halp
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HEAS(F)

Properties under Development — with Land use Rights Certificates

HETYE-ARLHERERS

Approx. Estimated
Group’s  Project site Approx. GFA under completion
Project/Location Interest area GFA@  Description construction®  Stage of completion calendar year
(sq. m) (sq. m.) (sq.m.)
Lkl B
BE /5 TEERE  BERY BEERP AR EEREEEC THER RIRIEE
(THK)  (F5K) (¥5K)
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 1,686,000 4,215,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial and other 1,600,000 Foundation work and 2013-2014
BNEmy supporting faciities Superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, gL BEREMEER] WETRREETREND
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province,
China b.  Remaining portions - Planning =
PETEE BN THED N7l Halp
e
7. China South City Hefei® 100% 1,356,000 3,941,000 Construction has not been commenced - Planning -
RRERHY BERARR Halp
The intersection of the new industrial
demonstration park of

West County and Zipeng County,
Hefei City, Anhui Province,

China

PEZEE TR

ME TR THERERARER

Note 1: The Group has acquired these parcels of land as at 31 March 2013.

Note 2: The approximate GFA does not include the area of underground
facilities.

Note 3: The approximate GFA under construction includes the area of
underground facilities.

Note 4: The Hefei project has signed contracts to acquire parcels of land in
May and June 2013.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

Year ended 31 March

BRE3ANBELEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL FTHT THL THL
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 7,488,061 3,670,767 2,234,033 1,570,229 224,399
Gross Profit e 4,176,695 2,236,096 1,333,048 982,707 70,759
Profit before tax HATFE 4,473,136 3,305,515 2,452,776 2,112,991 1,025,740
Income tax expenses FEHAX (1,606,468) (1,257,953) (908,658) (785,345) (272,170)
Profit for the year NEE R 2,866,668 2,047,562 1,544,118 1,327,646 753,570
Attributable to: THIBHELR
Owners of the parent BRAREEEA 2,749,864 2,070,708 1,552,455 1,329,593 754,048
Non-controlling interests RS 116,804 (23,146) (8,337) (1,947 (478)
Net profit/(loss) attributable to REHREBYENTER
owners of the parent excluding 1 + HEMB AT
fair value gains on investment m RZ SRR
properties, gain on disposal of ~ FAESF LM AR
subsidiaries and their respective B AJE(E S/ (%
related tax effects BiE) 1,776,382 922,641 542,339 410,692 (106,034)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Non-current assets FRBEE 23,917,451 17,421,439 15,398,215 11,379,165 8,398,009
Current assets MBEE 18,427,574 13,244,904 5,985,682 4,920,603 923,306
Total assets BERE 42,345,025 30,666,343 21,383,897 16,299,768 9,321,315
Current liabilities MBEE 15,374,448 10,894,500 3,920,948 2,853,708 1,565,645
Non-current liabilties FRBERE 10,927,816 6,776,552 6,844,913 4,419,375 3,259,712
Total liabilities BEAE 26,302,264 17,671,052 10,765,861 7,273,083 4,825,357
Equity attributable to owners (SYNSL = PN
of parent s 15,853,253 12,938,680 10,640,914 8,913,024 4,461,963
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS 189,508 56,611 77,122 113,661 33,995
Total equity EEa ek 16,042,761 12,995,291 10,618,036 9,026,685 4,495,958
Earnings per share attributable SBRBARLER
to ordinary equity holders ERBFEAZ
of the parent BREAN
Basic ER HK45.62 cents  HK34.58 cents  HK25.95 cents  HK25.32 cents  HK16.76 cents
Bl ol il A gl
Diluted e HK45.60 cents  HK34.51 cents HK25.80 cents HK25.10 cents  HK16.76 cents
gl A Il Il gl gl
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND KEY MANAGEMENT
EERTEEEEER

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 52, is our Co-Chairman and
an executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has
been appointed as a Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily
responsible for formulating the overall strategies and assessing the
performance of the Group as well as providing leadership for the
Board. He has more than 30 years of management experience in the
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Cheng
has been awarded the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
1997” from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the Distinguished
International Entrepreneur of the Year Award 1997 from San
Francisco State University and the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur
Award 2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and the China
Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Cheng is the vice chairman of
the China Chamber of International Commerce, a standing member of
the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and a member of the 3rd,
the 4th and the 5th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Cheng is also presently the
foundation honorary chairman of Gem and Jewelry Committee of
China General Chamber of Commerce, a standing member of the
China Enterprise Confederation and the China Enterprise Directors
Association, vice president of the China Federation of Logistics and
Purchasing, vice president of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Federation of Industry and Commerce, vice president of
the Guangxi Overseas Friendship Association, vice president of the
China Chamber of International Commerce Shenzhen, chairman of
the Shenzhen Logistics and Supply Chain Management Association,
vice chairman of the Federation of Shenzhen Industries, honorary life
president of the Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’ Association
Limited, honorary chairman of Zhejiang Pearl Trade Association
and member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association. Mr.
Cheng is also the chairman of Man Sang International Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 938) and the director
of China Metro-Rural Holdings Limited (formerly known as Man Sang
International (B.V.l.) Limited), a company listed on the NYSE MKT
(ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng is a younger brother of Mr. Cheng
Tai Po, a non-executive Director.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERTEEEERE(H)

Mr. LEUNG Moon Lam, aged 57, is the Chief Executive Officer and
an executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been
appointed as a Director since 1 June 2002. He is primarily responsible
for the execution of the Board’s decision and the overall management
of the Group. He has more than 30 years of management experience
in the garment manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses.
Mr. Leung received the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur Award
2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and the China
Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Leung was a member of the 3rd
and the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a member of the Liaoning Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He was
also the chairman of the 7th Shenzhen Textile Industry Association
Committee. Mr. Leung was appointed as a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in February 2013. Mr. Leung is also presently the vice chairman of
the Jiangxi Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, an honorary
chairman of the Shenzhen Longgang Charity Association and the
honorary professor of Business of Hang Seng School of Commerce.
Mr. Leung is the president of the Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Associations, the chairman of Wetter (China) Limited and Kings Faith
International Limited.

Professor XU Yang, aged 74, is an executive Director. Professor
Xu joined our Group as a senior consultant in September 2002, and
was appointed as a Director since 4 February 2008. He is primarily
responsible for the general development direction, operational
strategy, market promotion, and governmental relations of the Group.
Professor Xu has over 23 years of experience in capital operations
management, focusing on optimizing allocation and managing the use
of capital in business operations. From 1992 to 2000, Professor Xu
was the chairman of Shenzhen Investment Limited (previously known
as Shum Yip Investment Limited, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 604). He was the vice chairman
of the 2nd Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, deputy chief secretary of the Shenzhen
Municipal Government and director of the Shenzhen Economic
Development Bureau. Professor Xu is currently the permanent
honorary chairman of the Federation of Shenzhen Industries, honorary
chairman of Shenzhen Enterprise Confederation and Shenzhen
Entrepreneur Association and deputy chairman of China National
Industrial and Economic Association. Professor Xu graduated from
Harbin Institute of Technology in 1964. He completed the Stanford
executive program at Stanford University in 1988. He also holds the
qualification of senior engineer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERFEEEERE(H)

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. MA Kai Cheung, SBS, BBS, aged 71, is our Co-Chairman and
a non-executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has
been appointed as a Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily
responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general
business models and development strategies and major issues. Dr.
Ma has more than 41 years of management experience in garment
distribution and manufacturing businesses. Dr. Ma was awarded a
Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) and a Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003 and
2009 respectively. He was also a member of the 9th to 11th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Dr. Ma is currently the permanent honorary president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association, permanent honorary
president of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce Limited,
chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organizations, president of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association and permanent honorary chairman of Federation of Hong
Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations. Dr. Ma received an
honorary doctoral degree in philosophy from the Morrison University
in the United States in 2004. He received a fellowship from the Asian
Knowledge Management Association in 2008. Dr. Ma is also the
chairman of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (formerly
known as Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 126).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERTEEEERE(H)

Mr. SUN Kai Lit CIiff, B8S, JP, aged 59, is a non-executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been appointed
as a Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and major issues. Mr. Sun is an associate of
the Institute of Industrial Engineers of Ohio and has over 33 years of
management experience in the businesses of wholesale distribution
and manufacturing of kitchenware and other metal and plastic
products. He was appointed as Justice of the Peace (JP) and was
awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003 and 2006 respectively.
At present, Mr. Sun is a member of the 11th Zhejiang Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also
the honorary chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries,
honorary chairman of The Hong Kong Exporters’ Association,
honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Q Mark Council, president
of the Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers Association Ltd. and the
honorary founding president and executive president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association. Mr. Sun is the executive
director of Kinox Enterprises Limited and Kin Hip Metal and Plastic
Factory Ltd. He is currently an independent non-executive director
of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3828) and Ka
Shui International Holdings Ltd., (stock code: 822), which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERFEEEERE(H)

Dr. MA Wai Mo, aged 69, is a non-executive Director. He is a co-
founder of our Group and has been appointed as a Director of
the Company since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and major issues. He has more than 34
years of management experience in the printing and packaging,
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Dr. Ma was a
member of the 3rd and the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, the chairman of the 13th,
14th, 16th and 17th Hong Kong Corrugated Paper Manufacturers’
Association. Currently, he is a member of the Committee of
Foreign and Overseas Chinese Affairs, the Standing Committee of
Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress, the honorary chairman
of the 2nd and 3rd Chaoyang District Shantou City Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the vice
chairman of the 7th general committee of the China Packaging
Federation, the honorary chairman of the 7th and 8th Shenzhen
Packaging Association, the vice president of the 7th and the 8th
Guangdong Printing Association, the executive vice president of the
Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, the honorary
founding president and the executive vice president of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese International Association, and the chairman of the
Shenzhen Graphic Society and Shenzhen Longgang Cultural Industry
Association. Dr. Ma is also the chairman of Luk Ka International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Luk Ka Overseas Investments
Limited. Dr. Ma was awarded the World’s Outstanding Chinese
in 2005 and received an honorary doctor of science degree from
Armstrong University in 2005.

Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 61, is a non-executive Director. He has
been appointed as a Director since 30 April 2010 and is primarily
responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general
business models, development strategies and major issues. Mr.
Cheng has over 30 years’ experience in manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses. He is a board member of the Zhanjiang
Ocean University, China, a general committee member of the Hong
Kong Jewelry Manufacturers’ Association and the chairman of
Hong Kong Overseas Puning Sheshan Clansmen Association. Mr.
Cheng is also the executive director and deputy chairman of Man
Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 938) and the director and vice-
chairman of China Metro-Rural Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Man Sang International (B.V.l.) Limited), a company listed on the
NYSE MKT (ticker symbol: CNR). Mr. Cheng is an elder brother of
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, the Co-Chairman and executive Director and
the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERTEEEERE(H)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBS, SBS, Jr, aged 62, has
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. He has more than 33 years of management
experience in the textile manufacturing, wholesale and distribution
businesses. Mr. Leung is a member of the Industrial (First) Functional
Constituency of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong, also a
member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Leung is currently the honorary
chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong, a council member of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council, the honorary president
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, a fellow of The Textiles
Institute as well as The Clothing and Footwear Institute in the United
Kingdom. In addition, Mr. Leung is the chairman of Sun Hing Knitting
Factory Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (stock code: 2356) and Harbour
Centre Development Limited (stock code: 51), both companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung was
an independent non-executive director of Meadville Holdings (BVI)
Limited (formerly known as “Meadville Holdings Limited”), a company
withdrawing the listing of its shares from the Stock Exchange effective
from 19 April 2010 (stock code: 3313), until his resignation effective
from 1 June 2010.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more
than 35 years of experience in financial management. Mr. Li
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and holds a
master degree in business administration from the University of East
Asia, Macau, currently known as the University of Macau. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Li
is the executive director and chief financial officer of GDH Limited,
executive director of Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited (“Kingway”),
non-executive director of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI”)
and an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment
Limited (“SZ Investment”) and Hans Energy Company Limited (“Hans”).
Kingway, GDI, SZ Investment and Hans are companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 124, 270,
604 and 554 respectively). He is a director of Shenzhen City Airport
(Group) Company Limited, a member of the Council of the Hong
Kong Chinese Orchestra Limited, and serves as the vice chairman
of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering Committee of the
Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association. Mr. Li was also an
independent non-executive director of Hong Long Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1383) until 27 May 2011.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERFEEEERE(H)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung Stephen, JP, aged 66, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr.
Hui has over 42 years of experience in the securities and investment
industry. He had for years been serving as a council member and
vice chairman of the Stock Exchange, a member of the Advisory
Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission,
a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited, a
member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures
Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company
Law Reform and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel A. He was also a
member of the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Hui is a member
of Government “Appointees” (independent member) of Appeal Panel
of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong. Mr. Hui was appointed
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2004 and was also appointed as a
member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in 2006. He also serves as a non-
executive director of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock
code: 590) and independent non-executive director of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (stock code: 388), Zhuhai Holdings
Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Jiuzhou Development
Company Limited) (stock code: 908), Lifestyle International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1212), Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited
(stock code: 711), Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation
Limited (formerly known as Frasers Property (China) Limited) (stock
code: 535) and SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co., Limited (stock
code: 2386), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERTEEEERE(H)

Mr. YUNG Wing Ki Samuel, SBS, MH, JP, aged 55, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 1 March
2013. Mr. Yung has over 30 years of experience in insurance sector.
He was awarded an EMBA from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and has attained certain professional qualifications,
including Certified Financial Planner, Registered Financial Consultant,
fellow Chartered Financial Practitioner, Certified Manager of Financial
Advisor and Chartered Insurance Agency Manager. Mr. Yung is
currently an executive district director of AIA International Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Group Sense (International)
Limited, a company the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 601). Mr. Yung is also presently
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, the founding president of Hong
Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association, chairman of
Betting and Lotteries Commission and the chairman or committee
member of several Government committees and non-governmental
organizations.

Mr. Yung was elected the “Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award”
in 1994. He was also a Municipal Commission Standing member of
Chinese People’s Poalitical Consultative Conference of Jilin, Standing
Committee member of All-China Youth Federation, member of
Commission on Strategic Development of the HKSAR, member of
Central Policy Unit, chairman of Hong Kong United Youth Association,
chairman of The Outstanding Young Persons’ Association, director &
chairman of International Committee of General Agents & Managers
Association International, co-chairman of the Asia Pacific Financial
Services Association and president of The Life Underwriters
Association of Hong Kong and president of General Agents and
Managers Association of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERFEEEERE(H)

Key Management

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 48, is our Group’s chief
financial officer. Mr. Fung joined our Group in July 2006, and is
responsible for formulating corporate financing strategy and the
overall financial management of the Group. Mr. Fung graduated from
the University of Wales, United Kingdom with a master degree in
business administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Global
Management Accountants. He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Fung has more than 20 years of
experience in financial management, mergers and acquisitions,
capital markets financing and corporate restructuring. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Fung was an executive director and the chief financial
officer of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI”). From December
2002 to November 2004, Mr. Fung served as an executive director
and the chief financial officer of Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited
(“Kingway”). Both GDI and Kingway are companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 270 and 124,
respectively). Mr. Fung was also a key member of the Guangdong
Enterprises (Holdings) Limited (“GDE”) restructuring team and has
been extensively involved in the US$5.3 billion debt restructuring of
GDE.

Ms. TSE Man Yu, aged 42, is the company secretary and the
Group’s deputy chief financial officer. Ms. Tse joined our Group in
February 2008. She assists the chief financial officer in the overall
financial management of the Group and is responsible for investor
relations and the company secretarial duties. Ms. Tse graduated
from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of science
(honours) degree in finance. She is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Tse has more than 17 years
of experience in financial management, mergers and acquisitions,
corporate finance and asset management. Prior to joining our
Group, Ms. Tse was the assistant chief financial officer of GDI which
is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 270). Ms. Tse was an alternate director of Guangdong
Development Fund Limited (“GDF”), which is a company listed on the
London Stock Exchange (code: gdf), and a director of Guangdong
Investment Management Limited, which is the fund manager of GDF.
Ms. Tse had also been a senior corporate finance executive of Tung
Fong Hung (Holdings) Limited (now known as Freeman Financial
Corporation Limited) and Sing Pao Media Group Limited (now known
as China Gamma Group Limited), which were companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock codes: 279 and 164,
respectively).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

KEY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERTEEEERE(H)

Mr. JIANG Kai, aged 61, is the Group’s vice president. He joined
our Group in January 2007, and is responsible for managing
construction projects of the Group, including coordinating the
planning and designs, managing tenders and bids, budgeting,
costing and construction management. Mr. Jiang graduated from
the Underground Construction Faculty of Tongji University in 1982
with a bachelor degree in underground construction, and holds
a qualification of senior engineer. Mr. Jiang has over 18 years of
management experience in the construction industry. Mr. Jiang had
been working for the 1st branch of the Shenzhen Architectural Design
Institute as the chief engineer, Shenzhen Construction Investment
Holdings Ltd. as the manager of the construction department, and
Shenzhen New World Group Co., Ltd. as the group deputy general
manager.

Ms. JIANG Ling, aged 40, is the Group’s vice president. She joined
our Group in November 2003, and is responsible for the Group’s
strategic development, including market research, project planning
and public relations. Ms. Jiang graduated from the Department
of Journalism, Huazhong University of Science and Technology
in 1994. She later completed Advanced Business Management
Course at HSBC Business School, Peking University in 2009 and
the postgraduate course in fashion buying at Hong Kong Institute
of Fashion Buying in 2011. She has also attained the qualification of
senior planner from the Ministry of Labor and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China (which has been renamed as the Ministry
of Human Resources and Social Security of the People’s Republic
of China). Ms. Jiang has over 12 years of management experience in
the property industry and 3 years of experience in the media industry.
She was the manager of the development department of Shanghai
Chenghuang Temple Fuyoumen Small-Commodities Market
Corporation Limited, the director of Shenzhen Column Editorial
Department, Hong Kong Ta Kung Pao and the general manager of
Shenzhen Tongyuan Nanling Cultural and Creative Park Corporation
Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEgRE

The Board has pleasure in presenting this annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the fiscal
year ended 31 March 2013.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group is developing and operating
large-scale integrated logistics and trade centers in China, providing
a comprehensive trading platform of raw materials and finished
products for domestic and international wholesale suppliers, buyers,
manufacturers and distributors. With its unique business model, the
Group not only sells and leases well-designed, high quality trade
center units for businesses to display and sell their products, but
also provides trade center occupants and their customers with a full
range of facilities and services such as offices, residential facilities,
warehousing and on-site logistics services, convention and exhibition
facilities, property management, e-commerce platform, hotels,
restaurants, banking services, on-site government services in a bid
to offer one-stop convenient supply chain solutions. The successful
business model was first pioneered by CSC Shenzhen and has been
replicated in strategic locations across China such as Nanchang,
Nanning, Xi'an, Harbin, Zhengzhou and Hefei to satisfy the needs
bring about by the strong economic growth in their respective
regions. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entity and associate are set out in notes 19 to 21 to
the financial statements respectively,

Results and Dividends

The Group’s results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2013 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 212 of this
annual report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK10.0
cents per share in respect of FY2012/13 (FY2011/12: HK7.5 cents).
Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) at the AGM to be held on 21 August 2013, the
proposed final dividend will be distributed on or about 11 September
2013 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 29 August 2013.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 28
August 2013 to 29 August 2013, both days inclusive. In order
to be qualified for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 27 August 2013.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHREA)

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 35 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company’s reserves available for distribution as at
31 March 2013, calculated in accordance with the provision of
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to HK$645.34 million (31 March 2012: HK$599.75 million), of which
HK$605.36 million (31 March 2012: HK$449.07 million), subject to
the adjustment with the number of shares which may be allotted
after the date of this report but before the date of book close, has
been proposed as final dividend for the fiscal year under review, are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

Senior Notes

On 14 January 2011, the Company issued senior notes due
January 2016 with a nominal value of US$250 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,950 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per
annum for the purpose of financing the development of the existing
and new projects and for general corporate use. In FY2011/12, the
Company cancelled a portion of the senior notes with a nominal value
of US$9 million after it was repurchased from the market.

On 17 October 2012, the Company issued senior notes due
October 2017 with a nominal value of US$125 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$975 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per annum
for the purpose of, amongst others, funding its properties under
development and planned for future development (including land
grant fees) and for general corporate purposes.

Further details of the senior notes are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

Convertible Notes

On 28 March 2013, the Company entered into a purchase agreement
with PAG on the issuance of convertible notes due April 2018 with
a nominal value of HK$975 million at a coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum (“Convertible Notes”). The issuance, which is for the purpose
of, amongst others, funding its properties under development and
planned for future development (including land grant fees) and for
general corporate purposes, has been completed on 9 April 2013.

Further details of the Convertible Notes are set out in note 45(a) to the
financial statements.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements.

Donations

During the fiscal year under review, the Group made charitable
donations totaling HK$2.71 million (FY2011/12: HK$4.57 million) to
various charitable organizations.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013
are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors during the fiscal year and up to the date of this report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
Professor Xu Yang

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel (appointed on 1 March 2013)

In accordance with the Company’s new articles of association (the
“Articles”), Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Professor Xu Yang, Dr. Ma Wai
Mo, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel shall retire from
office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract
with the Company while each of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The service
contract and the letter of appointment may be terminated by either
party thereto by giving not less than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of
Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether
directly or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of
its holding companies was a party during the fiscal year or as at 31
March 2013.

Biographical Information of Directors and
Key Management

The biographical information of the Directors and key management
of the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Key Management” on pages 56 to 65 of this annual
report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-
Competition

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009
(“Non-Competition Undertaking”) entered into by each of Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po, each of
them has undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of
each other member of the Group) that so long as the Company is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and so long as any
of:

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the
controlling shareholder or a Director of the Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Leung Moon Lam, he remains as a Director of
the Company;

(iiy in respect of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, he remains as the controlling
shareholder of the Company,
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that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant
or agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or
other contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise
involved, whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner,
agent or otherwise, directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any
business in any form or manner in China that is in competition or is
likely to be in the competition, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group, unless those business opportunities have been first
offered to the Group upon terms which are fair and reasonable and
the Board has declined such opportunities, in accordance with the
provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking, Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po or any of them or
their respective associates may pursue such opportunities.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, Mr. Cheng Tai Po and Mr. Leung Moon Lam confirming
their compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking for the
fiscal year ended 31 March 2013. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed their compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the fiscal year under review.

Directors’ Emoluments

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
March 2013 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Competing

Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations
from the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Directors) that none of them
have engaged or were interested in any business which were in
competition or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group during the fiscal year under review.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests

in Securities

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

EERFTETHAERESZH
R

R2013F3A31H + EFRNARQ A KE (48
BOEBE(EXRBHFRBERA([EHFRBE
&5 1) SBEXVER) AR R B (TR% 1D 1) ~ 48
Befn R AERE B A AL DRIRIEES M
BIEPIZE3525A T HEENELM - SRE £
MBTABEFETESFR ZARETR([1ZE
PRI ZBRE A QB REEZ FTE s KA R 0
T

Long position in the Shares and Underlying RAEAT RO EHEERONEE
Shares of the Company
Number of Shares
RE
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Corporate Personal Family Share total issued
Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest options Total  share capital®
BAAH
2HERT
RS
BEpf R ER DR EARS RiER BhRiE @t ERbad
Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary shares 2,367,180,976" 76,000,000 - - 2,443,180,976 40.35%
LN R
Cheng Tai Po Ordinary shares 2,367,180,976” 4,936,000 - - 2,372,116,976 39.18%
Ly LRk
Ma Kai Cheung Ordinary shares 734,128,649° - - - 784,128,649 12.12%
SNE EBR
Leung Moon Lam Ordinary shares/share options 523,899,709 57,389,977 2,000,000 59,870,000% 643,159,747 10.62%
i LRI
Ma Wai Mo Ordinary shares 226,197,662 - - - 226,197,662 3.73%
Sun Kai Lit Cliff Ordinary shares 217,241,662" - 800,000 - 218,041,662 3.60%
el EBR
Xu Yang Share options - - - 25,000,000% 25,000,000 0.41%
it e
Li Wai Keung Ordinary shares - 5,300,000 - - 5,300,000 0.08%
3o LRk
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Notes:

(1)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 50% and 58.7% of the respective
issued share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and
Proficient Success Limited which in turn holds 1,339,913,759 and
1,027,267,217 Shares respectively and is therefore deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of 2,367,180,976 Shares. Mr. Cheng is a
director of each of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient
Success Limited. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is the younger brother of Mr.
Cheng Tai Po.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is interested in 50% and 41.3% in the respective issued
share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient
Success Limited which in turn holds 1,339,913,759 and 1,027,267,217
Shares respectively and is therefore deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 2,367,180,976 Shares. Mr. Cheng is a director of each of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited and Proficient Success Limited.
Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, as beneficial owner and beneficiary of trust and
through the interest of his spouse, being interested in 44.48% of the
issued share capital of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited which through
a number of intermediaries, wholly owns Carrianna Development Limited,
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung is therefore deemed to be interested and duplicated
interested in an aggregate of 734,128,649 Shares held by Carrianna
Development Limited via its holding company. Dr. Ma is a director
of each Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited, Carrianna Development
Limited, Sincere United Holdings Limited, Carrianna Holdings Limited,
Gartrend Development Limited and Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.

On 6 February 2013, Carrianna Development Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited of which Dr.
Ma Kai Cheung is a director and controlling shareholder, entered into
a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Chen’s International
Investment Limited who will conditionally acquire 750,000,000 Shares,
which represent approximately 12.38% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The Shares under the transaction will be transferred in
phases. As at 31 March 2013, 154,838,000 Shares were transferred to
Chen’s International Investment Limited. The Share transfer under the
sale and purchase agreement was completed on 28 June 2013.

Mr. Leung Moon Lam owns 100% of the issued share capital of Kings
Faith Interational Limited which in turn holds 523,899,770 Shares and
is therefore deemed to be interested in 523,899,770 Shares. Mr. Leung
Moon Lam is a director of Kings Faith International Limited.
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(6)  The relevant interests are share options granted to Mr. Leung Moon Lam
and Professor Xu Yang pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme
adopted on 4 September 2009. Further details of the share option
scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this
report.

(6) By virtue of Dr. Ma Wai Mo’s 50% shareholding interests in Luk Ka
Overseas Investments Limited which is interested in 100% interests in
Luk Ka International Limited, Dr. Ma is deemed to be interested and
duplicate in the interest in the same 226,197,662 Shares held by Luk Ka
International Limited.

(7)  Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff owns the entire interests in Kinox Holdings
Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
217,241,662 Shares held by Kinox Holdings Limited.

(8)  The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 6,053,564,000
Shares issued as at 31 March 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, to the knowledge of
the Board, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to
be: (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors and chief executive were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (i) entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iiiy notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2013, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares

FERRER

R2013F3A31H  HEZEEAM » L FAL(AR
NAEERREBITHABBRIN BRRRD sk HE R
B R R 7S Sk AR B Bk B 1R AR 1B 75 5 & B
EIEHIEXVERE 2 N 35 ZhIE X AR AN A 5l
= REARDQRIRIEZS NP EEFIFE336
KRBT FERNESDMAERIRA

RERGHRNER

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares or the Company’s
underlying total issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held share capital®
PR EAREE
AR BITRABEY
nE/ A8 EEME RGHE BABESL
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,339,913,759" 22.13%
ERHAA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 1,027,267,217% 16.96%
EHEAA
Mr. Chen Hong Tian Deemed interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 12.38%
BRALR 4 WRIER I EE R
Mrs. Chen Li Ni Yao Deemed interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 12.38%
BikBle Lt BRI EH B R
Chen Family Assets Management Company Limited  Deemed interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 12.38%
WRIER B AR R
Chen’s International Investment Limited Beneficial owner 750,000,000 12.38%
EnfAA
Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 734,128,649 12.12%
EREE WRER R EE RS
Carrianna (BVI) Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 734,128,649 12.12%
WRER B AR R
Gartrend Development Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 734,128,649 12.12%
REERBB AR WARER B EE R
Carrianna Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 734,128,649 12.12%
EEREEFRAF BRI EH B R
Sincere United Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 734,128,649 12.12%
WRIER B AR RS
Carrianna Development Limited Beneficial owner 734,128,649 12.12%
EanfAA
PAG Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 625,000,000 10.32%
WRER R EEER
Pacific Alliance Group Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 625,000,000 10.32%
WRER B AR R
Pacific Alliance Investment Management Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 625,000,000 10.32%
WARER B EE R
Pacific Alliance Group Asset Management Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 625,000,000 10.32%
WRER R EEER
Pacific Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund L.P. Deemed interest in controlled corporation 625,000,000 10.32%
WRIER B AR R
PA Worldwide Opportunity VI Limited Beneficial owner 625,000,000 10.32%
EanfAA
Kings Faith International Limited Beneficial owner 523,899,770 8.65%
REERER A EGHAA
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Notes:

Q)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po each own 50% of the
issued share capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po own 58.7% and 41.3%
respectively of the issued share capital of Proficient Success Limited.

Carrianna Development Limited is wholly owned by Sincere United
Holdings Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Carrianna Holdings
Limited. Carrianna Holdings Limited is wholly owned beneficially by
Gartrend Development Limited with Dr. Ma Kai Cheung holding one
share on trust for Gartrend Development Limited. Gartrend Development
Limited has two classes of issued shares: ordinary shares and non-
voting deferred shares. Dr. Ma Kai Cheung and his brother Mr. Ma Kai
Yum each hold 50% of the non-voting deferred shares of Gartrend
Development Limited, which (a) carry no right to attend or vote at, or
to receive notice of, general meetings, (b) do not entitle its holders to
receive dividends until (i) after the holders of ordinary shares have been
paid, (i) the company’s profit available for distribution as dividends
exceeds HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 and (i) the company determines
to make such distribution to the holders of non-voting deferred shares,
and (c) rank after the claims of the ordinary shareholders as regards to
repayment of capital in the event of insolvency in that only one half of the
balance of HK$100,000,000,000,000.00 in the assets of the company (if
any) is distributable among the holders of non-voting deferred shares. All
of the ordinary shares of Gartrend Development Limited are beneficially
held by Carrianna (BVI) Ltd, with one share held by Dr. Ma Kai Cheung
on trust for Carrianna (BVI) Ltd. Carrianna (BVI) Ltd is wholly owned by
Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited.

On 6 February, 2013, Carrianna Development Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Tak Sing Alliance Holdings Limited of which
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung is a director and controlling shareholder, entered into
a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Chen’s International
Investment Limited who will conditionally acquire 750,000,000 Shares,
which represent approximately 12.38% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The Shares under the transaction will be transferred in
phases. As at 31 March 2013, 154,838,000 Shares were transferred to
Chen’s International Investment Limited. The Share transfer under the
sale and purchase agreement was completed on 28 June 2013. Chen’s
International Investment Limited is wholly owned by Chen Family Assets
Management Company Limited. Mr. Chen Hong Tian and Mrs. Chen Li
Ni Yao each own 50% of the issued share capital of Chen Family Assets
Management Company Limited.
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PA Worldwide Opportunity VI Limited is wholly owned by Pacific
Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund L.P. and Pacific Alliance Group Asset
Management Limited is the general partner of Pacific Alliance Asia
Opportunity Fund L.P.. Pacific Alliance Group Asset Management
Limited is wholly owned by Pacific Alliance Investment Management
Limited. PAG Holdings Limited owns 99.17% of the issued share capital
of Pacific Aliance Group Limited which owns 90% of the issued share
capital of Pacific Alliance Investment Management Limited. Thus, all
of the above mentioned entities are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 625,000,000 Shares held by PA Worldwide Opportunity VI
Limited. These are the Shares which may be issued upon full exercise by
PA Worldwide Opportunity VI Limited of the conversion rights attached
to the Convertible Notes held by PA Worldwide Opportunity VI Limited.
Further details of the Convertible Notes are set out in note 45(a) to the
financial statements.

These 523,899,770 Shares are held by Kings Faith International Limited
which in turn is 100% owned by Mr. Leung Moon Lam.

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 6,053,564,000
Shares issued as at 31 March 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, to the knowledge of
the Directors, no other person (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the fiscal year under review are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.
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Information on Share Options

Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements

The Company entered into the pre-IPO share option agreements to
recognize the contribution of and to provide for incentives and reward
to two Directors and certain employees who have contributed to
the economic achievement to the Group (the “Grantees”). The pre-
IPO share option agreements were entered into on 31 July 2008 to
formalize all previous arrangements with the Grantees. No further
options may be granted under the pre-IPO share option agreements.

Of the share options granted under the pre-IPO share option
agreements, 66,000,000 share options had been exercised by Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing, being a Director, and the remaining share options
under the pre-IPO share option agreements had lapsed as of the date
of this report.

The table below summarized the details of the movements in share
options granted pursuant to the pre-IPO share option agreements
during the Year.

REBRENER
BXARBRERDAERE RS
ARARF] BRRHABERDAERERZ
NEEMUEERETEE ([FAEADSARE
BERRGERR - LARFRHIER - AR
NI E D B BB A 1 % 102008 F 7 A31H
=l MRBEARAMBBER - AR
FAEERNDABERERZSTEBRELEK
1 o

BREERAFRBERDAEBAE BRI Z
fB R - 66,000,000 8 B T i E F A A
AT - MESREBEERARBERNAE
Pt X th < BB E AR s B SRR

TRBERE AR AFE S A ERE R Z
B BEER FANZEFE -

Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at Cancelled/ As at Exercise
Name Date of Grant 1 April 2012 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2013 price Exercisable period
20126 R2013E
#E RitAH 4A1R BRI B EHE#AN 3A31H 15E iy
HK$
B
Executive Directors
HES
Cheng Chung Hing ~ 31.07.2008 66,000,000 - (66,000,000)" - - 1.06  30.09.2009 - 29.09.2012
D
Leung Moon Lam ~ 31.07.2008 66,000,000 - - (66,000,000) - 1.06  30.09.2009 - 29.09.2012
ik
132,000,000 - (66,000,000)  (66,000,000) -
Note: BtsE -

1. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before
the date on which the share options were exercised was approximately
HK$1.20 per share.

1. BERBRETERBZATARQ RGN
FHRHELN AER.208TT ©
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are summarized as follows:

1. The purpose is to provide incentives to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.

2. The Board may at its discretion grant options to directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of
the Group.

3.  The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued
Shares as at the date of commencement of the listing of Shares
on the Stock Exchange unless with the prior approval from the
Shareholders. The maximum number of the Shares available for
issue upon exercise of all share options which may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 304,430,000 Shares,
representing approximately 5.0% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.

4. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) to each grantee in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of grant. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to approval of the
Shareholders.

5. The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save
that no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after
grant.

6. The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options
is HK$1.

78 China South City Holdings Limited g3 A% B R A 7

BT E

AN RIBH2009F9 A4 B T —EBRIERT
BT ERTE]]) - BBRUERT8IM0 = 2 IR
BT

1. %ATEIE ERESBERATHAEEME
R YEAEESAREESE T RRK
SIATA -

2. EZCARBBRNES EER S4B
g K2 BRIAKEZARETER

/

L
n

3. RAEREAZBEBTEEREENKRITEZAT
BREREETEM A TEHTARMBE
TMSBB TR BTG 230% © BRIER
ARREFBLAE - B RIREERET 2
Al TR HOBRERTS KR D RS - 5
BB AB T E 2 BEIRE 21T
DHEEZ10% o ABREFEE T~ A T
R FTE B IR T 1 A] L 351 T AV AR
15 4288 5304,430,0000% © HHE R ARE
BEIA R R B B TR A 495.0% °

4. RBkRETHAETERLBREZE(RER
118 - S RORTTE 2 B ) 1T M
PMER21E A BIEE R L B B 1E RS AR
ANBETTRASETO RN BB T SHBEBAR
NEAMNEL B HTRAN1% - nE
E—FROBBULRRNEEE - AR
R -

5 BEA2ENBSAEBRENITERS  #
VARS RS HEMERR 12 10 ABIR -

6. BEBABXMIBTELSRETER
HERFLE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHREA)

7. The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the official closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Shares on the
date of grant.

8. The Share Option Scheme will expire on 29 September
2019 after which no further options will be granted under the
Share Option Scheme. In respect of the options granted and
accepted prior to such expiration and not then exercised, they
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

The table below summarized the details of the movements in share
options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme during the
Year:

EEXAEENBEAES ﬁ%ﬂx%ﬂ’]ﬂﬁfﬁ
ERFERTIEIE 2 &Z=E ()RDIRE
i B BiEE R AT H %ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
B ()RR EZEE L AR AEZ3£A
TR TE ARERMYFHRTE : &
(iR AR L B BRI EE -

BT 2 A 2019F9 A290H 4R IF - H
BT RERIR B IR 28 — P DB
T o IRIBRERBEAEIWAEEBRT » Rix
RIEFIER P EEWNEERITRITEZ
BBRE S AR E B R ATITHE o

RAFERIREBEIRETER RN &
FERMENTRZA

Number of Share Options
BRE"E
As at Cancelled/ As at Exercise
Category Date of grant 1 April 2012 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2013 price Exercisable period
R2012% 20136
¥ REAH 4A1H BERE BT BEHAN 3A31H fix 3 L]
HKS
B
Directors
B
XuYang 11.04.2011 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 129  11.04.2011-10.04.2016
it 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 129 11.04.2012-10.04.2016
5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 129  11.04.2013-10.04.2016
27.06.2012 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 115 27.06.2012 - 26.06.2017
- 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 115 27.06.2013-26.06.2017
Leung Moon Lam  27.06.2012 - 29,935,000 - - 29,935,000 115 27.06.2012 - 26.06.2017
it - 29,935,000 - 29,935,000 115 27.06.2013-26.06.2017
Employees 02.12.2010 2,000,000 - - (2,000 000) - 141 02.12.2011-01.12.2015
Es 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 141 0212.2012-01.12.2015
2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 141 02.12.2013-01.12.2015
11.04.2011 73,700,000 - - (2,500,000 71,200,000 129 11.04.2011-10.04.2016
52,400,000 - - (9,700,000 42,700,000 129 11.04.2012-10.04.2016
52,400,000 - - (9,700,000) 42,700,000 129 11.04.2013-10.04.2016
18,700,000 - - (7,200 OOO) 11,500,000 129 11.04.2014-10.04.2016
27.06.2012 - 20,500,000 - 20,500,000 115 27.06.2012 - 26.06.2017
- 23,500,000 - - 23,500,000 115  27.06.2013-26.06.2017
- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 115 27.06.2014 - 26.06.2017
218,200,000 116,870,000 - (35100,000) 299,970,000
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Notes:

1. The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the date on which
the share options granted on 27 June 2012 was HK$1.15 per share.

2. Details of the Share Option Scheme is set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or

Debt Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share
Options” in this report and in note 34 to the financial statements,
at no time during the fiscal year under review was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their spouses
or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Connected Transaction

On 30 November 2012, Harbin China South City Company Limited
(“Harbin China South City”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with Jining
Hydoo Modern Industries Co., Ltd. (“Jining Howard”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Hydoo International Holdings Limited
(“Hydoo Cayman”), to acquire the entire equity capital of Hydoo
Harbin for a consideration of RMB500 million (the “Acquisition”).
As the land acquired by Hydoo Harbin is in close proximity of the
land acquired by Harbin China South City, it is considered that
the Acquisition would allow the Group to strategically capture
opportunities arising from the development potential in the area. As
at 17 January 2013, the Acquisition has been completed and the
consideration of the Acquisition of RMB500 million has been fully paid

up.
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As at the date of the Acquisition, Mr. Wong Choi Hing is a director
of Xi’an China South City Company Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, and Jining Howard is indirectly wholly-owned by Hydoo
Cayman, which is held as to approximately 69% by Most Trend
Holdings Limited, which in turn is held as to approximately 52.70%
by Mr. Wong Choi Hing. Thus, Jining Howard is an associate of Mr.
Wong Choi Hing, and therefore a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Acquisition constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements and the approval of the
independent Shareholders under the Listing Rules.

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 November 2012 and the circular of the Company
dated 21 December 2012 and are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements.

Continuing Connected Transaction

On 23 February 2011, the Company entered into a sharing of office
agreement with Man Sang Jewellery Company Limited (the “Man
Sang Jewellery”) in relation to the sharing of an office premises
situated at Suite 2205, 22nd Floor, Sun Life Tower, The Gateway, 15
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (“Sharing of Office
Agreement”). The estimated annual caps (the maximum aggregate
value of the transactions contemplated under the Sharing of Office
Agreement) set for each of the four fiscal years ending 31 March
2014 are as follows:

RKEER - THRELERBALERRERAA
(BAREIMBAR)MES  MEEXEMAR
EEEREEZEEEES - REBEBXHAMost Trend
Holdings Limited$§5 #169% - ifl £ F f5% & %
A Most Trend Holdings Limited 2 %% 17 A% 78 49
52.70% %% c MUBE SRR T B ENHE
AT BEmARATREEAL - BltREE
MRAIFE14AE - ZUWRE B A QB /Y E
RS o ZWBAEET EMARAETRREAS
FRTE DA R A S8 ST AR SR AL E ©

BEZBENFBEERATMR20124611 A30
HIEHMAE RA2012412 H21 BRI H AR
ERIHEE - I TSR B SRR I 5236 o

BFERERS

MR2011F2A23H » ARFHRAEKBEERA
A RAEKRE Dl AR AE (A
NEWZR]) NREBEBNREBNELYD
NH & 33815558 BN B K B & B K iE2218 2205
EMRAEYE - HE2014F3831HIEZMT
EHBERE  HARAES G 2 EEEZNMGET
EREEMT ¢

From For the fiscal For the fiscal From

17 March 2011 to year ended year ended 1 April 2013 to

Party A Party B 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 16 March 2014

BE S

B2011E38178 201243A31HIL 2013F3A31HILE H2013F481H

Gl by ] Z201143H31H BBEE MBFEE Z201453A168

HKS HK$ HKS HK$

BT BT BT BT

Man Sang Jewellery The Company 80,000 1,900,000 1,900,000 1,800,000
REKE ZAYNS]
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As at the date of the Sharing of Office Agreement, Man Sang
Jewellery was wholly owned by Man Sang International Limited
(“Man Sang”) which was held as to approximately 19.21% by Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing directly, approximately 8.48% by Mr. Cheng Tai
Po directly and 38.2% by a private company which was owned as
to 60% by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and 40% by Mr. Cheng Tai Po
respectively. Both of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po
are Directors and deemed to be the substantial Shareholders of the
Company. Therefore, Man Sang Jewellery was an associate of Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai Po, connected persons of
the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Sharing of Office Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and were subject to reporting and announcement requirements.
The premises is used as the office of the Company. The Sharing of
Office Agreement was entered in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group and the terms of which were determined after
arm’s length negotiations by reference to the prevailing market rent
for comparable properties and rent charged by the landlord to Man
Sang Jewellery. Details of the transactions were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2011.

The actual rentals and related fees paid by the Company to Man Sang
Jewellery in respect of the Sharing of Office Agreement for the period
from 17 March 2011 to 31 March 2011, FY2011/12 and FY2012/13
were amounted to approximately HK$79,380, HK$1,822,000 and
HK$1,828,000 respectively.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange,
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
conducted an annual review and confirmed to the Board that the
Sharing of Office Agreement has been entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Company; (ii) on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the above tenancy
agreements on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
the findings and conclusions in respect of the Group’s continuing
connected transactions as disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules. The independent auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

As far as the transactions set out in note 41 to the financial statements
under the heading of “Related Party Transactions” are concerned
of the fiscal year under review, the transaction at the amount of
HK$551,000 set out in note 41(a)(ii) was connected transaction
which was exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. The transaction set out in note 41(a)(i) were continuing
connected transaction, details of which are disclosed above. The
transaction set out in note 41(a)(ii) at the amount of HK$174,000
did not constitute connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As far as transactions set out in note 41(d) are
concerned, the remuneration of the Directors as determined pursuant
to the service contracts or letters of appointment entered into
between the Directors and the Group was connected transactions
which were exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed

Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
fiscal year under review.

Bank Borrowings

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2013 are set
out in note 30 to the financial statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers were less
than 3% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate purchases from
the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
42% (FY2011/12: 46%) of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
20% (FY2011/12: 19%) of the Group’s total purchases for fiscal year
ended 31 March 2013.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital has any interests in the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

Principal corporate governance adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
public float of the issued shares of the Company as required under
the Listing Rules.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five fiscal years is set out on page 55 of the annual report.

Management Contract

During the fiscal year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

Subsequent Events

The subsequent events are set out in note 45 to the financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHREA)

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young
who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
at the AGM. A resolution for the reappointment of Messrs. Ernst &
Young as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERRE

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving
high standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate
performance accountability and is committed to doing so. The Board is
also committed to the principles of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the fiscal year ended
31 March 2013, save and except for the following deviation:

Code Provision A.6.7

Under Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive Directors
and other non-executive Directors, as equal Board members, should
attend general meetings of the Company. During the Year, one
executive Director, one non-executive Director and one independent
non-executive Director were unable to attend the last annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2012 as they had other
prior business engagements. Attendance of the Directors at the last
annual general meeting is set out in this report.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2013, the Board comprises eleven Directors,
including three executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and
four independent non-executive Directors. The brief biographical
details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of the Directors and Key Management” on pages 56 to 65 of
this annual report.

During the fiscal year under review, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise, except for the deviation from Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules which requires the Company to appoint
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third of
the Board by 31 December 2012. Following the announcement dated
31 December 2012 in accordance with the Listing Rules to report
on the deviation, the Company appointed Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 March
2013. Since then, the composition of the Board is in accordance with
the Listing Rules and in line with the requirements of the Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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For the fiscal year under review, all existing independent non-
executive Directors have confirmed their independence to the
Company in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that each of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Company to the executive Directors and senior
management within the control and authority framework set by
the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Further details of these committees
are set out in this report.

Relationship between Directors

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing. As at 31
March 2013, Dr. Ma Kai Cheung and Dr. Ma Wai Mo are investors
in China East City in Lianyungang, a property located in Jiangsu
Province in China. Subsequently, Dr. Ma Wai Mo has disposed all the
shares in China East City in April 2013 and resigned the directorship
in May 2018.

Change in Information of Directors

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of the
2011/12 annual report is set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1)
of the Listing Rules:

Directors’ Experience

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Harbour Centre Development
Limited (stock code: 51) with effect from 1 July 2012.

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen is an independent non-executive
director of Jiuzhou Development Company Limited (stock code: 908)
and Frasers Property (China) Limited (stock code: 535) which have
changed their company names to Zhuhai Holdings Investment Group
Limited in January 2013 and Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited in March 2013 respectively. He has also become
an independent non-executive director of SINOPEC Engineering
(Group) Co., Limited (stock code: 2386), the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange on 23 May 2013.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules
as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the fiscal year ended 31 March 2018.
Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its Shares
are required to prohibit from dealing in Shares of the Company during
the black-out period.

Board Meetings

During the fiscal year under review, five board meetings were
convened by the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the
board meetings was as follows:

BTESETESRRZ Z2BEETA

ARBDHFALETRRNAEMIRETR - R
ARBEFETEFXHNRE - ARFER
ERESFLRTEEN  EFNEE201353
AS1B LB EREA—EETIRET RIS
WTIRE - BEKAEEBEREARBHER
ER DR ESRENNREE NSRS
REBEBARABL

Exgga
RERABFER  ARALBHAERESE
g EEREANEEHREALT

Number of
attendance
Directors 2= HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) SRR S A (B 3 /%) 5/5
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer) RIS (7T A8 E) 5/5
Professor Xu Yang HECE/Csd 5/5
Non-Executive Directors FETES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) BSNEET(HELE) 1/5
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff BRRRUEE 3/5
Dr. Ma Wai Mo SEREL 4/5
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BRI E 5/5
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAUFHITES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REEFRE 4/5
Mr. Li Wai Keung TERELE 5/5
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen FrRRAR S 5/5
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel (appointed on 1 March 2013) BRI (R2013%3 /51 H#E(T) 11

The Directors are provided with agenda and relevant information
related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They can
access to the senior management and the company secretary of the
Company at all time and, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract
with the Company while each of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

The Company’s Articles provide rotation and re-election for all
Directors. As provided by the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation. The Articles also provide that any Director appointed by the
Board either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election.
Accordingly, five Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Professor
Xu Yang, Dr. Ma Wai Mo, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Yung Wing Ki
Samuel shall retire and stand for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing and Dr. Ma Kai Cheung are Co-Chairman of
the Company and they provide leadership for the Board and ensure
the proper and effective functioning of the Board in the discharge
of its responsibilities. Mr. Leung Moon Lam, the Chief Executive
Officer, is accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of
the Company’s strategies and the coordination of overall business
operations.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and
the Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which have
been uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and that of
the Company. The board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of
the Group’s financial reporting process, internal controls and review
of the Company’s financial statements. The written terms of reference
are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and the roles and
the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the Board.

During the fiscal year under review, the Audit Committee consists
of Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew,
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel. All the
Audit Committee members are independent non-executive Directors.
During the fiscal year under review, two meetings of Audit Committee
were held to review the FY2011/12 annual results and the FY2012/13
interim results of the Company before submission to the Board.

During FY2012/13, the Audit Committee had reviewed the internal
control system, connected transactions, interim results and annual
results of the Group and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the Audit
Committee meetings was as follows:

BREEY
BEREECRARTRERAEENIHHR
BF - AEERRENAA RN HRE - &
EAMRAEREATAR T RERESEN
ERELE S S OME RBSEE -

REBEFRFER - BERZZEGHFERELL
(XE) REERE - FRPAEERBKEE
WK - BERZEEMERBY BB I
TEEZ REBRVBFEAERITRAER
ZEEEE  URNREXEFEMEHARA
2011/128F BUF JE 3548 ). 2012/1381 B 4F &+ £

R201213BFE - ERZEgLENLE
EHRBEESE - BERS  FHEERSE
FREURAEBRMNO ST RARIED - 2
ZEECEHZNESHEBRLNOT ¢

Number of

attendance

Directors 2= H RS
Mr. Li Wai Keung (chairman) FREBEE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESRSE 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen SRR S 2/2
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel (appointed on 1 March 2013) BKEICE (r2013573 51 A#~ZE(T) 0/0

During the fiscal year under review, a meeting of Independent Board
Committee, which comprises of the independent non-executive
Directors, was held to consider the discloseable and connected
transaction for acquisition of the entire equity capital of Hydoo Harbin.
All the independent non-executive Directors as at the date of the
meeting, namely, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Mr. Li Wai Keung
and Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen, attended the meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations on the Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and other benefits. The remuneration of all Directors
and senior management is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that the level of their
remuneration and compensation are reasonable. The written terms of
reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Li Wai
Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing.

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual
performance as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives
and operating results, taking into account also the comparable
market conditions. The principal elements of the remuneration
package of an executive Director include basic salary, performance
and/or discretional bonus, participation in the Share Option Scheme
and other benefits. Remuneration of non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) includes mainly the director’s
fee which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to the
duties and responsibilities of non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) and the comparable market
conditions.

During the fiscal year under review, two Remuneration Committee
meetings were held to review the structure of the remunerations for
Directors and senior management of the Company and the granting
of share options under the Share Option Scheme to two Directors
and certain employees of the Company. The attendance of the
Directors at the Remuneration Committee meetings was as follows:

FMEES
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RART -

REBMREEN  BRRMATHES S
BB T EEREREIRE T
BREERE BE T A EERETEEY
BRETE - FHERREROETHREER
T

Number of
attendance
Directors =} HERE
Mr. Li Wai Keung (chairman) RSB (EE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REELE 2/2
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing I /NT e 2/2

Annual Report 2012/13 €3 91



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEBRE (&)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view to
appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience
to enhance the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the
Board. In the nomination procedures, the Nomination Committee
makes reference to criteria including reputation of candidates
for integrity, accomplishment and experience, professional and
educational background. The written terms of reference are in line
with the provisions of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Leung
Kwan Yuen Andrew as chairman, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing. For FY2012/183, no physical meeting was convened
by the Nomination Committee but it has reviewed the structure and
composition of the Board and considered the appointment of Director
by way of written resolution.
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Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and
for reviewing its effectiveness. A defined management structure
with specified limits of authority and responsibilities is developed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publications and the
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform regular
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions
to the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal
audit department ensure the internal controls are in place and
function properly as intended. The results of the internal audit and
reviews are reported to the executive Directors and Audit Committee
of the Company. The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system and are satisfied with the adequacy
of the system of internal control of the Group for the fiscal year under
review.

For the annual review on the internal controls, the Audit Committee
considered the internal control report was satisfied as to effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance
controls. The Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the system of
the internal control of the Group during the fiscal year under review.
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Independent Auditors’ Remuneration B A B ET £
The Group’s independent auditors are Messrs. Ernst & Young. For REENB I ZBM AL KGR EBA - B
FY2012/13, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to Z2012/13BEE - A& B [E % B A 5E
the independent auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services 1% S PR iz M IE =A% AR 16 B 15 S B 1~ B B
provided by them were as follows: T :
HK$’000
FHT
Audit and review services EZREERY 3,248
Other services related to senior notes and convertible 75 B8 251748 Jo 295 F1 o #AIE =45 9 E (b AR 75
notes offering 780
Directors’ Responsibility EEEMR
The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and BB BSAN T RARSME LTS I ARE
attention to the affairs of the Company. The Directors are continually RARER  EBESERBESEFHH LETRE
adapted with regulatory developments and business development of BRENMANEBER RS EITRE o
the Group to discharge their responsibilities.
According to the records of the Company, during the fiscal year RIERNARIFLE: - WMEBEMBEEAN &
under review, the Directors participated in the following trainings: EORELTEY -
Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors BEE B E/RR RAEM B
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) BRANE ST A (B ) v
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer) 2R se (775 465) v/
Professor Xu Yang FiEESEs 4
Non-Executive Directors FETES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) SNEET(BEEE) v/
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff BRRRUEE 4
Dr. Ma Wai Mo BEREL 4
Mr. Cheng Tai Po B KR A v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUkHITES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE v
Mr. Li Wai Keung R E v
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen FFRRAR S A v
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel (appointed on 1 March 2013) B 7K A= 554 (34201343 51 A#Z(F) v
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for FY2012/13 which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditors of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditors’ report on pages 97 to 98.

Communication with Shareholders and
Noteholders

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders, noteholders and other investment community is
essential. During the fiscal year, the executive Directors, chief
financial officer and head of investor relations of the Group held
regular briefings, press conferences and analysts meetings of interim
and annual results, attended investor forums and participated in
roadshows and conducted meetings with the institutional investors
and financial analysts in China, Hong Kong and overseas countries
to keep them abreast of the Group’s business and development.
Investors can also communicate with the Company through email at
ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The Shareholders’ meeting provides a useful forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Directors
and chief financial officer of the Group will attend the Shareholders’
meetings to answer the questions raised by the Shareholders.

Shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-twentieth
of the paid up capital of the Company may also request to convene
an extraordinary general meeting according to the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and New Articles of Association and
Section 113 of the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong,
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Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meeting which

BEEN2012F8 A21 BT Z ERRFBFR

was held on 21 August 2012 was as follows: EHEFBERAT
Number of
attendance
Directors 2= H RS
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) SN ST A (B /) 11
Mr. Leung Moon Lam (Chief Executive Officer) R (7T B A8 E) 171
Professor Xu Yang ERIE € 0/1
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) SNEET(BEERE) 071
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff RIS 171
Dr. Ma Wai Mo SEREL 1/1
Mr. Cheng Tai Po SRR 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUKHITES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REEFE 01
Mr. Li Wai Keung TE®EE 11
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Stephen FrRRAR S 11
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel (appointed on 1 March 2013) BRI E (R201353 51 H#E(T) 0/0

Professor Xu Yang, Dr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew were unable to attend the last annual general meeting of the
Company due to other prior business engagements.

Published documents together with the latest corporate
information and news are available on the Company’s website at

www.chinasouthcity.com.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B XA

Elf ERNST & YOUNG
=2 K

To the shareholders of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 212, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

BEEHEZERERARERR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

B ZBE RS ()

Auditors’ responsibility continueq)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

24 June 2013
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CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT

mellER

Year ended 31 March 2013 & £2013F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March
BESHIBLEE

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5E FET FAT
REVENUE WA 5 7,488,061 3,670,767
Cost of sales SHERKR (3,311,366) (1,434,671)
Gross profit ER 4,176,695 2,236,096
Other income and gains L YN E 5 57,971 547,191
Fair value gains on investment properties &% A FENES 5 1,251,445 1,117,696
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HERAX (288,828) (187,334)
Administrative expenses TR (536,899) (350,918)
Other expenses HAtwhAs (54,606) arv
Finance costs & R AN 6 (133,314) (58,873)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAG T 515 5 B & B 18
A jointly-controlled entity —RERIEHIEES 20 1,023 1,497
An associate —KEE AR (351) (317)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bt A 7 4,473,136 3,305,515
Income tax expenses FriSfif > 10 (1,606,468) (1,257,9593)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEERE 2,866,668 2,047,562
Attributable to: TG ¢
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZEPN 11 2,749,864 2,070,708
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 116,804 (23,146)
2,866,668 2,047,562
EARNINGS PER SHARE FEREAREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EREEaEAZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BRER 13
Basic B-YIN

— for profit for the year

— REEFE

HK45.62 centsi&fll  HK34.58 cents& L

Diluted
— for profit for the year

— NEEFHE

HK45.60 centsiE{ll  HK34.51 centsi#flll

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in note

12 to the financial statements.

REZRRR S FH BRI ERRMT12KE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SeEEZEWER

Year ended 31 March 2013 & £2013F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ABLEFE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F&T THET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERE 2,866,668 2,047,562
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit2EKA
Exchange differences on translation of HEGINFETEHY
foreign operations PE & =58 238,418 366,059
Revaluation gain upon transfer from EEMEBRAYESEE
owner-occupied properties to investment KEMERBRTE WS
properties, net of tax 286,456 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REEHEEH
FOR THE YEAR WA 3,391,542 2,413,621
Attributable to: T 5% 75 e
Owners of the parent BARIER A 3,272,114 2,434,132
Non-controlling interests IR RE RS 119,428 (20,511)
3,391,542 2,413,621
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

31 March 31 March
2013 2012
20134 20124
3A31H 3A31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b F&T THET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E YN L] 14 601,146 195,960
Investment properties KREYE 15 19,425,946 13,637,107
Properties under development BERPYFE 16 2,381,710 2,878,003
Prepaid land lease payments AT EAS 17 105,440 7,116
Goodwill [EES 18 - 20,066
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—REREHEEZHEE 20 8,936 2,850
Investment in an associate R—KEE QTR E 21 (2,542) (1,531)
Finance lease receivables AR SR FIE 22 29,561 38,445
Deposits paid for purchase of land use rights & & + (B T HI1R S 23 781,022 376,035
Deferred tax assets FEREFITBE B 32 586,232 267,388
Total non-current assets JEMBNEELRE 23,917,451 17,421,439
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for finance lease FERV A EY 571,403 145,940
Properties held for sale FIEHEY S 24 9,381,178 7,762,555
Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RR 25 936,927 525,630
Prepayments, deposits and BB e &
other receivables H qth pE W zkIE 26 642,581 866,806
Held for trading investments at FBBHEARNTFEYERZ
fair value through profit or loss HEEERE 27 117,643 111,986
Cash and cash equivalents and ReRBeEFEEMR
restricted cash ZREEE 28 6,777,842 3,831,987
Total current assets MEVEERE 18,427,574 13,244,904
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EAMENFRIA 29 8,165,727 6,529,731
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings  +83881T M H (& & 30 4,418,254 2,740,273
Tax payables FERFEIE 2,790,467 1,624,496
Total current liabilities mEEEERE 15,374,448 10,894,500
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 3,053,126 2,350,404
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRE
LIABILITIES aE 26,970,577 19,771,843

Annual Report 2012/13 3% 101



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
e MEIRR R ()

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

31 March 31 March
2013 2012
20134 20124
3H31H 3A31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
MosE FET TET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 88717 R H b (& & 30 4,581,741 2,033,109
Senior notes BERE 31 2,853,402 1,844,984
Amount due to non-controlling interests FEA SEFERR R RS TR IE 41 (c)(ii) - 53,113
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 32 3,492,673 2,845,346
Total non-current liabilities ERBE EARE 10,927,816 6,776,552
Net assets BETAE 16,042,761 12,995,291
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 RIS A B
Issued capital BRI TR 33 60,536 59,876
Reserves e 35(a) 15,187,361 12,429,737
Proposed final dividends BER AR HANE B 12 605,356 449,067
15,853,253 12,938,680
Non-controlling interests FEFE A 189,508 56,611
Total equity FEREEE 16,042,761 12,995,291
CHENG CHUNG HING 5+ 8 LEUNG MOON LAM Z5m#k
Director 5 Director £%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEESmEER

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRTREARE
Capital ~ Statutory Share  Share  Exchange Proposed Non-
lssued redemption  supls  Captal  premium  opfion fuctuation  Retained final controling Total
coptdl  resene  reseve  resene account  reseve  resene  profs  olvidenos Told interests  equty

TR LS Bh  REE  EX i AR
BE BOER BMER MR EER  BE O JEER MR AHRE g #R EaeE
Notes  HKSO00 HKS000 HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKBOOD  HKSOO0 HKSOO0 HKSO00  HKS00D  HK$OOD
We Thr T TEr TR Thn TR TR TR TR TEn TEn TEn

(notel)

(k)
At 1 Apr 2011 R01ELAIE 59876 04 1459 @8181) 3050728 64915 BR027 620002 149689 10540914 7712 10618036
Proftfr the year RERHE - - - - - - - 207008 - 00708 @31 2047502
Other comprehensive income KERRMEE
forthe year: WA
Eichange diferences on BERIZHN

franslafion of foreign operations EiZE - = 5,763 = - - oot - - Jo3du 268 36069

Total comprehensive income REFSER
forthe year WA = = 5,763 - - - Jreet 200,708 - 312 05 2418621
Lapss of share options ERELN = = 8 - - (B - 1500 - - -
Fouiy-setted share option WERESH
anangement Bz U - - - - - - - - -
Disposal of subsidaries HEHERR - - S Nl - Al - 0 0
Final 2011 dividend paid BRNIERERE - - - - - - - - (19689 (149689 - (149689
Proposed final 2012 dhidend RI0ERERE 12 . - - - - - {9067 449067 - -
Transfer from retained profs BRERENE - - 1396 - - = - (3909 - - -
At 31 March 2012 R12E3A3E 59876 PAS) WAL 50078 Ry 1298% T80T 49067 12938680 9661 12996291
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
GLEERBER(E)

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

Attributable to owners of the parent

AN
Captal ~ Statutory Share Share  Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  redemption  surplus  premium option  fluctuation Revaluation  Retained final controling Total
captl  reseve  reseve  account  reseve  resene  resene profits  dividends Totd interests equity
2% A R By ERE EX Rk Fal

BE BOEE ESEE  ERR
Noes  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKS00D
W TR TEn  TEr TR

BRE NEER ENER RENE AERE A @R BaOR
HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKGO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSO0D
TEn TR TRn  TEr  TEr T TEn  TEn

(note )
i5i)]

AT Apri 2012 R012F4H18 50,876 M4 04218 3050723 9025 1,206% - 782671 449067 12938680 56611 12,095,201
Proft for the year KEERIE - - - = = = - 2749864 - 2749864 116804 2,866,668
Other comprehensive income for theyear: ~ AEEEHAEMA -

Revaluation gain upon transfer from EfENEERNZEE

owner-occupied properties to REMF ORI

nvestment properties, net of tax g - - - - - - 286456 - - 286456 - 286456
Exchange diferences on RERIEH

iranslafion of foreign operations EiZE = - - - - 8579 - - - 28579 2604 238418
Totel comprehensie income fortheyear — AFRE2EMA - = = = - 279 286456 0749864 - 814 119428 3301542
Step-acquistion of a subsidiary BSRE-FHBAR - _ - - - - - - = - T3 TR
Establishment of a subsiclary Ru-FHEAR - - - - - - o . = - BN 6,117
Exercise of share cptions fifeiahE U 660 - - BB T = = - - 69300 - 6930
Lapse of share options Bz Y _ _ _ ] _ - R . _ _ .
Equity-settec share option st EHERE

arangement T Rl = = - - 21,176 - - - - 21,176 - 21176
Final 2012 dlidend peid BR01EASRE _ = = = - - - (4050  (40067)  (4B4017) - (#oa0n)
Proposed fna 2013 diidend BR0ERSRE 12 - . B, . - = - (0536 605356 - - -
Transfer from retained profits EROREHE - - 16T - - = - (198677) - - = =
A3 March 2013 RISF3F31E 60536 204 260 314412 66283 1465400° 286456 9821012 605366 15853283 169508 16,042,761

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$15,187,361,000 (31 March 2012: HK$12,429,737,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Group's subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years' losses) to
the statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of the reserve fund
reaches 50% of the entity's registered capital, any further appropriation
is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset
prior years' losses or to increase capital. However, the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of
registered capital after such usages.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2013 & £2013F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3BLEE

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
i FET FBT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax RIS 4,473,136 3,305,515
Adjustments for: T
Finance costs [ELE= NN 6 133,314 58,873
Share of profits and losses of FEAE —RERIZEHIERE R
a jointly-controlled entity and an —REFE N RFE R
associate fE18 (672) (1,180)
Bank interest income HRITHEUA 5 (28,531) (8,770)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment RIEIEE BB 7 955 32
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERT B AUk 5 - (545,720)
Depreciation e 7 27,126 23,175
Amortisation of prepaid land lease T -t AR S 8E
payments 7 190 187
Changes in fair value of investment KEMENTEED
properties 5 (1,251,445) (1,117,696)
Provision for impairment of trade FEUNE 5 BR FOR B
receivables 7 34,540 =
Provision for impairment of goodwill PR E B 7 20,066 -
Write-back of impairment of R—RERIEHEEH
investment in a jointly-controlled entity A R E R 7 - 477)
Gain on repurchase of 2011 Notes fEE2011 BB W= 5 - (14,018)
Dividend income from held for trading FEiREmARN AR
investments at fair value through profit HIEEEHREMNRE
or loss WA (857) (819)
(Gains)/losses on held for trading i b= b /N =L |- v
investments at fair value through BEEERE (W),
profit or loss, net agi= bt 5 (5,657) 41,079
Equity-settled share option expense AR A E R BB AR X 7 27,176 42314
3,429,341 1,782,495
Increase in properties held for sale BEHE LM (1,214,299) (8,379,785)
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for BIEREREmEGEM)
finance lease Ve (423,451) 21,766
Decrease in finance lease receivables LA E U R > 9,414 10,127
Increase in trade receivables FEUR & 5 BR 5K N (438,589) (113,661)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TENFIE « e REAM
deposits and other receivables FEMERIE R A (3 ) 153,144 (388,946)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash RERHERE S () 10,277 (473,149)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N b FE A FRIEHE hI 825,823 3,636,667
Cash generated from operations KEFTSHIRE 2,351,660 1,095,514
Overseas taxes paid BEEINRIE (237,552) (159,794)
Net cash flows from operating activities KETREIR S MAEEE 2,114,108 935,720
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GERTRER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2013 & £2013F3HA31H IFFE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3BLEE

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FET THET
Net cash flows from operating activities LRI MAFRE 2,114,108 935,720
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEX
plant and equipment RiEIEHE (51,565) (11,273)
Dividends received from held for trading EiEEmAAFETER
investments at fair value through ZHREEERE
profit or loss BURAR B 857 819
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BEMRIEEE
property, plant and equipment FTiS 508 9,963 332
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U B PR AR i 2 - (30,156)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—KKI B AR 36 (575,781) -
Proceeds received from disposal HEWBARIETEIA
of subsidiaries 312,475 286,264
Net advances (to)/from a HEESEE (), e
jointly-controlled entity HIFER (5,024) 10,674
Additions to properties under development #EEFYIERE (3,031,308) (2,315,650)
Interest received B UF 28,531 8,770
Net cash flows used in investing activities 1% &E8)IR & HIE5E (3,311,852) (2,050,220)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Issue of 2012 Notes ZE1T2012Z % 31 927,527 =
Payment for repurchase of 2011 Notes FBEI2011 =R 31 - (54,069)
Payment for interest on senior notes BAEEERF SR 31 (258,773) (262,164)
Capital contribution from non-controlling FEFENRAE R HE
shareholders 13,469 -
New bank and other borrowings HERITREMER 7,402,892 2,171,514
Repayment of bank and other borrowings — {&i&R17 & Hib &= (3,291,344) (1,588,163)
Exercise of share options TR 69,300 -
Dividends paid DR S (454,017) (149,689)
Interest paid BEAFLE (817,860) (259,403)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEER LSRN CRE)
financing activities JRER 4,096,194 (141,974)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERBLEEYEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R ) 388 2,898,450 (1,256,474)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURIEERIREEEY
beginning of year 28 3,315,657 4,521,310
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ 2R & 8 52 2% 58 50,607 50,821
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERNEERESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 6,264,714 3,315,657
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REeERBESEEYERDIM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents Be MNREEEY 28 6,264,714 3,315,657
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STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

B EEIR R AR

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

31 March 31 March
2013 2012
20135 20124
3H31H 3A31H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MisE FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 1,265 1,783
Investments in subsidiaries REBARIMIEE 19 2,735,275 2,953,675
Total non-current assets R EELEE 2,736,540 2,955,458
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUBT B A Tl FRIE 19 2,869,404 2,250,736
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - e &
other receivables H b fE U ZRIE 7,586 529
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEY 28 1,264,811 477,387
Total current assets MBS EAEEE 4,141,801 2,728,652
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAaE
Due to subsidiaries FERT B A BRI 19 35,924 899
Other payables, accruals and HAabfEFRIE - EETEE &
deposits received BlES 72,534 35,453
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 108,458 36,352
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,033,343 2,692,300
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERRBARS
LIABILITIES 6,769,883 5,647,758
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Senior notes BEREER 31 2,853,402 1,844,984
Net assets BEFE 3,916,481 3,802,774
EQUITY S
Issued capital BETIRA 33 60,536 59,876
Reserves E= 35(b) 3,250,589 3,293,831
Proposed final dividends FER AR AR B 12 605,356 449,067
Total equity TS HAER 3,916,481 3,802,774

CHENG CHUNG HING #842 H# LEUNG MOON LAM Z2im#k
Director &5 Director £
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MR HRR M

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

1.

2.1

Corporate Information

China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Room 2205, 22/F, Sun Life
Tower, The Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in developing
and operating the large-scale integrated logistics and trade
centers, developing supporting residential and commercial
facilities, property management and operation of hotels.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and held for trading
investments at fair value through profit or loss, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2013.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in
full.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation continueq)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and

Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
Amendments of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Severe Hyperinflation and

Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time

Adopters
HKFRS 7 Amendment to HKFRS 7 Financial
Amendments Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets
HKAS 12 Amendment to HKAS 12 Income Taxes —
Amendments Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and

Disclosures (continued)
The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred
tax for investment property measured at fair value and introduce
a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment
property measured at fair value should be determined on the
basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale.
Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the requirement
previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21 Income Taxes — Recovery of
Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation model in
HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. The
presumption that deferred tax on investment property measured
at fair value should be determined on the basis that its carrying
amount will be recovered through sale has been rebutted by the
Group as the Group’s investment properties are held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Consequently, the Group
has continued to recognise the deferred taxes on the basis that
the value of investment properties is recovered through use and
the adoption of the amendment does not have any impact on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Amendments Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans?
HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Amendments Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities?
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements?
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements?
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?
HKFRS 10, Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 11 HKFRS 12 — Transition Guidance?

and HKFRS 12

Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and

12 and HKAS HKAS 27 (2011) — Investment Entities®
27 (2011)
Amendments
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement?
HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Amendments Financial Statements — Presentation of

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

Items of Other Comprehensive Income!
Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements?

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

HKAS 32 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial

Amendments Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting

HK(FRIC)-Int 20

Annual
Improvements

2009-2011 Cycle

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities®
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of
a Surface Minge?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in June 20122
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose
information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide
users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply
to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with HKAS
32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April
2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared
with the requirements of HKAS 39.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)
In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”).
For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value
of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must
be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The
remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss,
unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts which have been designated under
the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues
to apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April
2015. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with other
phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities.
It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by
HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12
Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces
the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in
HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary analyses performed,
HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently
held investments of the Group.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)
HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms
of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures using
proportionate consolidation. Based on the preliminary analyses
performed, HKFRS 11 is not expected to have any impact on
the currently held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities previously
included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new
disclosure requirements for these entities.

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the transition guidance
in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective
application of these standards, limiting the requirement to
provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding
comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective
adjustments are only required if the consolidation conclusion as
to which entities are controlled by the Group is different between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning
of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first
time. Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated
structured entities, the amendments will remove the requirement
to present comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12
is first applied.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)
The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide an
exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet
the definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are
required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or
loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate them.
Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out
the disclosure requirements for investment entities. The Group
expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the
Group as the Company is not an investment entity as defined in
HKFRS 10.

Conseguential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011), and the
subsequent amendments to these standards issued in July and
December 2012 from 1 April 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied
where its use is already required or permitted under other
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively
from 1 April 2013. Based on preliminary analysis performed,
HKFRS 13 is not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Q3B EMERKERNE B

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)
The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net gain on
hedge of a net investment, exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and
net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) would be
presented separately from items which will never be reclassified
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
and revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments will
affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial
position or performance. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing
of recognition for termination benefits, the classification of short-
term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the
application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on
1 April 2014.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continueq)
The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued
in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2013.
There are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments may result in
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments are
expected to have a significant financial impact on the Group.
Those amendments that are expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s policies are as follows:

(@)

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required comparative
information. Generally, the minimum required comparative
period is the previous period. An entity must include
comparative information in the related notes to the financial
statements when it voluntarily provides comparative
information beyond the previous period. The additional
comparative information does not need to contain a
complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of
the preceding period must be presented when an entity
changes its accounting policies; makes retrospective
restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change
has a material effect on the statement of financial position.
However, the related notes to the opening statement of
financial position as at the beginning of the preceding
period are not required to be presented.

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies that
income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders
are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes. The amendment removes existing income tax
requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply
the requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising
from distributions to equity holders.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued
share capital or controls the composition of its board of
directors; or over which the Company has a contractual right
to exercise a dominant influence with respect to that entity’s
financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which
the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration
of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be
realised upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the joint
venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets are
shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective
capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@ a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly, controls
more than half of its voting power or issued share capital or
controls the composition of its board of directors; or over
which the Company has a contractual right to exercise
a dominant influence with respect to the joint venture’s
financial and operating policies;

(o) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly,
over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is
in a position to exercise significant influence over the joint
venture; or
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Joint ventures (Continued)

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither
joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant
influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-
controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
jointly-controlled entities is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the
profit sharing ratio is different to the Group’s equity interest, the
share of post-acquisition results of the jointly-controlled entities is
determined based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of jointly-controlled entities is included as part of the Group’s
investments in jointly-controlled entities.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates and is not individually tested for
impairment.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Business combinations and goodwill Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured
in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units
or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill Continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
operation. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the disposed operation
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, investment properties and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the income statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting 24 EXEHBEME 4«
Policies (continued)

Related parties BEAL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: BAATETIEATHEAEAERR
e
(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s @ BALTB—BALTHZALZER
family and that person: MmazATL :

()  has control or joint control over the Group; () =B ERESAEE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEEEALES %

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of the (i) AAEBEHIAEEFRGHE
Group or of a parent of the Group; FR—RFEEEERKE

or B2
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) ZATRFFE TIER—BEEZE
applies: 5 -

() the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZERBEASEBR -—SEZ
group; IPA=UNCIlE

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) ZEBARS XREBZEEAQ
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of ANEEtE(HE—REEZ
the other entity); ISTNCTIN I =PNCTE AR =

NCIDIE

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBHASEHRBER-—F=
same third party; FZEERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy ZERAFE-_FERBZAEDL
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ ME—XREBARZE=

HERNEE AR

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) ZEERAMRAEENEREEH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity EHE BRI RERE ZHMz:Em
related to the Group; BB EEFIETE

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person Vi) ZEBEX(E@IEM E%%E'JZ/\i#
identified in (a); and i s R F2E )

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) R()()BFTERZ AT HZERE
over the entity or is a member of the key management ﬁij{ ﬁ“jj NEBZE %(&EZ
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). BEJEAR)ZEEEEEK

,EZ* g

Annual Report 2012/13 &3 123



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B RS R AR B AE ()

31 March 2013 201343 H31H

24 EREFTBEREME @)

24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3%

Hotel properties 4.5% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% to 18%
Motor vehicles 9% to 18%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement in
the year of the retirement or disposal.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Investment properties (Continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from properties
under development to investment properties, any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs,
construction costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other
cost directly attributed to such properties during the period of
construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-
current assets and transferred to current assets under the
category of properties held for sale when the construction of
the relevant properties commences and the construction period
of the relevant property development project is expected to
complete within normal operating cycle.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

126 China South City Holdings Limited #E mg i 5 I& 5 fR A &)

BREWE 2

EAREEBEEGNERYEEEAIREY
2 AEESBEVE  BEMZER
B INRELZEMEAE  BERE
FA%A - WHEYEERPMERHER
AFEZ M EERE R Y « BE
TSR R E | B s R (5 0E o
REBHRPYLERREYENE - P
TE 2% B DT S S AR 2 P =
BRI E TR -

BRPYE
ERFYERRAERTERFEMREN
RIEEDE - RASELIRA - HEH
X BERAREMN LIRS N
FEASEVELEER K «

HIERBERTYEDBRIERBEE - A
REBEYENERFEREERRERZ
BRI TIHNRER 2 ERANEEERR
BETOREHEDE

HE
REEMGE(BREEXEIN BRI
Bl M EREE T AKE - 95 SHEH
§ -RREESENE HEBEZKAE
BRERNHEE 2REENME - WERA
FETERMNEBMARK - ARBREA R
BEBR - RBEENMEBEBRORAZE
E(BEEmEHEOR N 2 BN LB EN
) B AME - BELRE - XREH
HEEZ A EAFHOAREE HE)
AITE - BAHEEZ BEKRA RN zmR
B - DAEREEIAIR B E L R kR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B RS R AR B L ()

31 March 2013 201343H31H

2.4 ERFFTHERBE @)

24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Leases (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased
by the Group under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)
Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value presented as other income and gains. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent
to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to
sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation
does not affect any financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss using the fair value option at designation, as
these instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income
statement in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group
of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the income statement.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings. The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
senior notes, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and senior notes are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Loans and borrowings (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the
fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of another
instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash
flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale includes completed properties held
for sale and properties under development expected to be
completed within normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale
and held for finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes land cost, all development
expenditure, applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs
attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the prevailing market prices, on an individual
property basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are
not restricted as to use.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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Policies (continueq)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government Grant

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and released to the income statement by way of a
reduced depreciation charge or over the benefits received by the
Group related to such assets.
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Policies (continueq)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from the sale of completed properties, when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the properties
sold;

(o) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(c) finance lease income, when the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the properties have
been transferred to the lessee;

(d) property management service and other fee income, when
the services have been rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset; and

() revenue from hotel operation and the provision of related
services, when the services have been rendered.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate
pricing model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions
at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of
its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their respective payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measures at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation differences on item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entities and associates are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.
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24 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continueq)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of these properties which are leased out on
operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Transfer from properties under development to investment
properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred
based on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances,
which include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that
reflects the future rental income generated by the property; (b)
the resources to hold and manage an investment property; (c)
legal permissibility for the change in use; (d) the commencement
of development if the property requires further development
for the change in use. Any excess of fair value over the original
carrying amount of such properties at the date of transfer was
recognised as current year profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2013 was nil (2012:
HK$20,066,000). Further details are given in note 18.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), independent professionally qualified valuers, to
perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at the
end of the reporting period. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 March 2013 was HK$19,425,946,000 (2012:
HK$13,637,107,000).

Impairment allowances for trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates the impairment allowances for trade
receivables and other receivables by assessing the recoverability
based on credit history and prevailing market conditions. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. Allowances are
applied to trade receivables and other receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amounts of
trade receivables and other receivables and thus the impairment
loss in the period in which such estimate is changed. The Group
reassesses the impairment allowances at the end of each
reporting period. At 31 March 2013, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables and other receivables were HK$1,518,461,000
(2012: HK$1,354,331,000).
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2013 was nil (2012:
HK$17,091,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31
March 2013 was HK$398,726,000 (2012: HK$225,604,000),
Further details are contained in note 32 to the financial
statements.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has five
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the property development segment engages in the
development of integrated logistics and trade centers and
supporting facilities;

(b) the property investment segment invests in integrated
logistics and trade centers and supporting facilities;

(c) the property management segment engages in the
management of the Group’s developed properties;

(d) the hotel operation segment engages in the provision of
hotel services; and

(e) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the provision
of advertising, exhibition, logistics, outlet center operation
and other services.
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Operating Segment Information (continuedq)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The
adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income, finance
costs, fair value gains from the Group’s financial instruments as
well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, tax payables and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority
of the assets and operation of the Group are located in
PRC, which is considered as one geographical location in an
economic environment with similar risk and returns.

There was no single customer to the revenue derived from which
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the
year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).
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4. Operating Segment Information (continueq) REFTWBER =)

Property Property Property Hotel
Year ended 31 March 2013 development investment  management operation Others Total
HE2013F3A3NALER WERR NERE NEER EEEE 2 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue: AMBA
Sales to external customers WEEHE 7,178,712 213,995 43589 13,291 38,474 7,488,061
Intersegment sales PHREE - 10572 18,989 20,323 - 49,884
7,178,112 224,567 62,578 33,614 38,474 7,537,945
Elmination of interseqment sales AHFHEH S (49,884)
Revenue WA 7,488,061
Segment results before increase in fai REMEATEEMA
value of investment properties DirEE 4,101,875 210,454 (23,085) (10,968) 21,017 4,299,293
Increase i fair value of investment properties ?xﬁ%% AFEED - 1,251,445 - - - 1,251,445
Segment resuls after increase i fair REM=ATEEME
value of investment properties NEEE 4,101,875 1,461,899 (23,085) (10,968) 2,017 5,550,738
Unallocated cost of sales AOMHENE (122,598)
Interest income FEMA 31,031
Unallocated income and gains A RNA R 26,940
Unallocated expenses AOBFR (880,333
Finance costs RERE (133,314)
Share of profit of a jointly-controlled entity ~ FEf— % HEEHEERNE 1,023
Share of loss of an associate Bl FuANTER (351)
Proft before tax TR 4,473,136
Segment assets AHEE 13322482 20,730471 1,47 - 64,307 34118507
Reconciliation: ;%’?
Investment in a jointly-controlled entitly %/\W’:%]?%E@Tri;ﬁ 8,936
Investment in an assoclate EQ NG (2,542
Unallocated assets A5 Eﬂﬁﬁ 8,220,034
Total assets EElE 42,345,025
Segment liabilities AHEE 5,686,156 4,532,888 35,402 - 3956 10267072
Reconcilation; b
Unallocated liabilties AORAR 16,014,292
Total liabilties L 26,302,264
Other segment information: HrAHER
Depreciation bk - - 641 2,918 5,192 8,751
Corporate and other unallocated amounts AR REMFARSE 18,375
27,126
Increase in fair value of investment properties  REAMEAFEEM - 1,251,445 - - - 1,251,445
Provision for impairment of goodwil HERERE - - - 20,086 - 20,066
Capital expenditure* BRREY 8,480,793 608,118 61 233 29,089 9,118,294
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4. Operating Segment Information coninueq) 4. EE D EE K =)
Property Property Property Hotel
Yearended 31 March 2012 development investment  management operation Others Tota
HE01263R81 BIHERE NEERE SN S BESE Hh 5t
HGO0  HKSD0 RSO0 HKSO0  HKSO  HKSOD
ThL ThL Thr Thr Thr Thr
Segment revenue: PRUA
Sales to external customers WNIEPHE 3,431,323 166,393 41500 26,946 4,605 3,670,767
Intersegment seles ARRHE - - 7,586 37,469 - 45,056
3,431,328 166,393 49,086 64,415 4,606 3,716,822
Elmination of interseqment sales AR EHH (45,055)
Revenue WA 3,670,767
Seqment results before increase in fai RENEATEEMA
value of investment properties NHzE 2,165,806 163,462 (26,179) (356) 2,498 2,305,287
Increase in fair value of investment properties & ¥1% A FEEM - 1,117,696 - - - 1,117,696
Segment results after increase i fair REM=ATEEME
value of investment properties PR 2,165,806 1,281,158 (26,173) (356) 2498 3422933
Unallocated cost of sales APHENK (69,141)
Interest income MEMA 11,985
Unallocated income and gains APBRM Rl 535,206
Unallocated expenses L (637,779)
Finance costs BERA (58,873
Share of proft of ajointly-controled ety JEli—F LB IEABER|E 1497
Share of losses of associates il NGt (317)
Proft before tax I 3305515
Segment assets PEE 8,728,396 16,519,202 1,886 64,021 7,097 26,320,602
Reconcilition: i
Investments in jointly-controlled entities REREGEENEE 280
Investments in associates NN (1,531)
Unallocated assets AOEE 5,344,422
Total assets EEBE 30,666,343
Segment liabilities ARaE 5,430,907 3,551,468 6,793 2,142 1124 8,992,434
Reconciliation: %
Unalocated liabittes AORER 8,678,618
Total liabilties AERE 17,671,062
Other segment information: A RER :
Depreciation Vil 294 - 653 3814 204 4,985
Corporate and other unallocated amounts AR REMKARSE 18210
23,175
Increass in fair value of ivestment properties &%) AT(EE N - 1,117,696 - - - 1,117,69
Capital expenditure* ERER 7,127,810 2,180,737 179 160 8,990 9,317,876

*

* BAAXEREnE  BEKRE  BRD
METILENERE -

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant
and equipment, properties under development and investment
properties.
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31 March 2013 201343 H31H

WA ~ B A R W
WA(TRAIAREERERE) © FEMRER
MERTYREEFE  BMEHEEWA -
HEWA - BERA KR 1) % E 12 RS
WA R E 8 AU CFNER & R ©

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5.
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net sales of completed properties, finance lease income, rental
income, hotel income and income from the provision of property
management services and other fee income, net of business tax.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: WA~ HMA RS S HTAT

For the year ended 31 March

HZE3ASIHLEEE
2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BisE FET T
Revenue WA
Sale of properties YIESHE 6,899,068 3,010,808
Finance lease income mEREWA 279,644 420,515
Rental income A 213,995 166,393
Hotel income B S WA 13,291 26,946
Property management service income ¥ B IR ARFGULA 43,589 41,500
Other fee income EfERKA 38,474 4,605
7,488,061 3,670,767
Other income Hib A
Interest income from: ®E TNHZHEOFBUA -
Banks SR1T 28,531 8,770
Finance lease receivables B E T E R WGRIE 2,500 3,215
Others Hith 21,283 10,184
52,314 22,169
Gains =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMT B A F e - 545,720
Gains/(losses) on held for trading HiBIER A AT ESER 2
investments at fair value through BEEBE AW
profit or loss, net (1) - F8 5,657 (41,079
Gain on repurchase of 2011 Notes fEE2011 EE M — 14,018
Others Hi - 6,363
5,657 525,022
57,971 547,191
Fair value gains on investment REWMENFE
properties & 15 1,251,445 1,117,696
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6. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

6. EiE KA

BERAZAMIAT

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3H31BLEE

Interest on bank and other borrowings
Wholly repayable within five years
Wholly repayable beyond five years

Interest on senior notes (note 31)

Less: Interest capitalised

Total

2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

BITREMEEFE
BRAFAZEHER 339,112 236,729
ANAFREHES 45,366 30,818
BAEEER B (FIFE31) 334,664 275,152
o BARERLE (585,828) (483,826)
BT 133,314 58,873
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7. Profit Before Tax

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BiAlR

AEBOBAFEE NG, (GEA) TFI%

(crediting): 17 :
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3H31BLEE
2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FET FHIT
Cost of properties sold EEMEKA 2,931,128 1,044,147
Cost of properties held for finance lease gl & & Y15 A AN 145,709 221,370
Depreciation e 14 28,944 23,705
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect 3 : Bt 2<E R W13
of properties under development BER(bITE (1,818) (530)
27,126 23,175
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEA i H A B 5
payments 17 190 187
Minimum lease payments under THIREFR
operating leases in respect of land AEKETHETH
and buildings and vehicles K& 12,129 10,305
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR 5 B 4,028 2,880
Employee benefit expense (including EERANAXZ(BIEES
directors’ remuneration): ) -
Wages and salaries* TERHTS" 318,695 206,876
Equity-settled share option expense DESEERNERERS 27,176 42,314
Pension scheme contributions BIRESEEIRR 19,236 13,626
365,107 262,816
Foreign exchange differences, net HNFE ZE K8 H R 695 (18,385)
Provision for impairment of goodwill** BRI R 18 20,066 =
Write-back of impairment of investment A —ZR 2 FE 5 H| T 52
in a jointly-controlled entity** AR AR B> — (477)
Provision for impairment of trade FEUE 5 BRK
receivables** BB 25 34,540 —
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE BE&
plant and equipment RETEE BB 955 32

* Included amounts of HK$53,831,000 and HK$34,138,000 for the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively, which were
capitalised under properties under development.

ok

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.
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31 March 2013 201343 H31H

8. EEF%
1B TR AR B 2 A EHIE 1616 -
RAEEHEFHMREELT -

8. Directors’ Emoluments
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANBLEE

Group

REE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET T
Fees we 3,725 3,948

Other emoluments: Hibfhe
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e R REDEN 13,200 13,200
Performance-related bonuses* AR IR AR FEAT 37,026 18,989
Equity-settled share option expense DA A H AR R 14,504 3,468
Pension scheme contributions RIRSET B 30 24
68,485 39,629
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus o RARETHITESAREWEUZANEE KR

payments which are determined as a percentage of the Group’s TN GEE I e & B AT R AT R B JE &
consolidated net profit after taxation and non-controlling interests BUIEBRAESFMNEE D ELETENE
but before non-operating items of the financial year. FAN

During the year, two directors were granted share options, in
respect of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out
in note 34 to the financial statements. The fair value of those
options which has been recognised in the income statement
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

P MAEERAAEBELS R
BB D AR RE BRI - H
— SRR RRM S - REHE
B A T (B R BB BRI 25 R )
TR AR - MRS R B3R
EMSTEE RN L X RSN REE
B o
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8. Directors’ Emoluments (continued) 8. EEFEw
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) BAKHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANFEBIIERTESHES N
during the year were as follows: T @

For the year ended 31 March
BZ3H31ALFEE

Group
AEEH
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Shi Wan Peng (note i) GBS (M) - 256
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew BEE 300 300
Li Wai Keung R 300 300
Hui Chui Chung Stephen TR 300 292
Yung Wing Ki Samuel (note ii) R (EE) 25 -
925 1,148
There were no other emoluments payable to the FN - BEEMENEIENTES
independent non-executive directors during the year (2012: ¥4 (20124 : ) -
Nil).
Notes: BfsE -
()  Resigned on 8 February 2012 ) R2012%2 A8HE(T
(i) Appointed on 1 March 2013 (i) M20183FE3A1HZEE
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8. Directors’ Emoluments continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive

8. EEFHEw
(b) BIITEERFHITESE

directors
Salaries, Equity-
allowances, Performance- settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
Fe 2R ERREES  EREEN  BAeSHE
ik ENER Wi BRERX % it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR 7 7 TR TR
2013 20136
Executive directors: HES:
Cheng Chung Hing LA - 5,800 18,326 - 15 24,14
Leung Moon Lam ZiEtk - 5,800 18,326 11,756 15 35,807
Xu Yang HEo - 1,600 374 2,748 - 4,722
- 13,200 37,026 14,504 30 64,760
Non-executive directors: FRTES :
Ma Kai Cheung ENE 1,000 - - - - 1,000
Sun Kai Lt Cliff et 600 - - - - 600
Ma Wai Mo SER 600 - - - - 600
Cheng Tai Po iy 600 - - - - 600
2,800 - - - - 2,800
2,800 13,200 37,026 14,504 30 67,560
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8. Directors’ Emoluments continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive
directors (Continued)

8. EEFHEw
(b) BITEERIHITEZ )

Salaries,
allowances,
and benefits

Fees in kind
e 2R

ik ENiEl
HK$'000 HK$'000

Equity-
Performance-  settled share Pension
related option scheme
bonuses expense  contributions Total
BRAES  EREEN  RAeHE
WL BRERR 3% @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T THT T T
2012 20124
Executive directors: HITES:
Cheng Chung Hing LN - 5,800 9,322 - 12 15,134
Leung Moon Lam M - 5,800 9,322 - 12 15,134
Xu Yang e - 1,600 345 3,468 = 5413
- 13,200 18,989 3,468 24 35,681
Non-executive directors: FRTES :
Ma Kai Cheung ENE 1,000 - - - - 1,000
Sun Kai Lit Cliff BRIz 600 - - - - 600
Ma Wai Mo SRR 600 - - - - 600
Cheng Tai Po LN 600 - - - - 600
2,800 - - - = 2,800
2,800 13,200 18,989 3,468 24 38,481

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2012:
Nil).
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9. Five Highest Paid Employees
The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2012: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
two (2012: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the
year are as follows:

9. AlVEREEH AL
FR ANREFEEDFBE=-2FE
(2012%F : =%) » EM& B & XX HisE
8 EBAMAZIEFEE(2012F : MB) © &F
NRESHFESFSHFBOT

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ANHLFE

Group
AEH
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYET 6,520 6,024
Bonuses TEAT 7,360 =
Equity-settled share option expense DA A E IR R X 7,527 14,400
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B 29 24
21,436 20,448
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose NEATHERIEEE R HEE AW
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: N

Number of employees

EEAZ

2013 2012

HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,000,001/ 75 25,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 5,000,001/ 7T 28,000,000/ 75 - -
HK$8,000,001 to HK$10,000,000 8,000,001 T2 10,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$10,000,001 or above 10,000,001 7T3k A 1 1
2 2

During the year, share options were granted to non-director, FN - FEFSESTEERERNREER

highest paid employees in respect of their service to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosure in note
34 to the financial statements. The fair value of those options,
which has been recognised in the income statement over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director, highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

$t 2 RIS TR ERAE - B — S HIER
REA RN 534  ZEMERATE
(BB RIS = RE3R) TR B B
BT - MERAFERBRENLED
IR X EERBHEEM S RS
&H -
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10. Income Tax

10.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2012: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits
tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2012: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group
operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are
subject to corporate income tax (“CIT”) of a statutory rate of
25% (2012: 25%) on their respective taxable income during the
year.

The PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”) is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.
Amounts of LAT of HK$638,935,000 and HK$403,171,000 were
charged to the consolidated income statement for the years
ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The major components of income tax expenses for the year are
as follows:

8%
FRN - REBEENGFTERRBUEF TR
16.5% (20124F : 16.5% ) KT KETIE © &F
A BARASERERE B ENERE
FE - B EGHRE A RSB E (2012
Ffm) o

o B A M AR B R B Tk S B
B (BHRTREEE -

BIBEABEEEE  FR - PEEEAQ
RIZAFL S B BB AR A E B E25%
(20126F : 25%) BN TE ZEFTSHL ©

T E (BRI EEEMBREREE
T E RS EERARATEME
BREASXERNNAIRAYIESSE) A
1 30% Z 60% T~ 5 #) R 3 B % 40 40 B
TR (E R o A £0638,935,0007% T &
403,171,000/8 T My £ 3E EF - 25 5l
EHE2013%F &201243 A31 H ILEEH)
RAERER AR -

FR - AEHREAXERIIWT

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3H31BLEE

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Group: AEH : FET TFHET

Current — Mainland China BNEA — R B K p 772,557 569,597

LAT in Mainland China FR B K e + it SR (E F 638,935 403,171
Deferred Mainland China corporate income tax — iEfE A B A BE DS FT1EH

(note 32) (M47E32) 194,976 285,185

Total tax charged for the year FEFIAS H AR 1,606,468 1,257,953
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10. Income Tax (continueq)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group’s effective
income tax rate is as follows:

10. Frf88 (e

R ER R E @ AR AT A 8 B 18 5
S EEAEEAFEERHRTENTHE
S HEERAT ¢

For the year ended 31 March
BZ3H31ALFEE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Profit before tax BRI 4,473,136 3,305,515
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1#216.5% A E B R EFIIE 738,067 545,410
Higher tax rates enacted by local authorities b 77 1 A ) TE HOER = A R 385,902 317,329
Income not subject to tax BREHA (166,259) (472)
Expenses not deductible for tax E 1553 39,135 9,546
Tax losses utilised from previous years FAHBAFENTRIEESE (5,709) (19,745)
Profit attributable to a jointly-controlled entity —RXHFEEHEER
and an associate —KEEE R R LTS (178) (421)
Tax losses not recognised RERHTIBEE 31,965 11,052
LAT T I (E T 638,935 403,171
Tax effect of LAT THIEERAR B E (159,734) (100,793)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BAEFERIARE
previous years (54,512) -
Effect of change in tax rate TR E - (713)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable AL [E K BB E A BAY
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries Ao A EmE ERIT A
A 158,856 93,589
Tax charged at the Group’s effective rate BRASEEERNETER
| 1,606,468 1,257,953

The share of tax attributable to an associate and a jointly-
controlled entity amounting to Nil (2012: Nil) and HK$105,000
(2012: HK$79,000) respectively, is included in “Share of profits
and losses of a jointly-controlled entity and an associate” in the
consolidated income statement.

—REE DR R —RERIEG F B EGT
H 5 Bl A% (20124 : #) 105,000/ 70
(20124 : 79,000/ 7T)  Wat Afra Was
RO[EH—REREGEE R — RS
ARFEREEIA -
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11. Profit Attributable to Owners of the

Parent

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the year ended 31 March 2013 includes a loss of
HK$115,927,000 (loss for the year ended 31 March 2012:
HK$62,478,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (note 35(b)).

12. Dividends

1. B ARIHE AEERE

HZE2013F3 A3 HILEFE - B RAREAE
AEIHEAFBEEE RARRMERE
I BR #9518 115,927,00078 7T (& 22012
F3H318 I-FEE51862,478,0007% 7T )
(H43E35(0)) °

12- Hﬁ/%\

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3H31BLEE

2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FiBT
Proposed final dividends — HK10.0 cents B AR E - GRE Bk
per ordinary share (2012: HK7.5 cents) 10.0781L (20124 : 7.55%41l) 605,356 449,067

The proposed final dividends are subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
6,027,344,822 (2012: 5,987,564,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.
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13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

13.BENRE A EERES
BFEAZBREN @

(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are FRERANESBFNAEER
based on:
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3ASBLLEE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THT
Earnings EF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders ARt EERELRRF 2
of the parent, used in the basic earnings BRREEREREE A
per share calculation JE(R A 2,749,864 2,070,708
Number of shares
B
2013 2012
Shares & 15
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ARt ESREREFZ
in issue during the year used in the basic FREFITLBARD
earnings per share calculation N5 £8 6,027,344,822  5,987,564,000
Effect of dilution — weighted average number SR A — IR IR
of ordinary shares: g
Share options i 3,088,244 13,482,984
6,030,433,066 6,001,046,984
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BERZE
Group rEE
Furniture,
fixtures
Hotel and Motor
Buildings  properties  equipment vehicles Total
B
BT BENE  RERRB RE @t
31 March 2013 2013F3A31H HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TiER TiER TiER TiER TiER

At 1 April 2012; 120124 1R :

Cost A 172,585 126,801 64,553 31,119 395,058

Accumulated depreciation Zithe (66,291) (74,795) (44,330) (13682 (199,098)

Net carrying amount ERFE 106,294 52,006 20,223 17,437 195,960
At 1 April 2012, net of accumulated H2012F4A1E » Bk

depreciation ZirihE 106,294 52,006 20,223 17,437 195,960
Additions NE 7,646 62 25,127 18,730 51,565
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36) WieE—FHB AR (zE36) - - 407 6,640 7,047
Transfer from properties under ERERENNE

development (note 16) (HizE16) 432,508 - - - 432,508
Revaluation gain upon transfer to investment  EEZE R A%k 7

properties Eftlis - 381,941 - - 381,941
Transfer to investment properties (note 15) ~ BEZREME (MzH15) - (430,691) - - (430,691)
Disposals e (790) (934) (8,645) (549) (10,918)
Depreciation provided during the year EEERE

(note 7) (HizE7) (10,890) (3,101) (8,009) (6,944) (28,944)
Exchange realignment R A% 1,413 77 329 219 2,678

At 31 March 2013, net of accumulated M2013F3A31H « Bk

depreciation Zithe 536,181 - 29,432 35,533 601,146
At 31 March 2013; R2013E3A31R

Cost A 612,226 - 64,459 54,098 730,983

Accumulated depreciation Zithe (76,045) - (35,027) (18,765)  (129,837)

Net carrying amount REFE 536,181 - 20,432 35,533 601,146
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment continued) 14. Y% - BERZE @

Group (Continued) AEE@®)
Furniture,
fixtures
Hotel and Motor
Buildings properties  equipment vehicles Total
FRifh
BT EENE  REREHE " &t
31 March 2012 201263A31H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr THr Fhr Thr Thr
At 1 April 2011 R2011E4R18 -
Cost KA 166,272 121,395 50,284 27,284 374,235
Accumulated depreciation ZiriE (56,931) (67,810) (36,507) (8868  (170,116)
Net carrying amount EmFE 109,341 53,585 22777 18,416 204,119
At 1 April 2011, net of accumulated R2011E4R1E « BB Rs
depreciation e 109,341 53,585 22,177 18,416 204,119
Additions NE = = 5,822 5,451 11,273
Disposals L& = = (172) (192) (364)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAR - - (1,798) (1,252) (3,050)
Depreciation provided during the year (note 7) £ E & & (Hiz7) (7,199 (3614) (7,259) (5,633) (23,705)
Exchange realignment B 5 5% 4,152 2,035 853 647 7,687

At 31 March 2012, net of accumulated 1201263A318 » Bk Zat

depreciation nE 106,294 52,006 20,223 17,437 195,960
At 31 March 2012; 201243 A31R :
Cost AR 172,585 126,801 64,553 31,119 395,058
Accumulated depreciation ZirinE (66,291) (74,795) (44,330) (13,682)  (199,098)
Net carrying amount FmFE 106,294 52,006 20,223 17,437 195,960
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment continueq)

Group (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s buildings and hotel properties with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$16,677,000 and
HK$42,002,000 as at 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the

Group (note 30).

At 31 March 2013, certificates of ownership in respect of certain
buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate net book
value of HK$210,579,000 (2012: HK$3,426,000) had not been
issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the

AEEHE)

process of obtaining the relevant certificates of ownership. FrEREZE

15. Investment Properties

15. IREY

14. % - BERRE @

R2013F K 201243 A31 8 » AEEEE
#AE S BI1%916,677,00078 7T K 42,002,000
BILHE TEFRAEMESEREAR
SEER —MIRITRE AR (FIEES0) o

MR20183F3A31H » AEBRFHEM
B A 210,579,000 7% JT (2012 F
3,426,000/ 7T ) U TEF RIEMRREH =
HEAEE L AT A - AN B EfE<EEURR

Group TEH

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FUMEREE 13,637,107 11,285,288
Additions NE 608,118 71,135

Transfer from property, plant ERAYE - RE MRS
and equipment 14 430,691 -

Transfer from properties under EERERPYZE

development 16 3,293,910 572,213
Transfer from properties held for sale EE O RS - 146,637
Net gain from a fair value adjustment N EAR TS 5 1,251,445 1,117,696
Exchange realignment b N AR 204,675 444,138
Carrying amount at end of year FRAOREE 19,425,946 13,637,107

The above investment properties are held under medium term
leases and are situated in Mainland China.

B ACRE o
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31 March 2013 201343 H31H

15. Investment Properties continued)

16.

Group (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2013 and 2012 by Savills at RMB15,542,000,000
and RMB11,061,000,000, respectively, (equivalent to
HK$19,425,946,000 and HK$13,637,107,000, respectively) on
an open market, existing use basis.

The Group’s investment properties with aggregate
carrying values of approximately HK$13,108,315,000 and
HK$8,595,019,000 as at 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 30).

The Group’s investment properties with aggregate
carrying values of approximately HK$19,425,946,000
and HK$13,637,107,000 as at 31 March 2013 and 2012,
respectively, are restricted for sale (note 19(iv)(v)).

15. REWE »)

AREE (@)

% — K & # Hr 72 2013 £ & 2012 F
SHBIHEMAESEMKEEY % -
EARMEBEEBEREEENEES
Bl & A R ¥ 15,542,000,000 7t & A
R # 11,061,000,000 7© ( % 3 8 & »
19,425,946,0007% 7T % 13,637,107,000%
JT) °

R2013F 2012 3HA31H » A& E
AR [ 42 {2 9 51 49 13,108,315,000 7 7T &
8,595,019,0008 L) 1% & ¥ 3 2 | /E
BAEEER —MIRITRENER(NE
30) °

R2013F 2012 3HA31H » A& E
BR T 4218 5 Bl 4119,425,946,000 7 7T &
13,637,107,000/8 THIR E WX B E
BR Il (BT EE19(v)(v)) °

Properties Under Development 16. BRI
Group &
2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
bz FET FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYIHREE 2,878,003 3,403,663
Additions INE 7,717,364 9,235,468
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—KK B AR 36 734,200 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKIBA R - (321,633
Transfer to property, plant and RS
equipment 5 & & 14 (432,508) -
Transfer to investment properties BB E Y 15 (8,293,910) (572,213)
Transfer to prepaid land lease payments 83 =8 - HHES 17 (98,415) =
Transfer to properties held for sale and ER IS ME
held for finance lease RFEERMERE (5,161,185) (8,996,307)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 3 B 38,161 129,025
Carrying amount at end of year FARHAREE 2,381,710 2,878,003
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31 March 2013 201343 H31H

16. Properties Under Development continueq)
Group (Continued)

The above properties under development are held under
medium term leases and are situated in Mainland China.

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$55,350,000 and
HK$115,060,000 as at 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 30).

During the current year, the Group has received government
grants with an aggregate amount of HK$628,125,000 which
were provided by the local government to support infrastructure
construction and development activities. For the year ended 31
March 2013, HK$628,125,000 was deducted from the additions
of properties under development.

17. Prepaid Land Lease Payments

16. BE Y o)
AEBH)
PR YEERREERE - WK
ch B AR -

MR 20134 K 20124331 H » K&
R M %8 18 5 Bl 49 55,350,000 7% 7T &
115,060,000 TTHY A TEERFPWEE K
HEAAEBEER —RRITHENER
(MF7E30) ©

FR - ASERNGSBRSBMAEES
628,125,000 7T © 5% I8 Ah T B b 75 X
iRttt - EEAEMER TREREREH
RS - HE2013FIAZNHILEFE -
628,125,000/ TLIAANE B WER ©

17. Attt HES

Group RE
2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FET FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHIHEREE 7,116 7,207
Transfer from properties under EERERPYE

development 16 98,415 -
Recognised during the year FRIER 7 (190) (187)
Exchange realignment & H T 289 283
Carrying amount at end of year FRAREE 105,630 7,303

Current portion included in prepayments, s AFEZIE - me K&
deposits and other receivables EL b e W R IE A BN ERER (190) (187)
Non-current portion FERNERER 105,440 7,116

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease and is
situated in Mainland China.

None of the Group’s leasehold land was pledged to secure

general banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March
2013 (2012: HK$2,530,000) (note 30).
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31 March 2013 201343 H31H

18. Goodwiill 18. B8
Group AEE HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012: 201164 18 &2012F3A318 :
Cost AR 20,066
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE =
Net carrying amount BREDFER 20,066
Cost at 1 April 2011 and 1 April 2012, R2011F4 A1H &2012F4 /818 -
net of accumulated impairment Bk 25HRE 20,066
Impairment during the year (note 7) FERE(FiE?) (20,066)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 March 2013 R201343 A31 B A R ARE F&E =
At 31 March 2013: 201338318 :
Cost AR 20,066
Accumulated impairment ZEHEE (20,066)
Net carrying amount AREFRE =

Impairment testing of goodwiill

Goodwill acquired through a business combination has
been allocated to the hotel operation cash-generating unit
for impairment testing. The recoverable amount of the hotel
operation cash-generating unit is determined based on a value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial

PR E RS

budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year

period.

The Group has leased its hotel properties to an independent
party. Full impairment loss of HK$20,066,000 has been provided
on the goodwiill related to hotel operation of the Group.

on

BREBAHRBNBEENEDBEEZ
ENREELBMIERERNR - BELE
MIR & B A BB Ay AT B 5 BR D ARIE = AR
EEEHENDFRNHEBRENRSRE
BRFENEREEETE

ARECHHEREEMET —EBLE=
7o ARAKENBEEENHERDRER

T EERREETE © ©%/520,066,000/%8
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries

19. RIFE A RIRVIRE

Company KA E]
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET Tt
Unlisted investments, at cost JEETIRE - A 2,201,275 2,201,275
Loan to a subsidiary m—RHBARIER 534,000 752,400
2,735,275 2,958,675

The amounts due from and due to subsidiaries included
in the Company’s current assets and current liabilities
of HK$2,869,404,000 (2012: HK$2,250,736,000) and
HK$35,924,000 (2012: HK$899,000) are unsecured, interest-
free and are repayable on demand or within one year.

The loan to a subsidiary bears fixed interest of 8% per annum,
and is unsecured and repayable from 2013 to 2015. The
carrying amount of the loan to a subsidiary approximates to its
fair value.

166 China South City Holdings Limited #E mg i 5 I& 5 fR A &)

RARBRBEERTEAGEYRZIE
W & FE 1S M9 B A B 3K TH 2,869,404,000
7 7T (2012 4F : 2,250,736,0007% 7T ) &
35,924,0007% 7t (20124 : 899,000/ 7T )
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o
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31 March 2013 201343H31H

19. Investments in Subsidiaries continued)

19. R B A TR E @)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: TEWNBATBNOT :
Nominal value of
Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of equity
registration and capitalasat incorporation/ attributable to the
Name operations 31 March 2013 registration Company Principal activities
B R/ ERE H201353A31R  HRAL/ ANAEE  TEEE
BEny BRAEE/2M  2RAM BHAM
BaEE
Direct  Indirect
E# 3
% %
China South International Industrial Materials City -~ PRG/Mainland China HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and management of
(Shenzhen) Go,, Lid. () () B/ 2,200000,00087 18-12-2002 integrated logistics trade centers
ZRERTERAARIDBRAA) (v FREEMRRERR AR
REREE
Nanchang China South City Company Limited ~ PRG/Mainland China RMB1,100,000,000 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and management of
o) /B AR AR 16-11-2007 integrated logistics trade centers
BEEHIARLA) () 1,100,000,0007% FaBENRRARR AL
REREE
Nanning China South City Company Limited PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and management of
(i) (v 8 /PR AR AR500,0000007T  28-08-2009 integrated logistics trade centers
BEEEHERRAN () (2012: RMB150,000,000) FaEBMRRARR AL
(2012: AJR#150,000,0007c) FahzE
Xi'an China South City Company Limited i PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 12 November 2009 - 65 Development and management of
FREBAR AR E/ShE AR 30,000,005 12-11-2009 integrated logistics trade centers
FRBEMRRARR AL
REkEE
Harbin China South City Company Limited PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 10 February 2012 - 100 Development and management of
(i hE/HE AR ARE200000,0007 10-02-2012 inteqrated logstics trade centers
RRRERAERA ) FaEBMRRARR AL
REkEE
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 22 December 2011 - 100 Development and management of
Management Company Limited i) (i) VLN AE®200000,0007T 22-12-2011 integrated logstics trade centers
RERE NETAREERARDAN vi) FREEMRRERR AR
REREE
Zhengzhou China South Gity Company Limited {ii) - PRG/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 17 May 2012 - 100 Development and management of
BiEmRAR A 8/ PEARE ABRH300,000,000T  17-05-2012 integrated logistics trade centers
FREEMRRBERR AR
REREE
Hefel China South City Company Limited (i) (i)~ PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 25 December 2012 - 100 Development and management of
aEEFHARAT) V) 8/ PEARE AEE600000,0007T 25-12-2012 integrated logstics trade centers

GREENRRARR AT
REREE
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19. R B A TR E @)

19. Investments in Subsidiaries continued)

Nominal value of

Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of equity
registration and capitalasat incorporation/ attributable to the
Name operations 31 March 2013 registration Company Principal activities
B AL/ ERE VRERYRIN: A ANARE  TEEE
Bend BRAEE/HM  2RAH BHEAM
BaEE
Direct  Indirect
B BB
% %
Shenzhen Huasheng Gommercial Development  PRG/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 19 November 2010 - 100 Management of outlet operations
Company Limited i) e/ ARE ARE20,000,0007T 19-11-2010 AR RER

RERmEERARN) (2012: RMB10,000,000)

(2012 AEE10,000,0007)

Shenzhen First Asia Pacffic Property Management - PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 31 December 2003 25 97.5 Provision of property management

Co, Ltd. () 8/ PEARE AEH5000000070 31-12-2003 senvices
MIE-TANFEEERAA) (2012: RMB5,000,000) I

(2012 : AR¥5,000,0007)
Shenzhen Qianlong Logistics Gompany Limited ~ PRG/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 2 July 2004 - 80 Provision of logistics services
1] hE/EAR AEH30000,0007T 02-07-2004 REMTRE
Bz AR
Shenzhen China South City e-Commerce PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 Apri 2012 - 95 Operation of E-commerce platform
Company Limited i) RE/PEAR ARH100,0000007 19-04-2012 ETHETREE
MERE AT TERAR AR
Shenzhen China South City Advertising PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Provision of advertising services
Co, Ltd. i) 8/ PEAR ARE1,5000007 20-07-2004 REREHE
MImERHESERAR)
Shenzhen China South International Convention  PRG/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 10 February 2006 - 100 Provision of exhibition services
and Extibiion Centre Co,, Lid. (i) hE /AR ARE2,000,0007T 10-02-2006 REERTS
MITERHERe R LERAA)
ASEAN City (BVI) Limited Brtish Virgin Islands US$1 23 October 2007 100 - Investment holding
RESBVIARAR EBRAHE 157 23-10-2007 WEnR
China South City Management Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 - 100 Provision of management services
ERHERARAA BA 187 09-11-2007 iR R
Grand City Hotel Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 9 Apri 2005 100 - Investment holding
ERNEERARRAA B 100007 09-04-2005 RERR
Grand City Hotel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. () PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 16 June 2005 - 100 Dormant
BB (R ARAR) 8/ PEAR ARH40,0000007T 16-06-2005 LS
Shenzhen China South City Investment Holoings ~ PRG/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
Co,, L. i TE/PEAE ARI3000000007 20-07-2004 RER

RERARARRARA
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

Pursuant to certain land purchase agreement entered into by China
South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.,
the saleable gross floor area of properties built on these parcels of
land is limited to 30% of the total gross floor area that can be built.
The Group holds and builds the properties with restrictions for
leasing and self use.

Pursuant to certain land purchase agreement entered into by
Nanchang China South City Company Limited and Nanning China
South City Company Limited in 2010, respectively, the saleable
gross floor area of trade centers and storage facilities built on
these parcels of land are limited to 60% of the total buildable gross
floor area. This restriction does not apply to the properties built for
residential, commercial and other uses, and also does not apply to
the land obtained by the two companies subsequent to 2010. The
Group holds and builds the properties with restrictions for leasing
and self use.

Pursuant to certain land purchase agreement entered into by Hefei
China South City Company Limited in May and June 2013, the
saleable gross floor areas of trade centers built on these parcels
of land are limited to 50% of the total buildable gross floor areas.
This restriction does not apply to the properties built for residential,
commercial and other uses. The Group holds and builds the
properties with restrictions for leasing and self use.

During the year, the Group acquired the 100% equity interest in
Hydoo Harbin Trade City Co., Ltd (“Hydoo Harbin”) which was
accounted for as an asset acquisition (note 36). The Hydoo Harbin
has been renamed as Harbin Baolitong Market Development
Management Company Limited which is wholly-owned by the
Group after the acquisition.

19. R B A B IRE (@)

s

(i

FEUAETHFIIARERLERT
HELER THINEEEDRRE -
HEVEE TEVARAE ©

REBEELEETEREMORIDERAF
RIVMBO TR EAR - EEZ TR
EHER R HEEEmM AR AR E SR
TEHIB0% © ANEEIFA MR EXEIR
HEEELERER -

REFMSEMBARARNEEERDNE
RABMN2010FFBRILHE T LIHE
BEAR  REZABETHR ENR ST
DR FAIR YA R $H SRR ER R
ZEYE A REEERO0% © SR H
ERNMEE - BB REMBZRNYE - 7§
B AR M E R B R2010F AR EFH
T o AREFRA KERULFEZBIRHH
YEELERER -

RIEA EZER IR AR A RIFE20134F5 A 1
6ARIMMLTHEEAR @ BEZSHR
ERR SR OEEN A HEREABERRN
R AT ERERERS0% © MR FINE
AREE - A REMAROYE - A&
A RERLEZIR AN EELHE
KB -

FA - AEERERREREHERER
REN([ AR MG RRETIREE
Ui BR I8 (F1RE36) - MUREBR - mAK
E2ERANREERECRB/HEE
BamSREEREERARF o
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20. Investment in a Jointly-Controlled

Entity &
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Share of net assets G EESFE - 8,048
Due from a jointly-controlled entity FEU—ZR LRI & A FhIE 14,394 1,208
14,394 9,256
Provision for impairment BB (5,458) (6,406)
8,936 2,850

FEA LR —R AR E

HEBRENER

The amount due from a jointly-controlled entity included in the
investment in a jointly-controlled entity above is unsecured,
has no fixed terms of repayment and bears interest at 7% per
annum. The carrying amount of the amount due from a jointly-
controlled entity approximates to its fair values.

HAFRZEGIERKASEEMN - EETEER

Hﬁ&&¢7%5+ B o R —RAREH]
BERFUANREERE A HERS -

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity is as follows: HEZEHEEFBOT
Nominal value of
issued and fully Percentage of
Place of paid-up registered Date of equity attributable to
registration and capital as at incorporation/ the Group
Name operations 31 March 2013 registration asat 31 March  Principal activities
2013534318
ERE ERARARER EMAL/ RIA3ARER
£ LeEny E4EE ZMEH EEEREAL TTER
2013 2012
% %
China South Royal Restaurant (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.# PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 16 June 2005 50.5 50.5 Restaurant operations
FHERER(M)BRAD: GEVLIEVN: ABRH5,000,0007C 16-06-2005 it 441

Notes:

# The Group holds 50.5% of the registered capital of China South
Royal Restaurant (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, a sino-foreign equity joint
venture. Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement and articles of
association of the jointly-controlled entity, none of the parties has
unilateral control over the operating and financing decisions of
this jointly-controlled entity. Accordingly, the directors account for
the Group’s interest in the company as an investment in a jointly-
controlled entity.
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31 March 2013 201343H31H

20. Investment in a Jointly-Controlled

Entity (Continued)

The Company holds the 50.5% of the registered capital of a
jointly-controlled entity through a wholly-owned subsidiary. The
jointly-controlled entity has financial year ended 31 December.
The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the
material transactions between the jointly-controlled entity and
group companies between 1 January and 31 March annually.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity:

20. R—XHRBEFHERBHNER
=)

$’Aﬂi§iﬁ—%%ﬁé%ﬁmwgﬂﬁ%ﬁ
HEZEH| E S E ANA50.5% o £
H% %‘Jaﬁfm,ﬂm@rgﬁﬁimﬂsm
IF - SRE W REFTF1 1B EI A3
HERR KR s F R EE K B A R) 2 H
NEARZELTFHE -

TRUAREERRZEGEBOMEER
BE -

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Share of jointly-controlled entity’s assets and L EREHEREE
liabilities: REE:
Current assets MENEEE 4,530 8,509
Non-current assets IERENEE 1,352 740
Current liabilities nBBE (11,340) (1,201)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB EEFE (5,458) 8,048
Share of jointly-controlled entity’s results: et e
Revenue A 19,022 4,626
Expenses Az (17,999) (3,129
Profit for the year REZFE 1,023 1,497
. . — pon = 3
21. Investment in an associate 21. R—REE QA TNRE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Share of net assets EREEFE 599 1,563
Due to an associate JE— KB & A EI IR (3,141) (3,094)
(2,542) (1,531)

The amount due to an associate included in investment in an
associate above is unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

EJr)\tLEA—%Hﬁﬁ%’ATE’J&%EE’JJEH—
KEERRFEREER 22 REETE
IEFRES o

Annual Report 2012/13 3R 171



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B RS R AR B AL ()
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21. Investment in an associate (continued)

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

2. R—XBEQXTNRE @)

NS

Nominal value of

Place of issued and fully

registration and paid-up

Name operations registered capital
BRARMR

£ ERMREE LS ZMEREE

Percentage of equity
Date of attributable
incorporation/ to the Group
registration as at 31 March  Principal activities
R3A31H
i/ AEERE
A RERAN IEXH
2013 2012
% %

China South Intimex Technology (Shenzhen) PRG/Mainland China RMB10,000,000
Co,, Ltd. hE/PEAE  AR10,0000007
EFRRE (RN ERAR

18 January 2004 30 30 Website and software development
18-01-2004 BRRREY

The associate has financial year ended 31 December. The
consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between the associate and group companies
between 1 January and 31 March annually.

The associate has been accounted for using the equity method
in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associate:

B RN BREEEE12A3181E °
GAEPBHREAMNSF1A1BE3A31HE
M AR EEEKE QAR ZENEAR
SYELFAE o

BERANARBER L FMBEHRRA
E\EO

TRIVRESFARE RS RABNUHER
B2 -

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET THT

Assets BE 5,860 8,089
Liabilities =L 3,864 2,880
Revenue WA 69 75
Loss &8 (1,171) (1,056)
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22.

23.

24.

Finance Lease Receivables

The balance represents entrusted loans provided by the Group
to lessees through Shanghai Pudong Development Bank in
connection with the finance lease of its properties. The finance
lease receivables, which bear interest at rates ranging from
6.336% to 6.435% per annum, are repayable by monthly
instalments within 10 years. The carrying amounts of the
finance lease receivables approximate to their fair values. The
amounts of the current portion of the finance lease receivables
of HK$8,221,000 and HK$8,109,000 were included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables as at 31 March
2018 and 2012, respectively.

Deposits Paid for Purchase of Land
Use Rights

The balance represents deposits paid for acquisitions of land
use rights for parcels of land in Mainland China. The carrying
amounts of the deposits paid for the purchase of land use rights
approximate to their fair values.

22.

23.

Bl EH E R FRIE
EREASEREYENRERE &8
FEBRBEREBTRAAEARENHEZE
ER - Bt EHERWKFIERENENT
6.336% £6.435%:T &+ WEN10F AT
Ao HEE - mERERKZENRAE
BEENFERE - B2013F &201243 A
318 - MERERUGRHEMNAHHS S8
7 Bl %8,221,000/% 7t 58,109,000/ 7T -
BEFATERFOE « 2e REMEIKEIE -

BEIHERENIER
&

G P B A RE R SR 0 L5 P
P fitnis o BB i P TR
SEOETERHA AT EIRE -

Properties Held for Sale 24, FEHEWE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Completed properties held for sale BEHER T 3,369,886 2,126,269
Properties under development expected to FEHR I EFLEREIA
complete within normal operating cycle BT HERERYE 6,011,292 5,636,286
9,381,178 7,762,555
Properties under development expected to be 2R ¥ EFEENL T &
completed and ready for sale RAI{ESHE
Within one year —FR 3,557,546 2,056,434
Beyond one year —F % 2,453,746 3,579,852
Total #aE 6,011,292 5,636,286
Certain of the Group’s properties held for sale with an aggregate R W®E B KRB FEMEA &

carrying value of HK$2,339,936,000 (2012: HK$100,476,000)
at the end of the reporting period were pledged to secure the
banking loans granted to the Group (note 30).

2,339,936,000 # st ( 2012 4
100,476,000/ ) KNS EE THFEHE
VBB RERRN S BERRITERAOE
R(KI7E30) °
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25. Trade Receivables 25. B E 5 BRFX

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Trade receivables JEUNE SRR 1,037,648 590,459
Impairment B (100,721) (64,829)
936,927 525,630

Trade receivables represent sales income, rentals receivable and
service income receivables from customers which are payable
on issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the
related sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally
allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
In view of this and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of the trade
receivables approximate to their fair values.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables based on the payment
due date as at the end of the reporting period, net of provision, is
as follows:

FEUE 5 BR SR IE I B B RS IR AR 1B
HRE S R GREREPNHEERA
PR & MARFEWA - AREE—REHET
HBOOXEEMTES - e ERETH
EHEMER - BEN U MASEEK
BHRTEARETRATLEM MU EE
REFEERR - BREZERABRE -
FEWE 5 SR AR E B R E A FERE -

KSR - RIBMNREHA - BUE
SERFIRBEBEROREINT

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Within 1 month 118 B AR 554,520 415,754
1 to 2 months 1221 A 97,758 17,072
2 to 3 months 2% 31E A 97,650 43,530
Over 3 months #3ME A 186,999 49,274
936,927 525,630
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25. Trade Receivables (continued) 25. ERE SR )
The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables FEIE SERNAREREE T

are as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FBT
Carrying amount at beginning of year REFIHEREE 64,829 62,458
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) BRERREEE (FFT) 34,540 =
Exchange realignment PE 5 A 1,352 2,371
Carrying amount at end of year RERRIREE 100,721 64,829
The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not ERIKA I THAR AR EN R E 58K
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as HHERE DA T ¢
follows:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
Neither past due nor impaired REHE R ARR(E 496,856 400,297
Less than 1 month past due B0 B fiE A 57,664 15,457
1 to 3 months past due B HA1 2= 31E A 195,408 60,602
Over 3 months past due B HI3E A A 186,999 49,274
936,927 525,630
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired and past AR AR R AR B A I B s HR (B AROB B A FE
due but not impaired relate to a large number of diversified WHIEEARETREFER @ FEROWL
customers for whom there was no recent history of default. The BN - EEREZEUEEMFA - A
Group would not release the property ownership certificates to EETEREBHEERE °

the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
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26. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 26. Bt X1\ - & R H b

Receivables FE W TR I8
Group RE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T THET
Prepayments SN 61,047 29,068
Receivables for disposal of subsidiaries* oS B A B 9 FE W R IE 438,464 757,020
Deposits and other receivables R MHE M IE 134,849 72,609
Current portion of finance lease receivables B A & e R IR 2 BNERES 7
(note 22) (fFzE22) 8,221 8,109
642,581 866,806
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to R SR AR £ BB E Sl I AR
receivables for which there was no recent history of default. FOE% ©
* It represented the amount receivable from an independent third * ER2012F - #BULE=HBFHB D
party in connection with the disposal of certain subsidiaries in EETHEBRAZERK - ARK
2012. RMB250,000,000 was settled in the current year and the 250,000,000 C A EET - TEEIR2014
remaining balance is expected to be collected before 31 March FIABI Bl Z AIEAFEE UL E - UK
2014. The carrying amount of the receivables approximates to its HHREEEE QN TERE ©
fair value.

27. Held for Trading Investments at Fair 27. ZBEHUAFEIIKRZ

. =+ === VA B
Value Through Profit Or Loss BHIEEERE
Group REE
2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Listed investment funds at market value EMEFEN EMREES 117,643 111,986
The above listed investment funds at 31 March 2013 and 20134 K% 20123 A31H » kit Ei%
2012 were classified as held for trading upon initial recognition, BESVIFHRAGLEARBEEE - AR
designated by the Group as financial assets at fair value through WHESEFFZRNEHANHESED -
profit or loss since they were acquired or incurred principally for WA BEEEIEE RS AB=INATES]
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. A RIERE ©
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28. Cash and Cash Equivalents and 2. B$RHRSZEBYRST

Restricted Cash

PR&HIIR &

Group REME

2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

b FExT FBT

Cash and bank balances & RIRITAERR 6,777,842 3,831,987

Less: Restricted cash W ZREIIRE * (513,128) (516,330)

Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 6,264,714 3,315,657
Company RAF

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHBT

Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEER 1,264,811 477,387

* Restricted cash mainly comprises (i) guarantee deposits for the
mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group’s properties; (i) guarantee funds of construction projects
to meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amount of pre-
sale proceeds of properties to place as guarantee deposits for
the construction of related properties; and (iv) certain amount
of proceeds from leases of several properties which have been
placed as guarantee deposits for the borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$5,054,838,000 (2012: HK$2,966,824,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates.
The bank balances and restricted cash are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

O XREIRSTIZEE - ((MBEAEEY
¥ 2 BERBRITRTORBETNRE R
BRE  (IEREENRES - UNFEE
B ESK (i) ERENE TG
RIS - UMERIBBYEERNRER
% REEYWERNE T HEMSHKEA
SRMERIEENRERS

RIREIR - NEBIUARE SEHIR
& MIR & 5B ¥5,054,838,0007F 7T (2012
£ : 2,966,824,000/7T) ° AREEISA]
BRABAHMER - A - REFBEK
B ) SINE B ik 1) S 45 0EE ~ 1< B R B DE AR
T ANEBE R LS BT INE Y
BITBARB R BAEMER -

FRIRITRSRES BRITERN RILF
B R BRERAS, - 55 BATE BAF RN 7 sk A
BER B RE=AATE  BFAEH
BN RIS /KM E - MA S RRE @S
HATE BA7F SR R BRER o SR1TAE R e S PR
Be HEHNMEER I BT HY &R
SRAVERTT °
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29. Trade and Other Payables

29. EZ R EMEARIE

Group rEE
2013 2012
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
BosE FET FET
Other payables and accruals Hib e IE N ETIER 916,752 350,893
Notes payables FERT = 0] 453,677 —
Deposits and receipts in advance %4 RIEWFRIA 3,792,892 3,462,501
Construction fee and retention payables JEfEIZRE R MRE S (ii) 3,002,406 2,716,337
8,165,727 6,529,731

()  An aged analysis of the Group’s notes payables presented

RERRNEERNRIB N RIZHE

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period SHKEEROTIT ¢
is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TR
1 to 2 months 122188 135,455 -
Over 3 months EBE3ME A 318,222 =
453,677 -

(i) An aged analysis of the construction fee and retention

(i

RBEMREREARRESEMAR

payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: TEM BRI AT T -

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Within 1 year 1FER 2,923,753 2,593,409
Over 1 year BiE1F 78,653 122,928
3,002,406 2,716,337

The construction fee and retention payables are non- BRERAMMRESENFTIELAZER

interest-bearing and repayable within the normal operation AR —MRFTE R EZKEE -

cycle or on demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.
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30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other 30. ;T E8TRHEMESE
Borrowings

2013 2012
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) (%)
BBRRI= Maturity HK$'000 R Maturity HK$'000
Group pi-3t) (%) ) TR (%) gk T
Current BE
Bank loans - unsecured RITEH-EER 6.00%-7.54%  OnDemand/ 1,626,152 6.56%-7.54%  OnDemand/ 1,145,241
HIBOR+2.75% EER/ Sk
2013-2014 2012-2013
Bank loans - secured RTER-BHA 5.40%-7.54% 2013-2014 874,930  6.89%-7.87% 2012-2013 498,092
Other borrowing - unsecured ~ EfufEE — &5 6.15%-6.30%  On Demand/ 707,443 6.66%  OnDemand/ 336,682
2013-2014 2012-2013
Current portion of long term ~~~ REIR{TREMEEH
bank and other borrowings: AR
Bank loans - unsecured BOER-BER  615%7.07% 2013-2014 272,479 6.65% 2012-2013 73,974
Bank loans - secured RITET-—HHLR 5.90%-7.07% 2013-2014 937,250  6.12%-6.65% 2012-2013 686,384
4,418,254 2,740,273
Non-current E3:0:
Bank loans - unsecured BTEZ-EHR 6.15%-7.07% 2014-2017 272,478 6.65% 2013-2014 258,909
Bank loans - secured BITET-BEA 5.90%-7.07% 2014-2020 4,309,263  5.98%-6.90% 2013-2020 1,774,200
4,581,741 2,033,109
8,999,995 4,773,382
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30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other

Borrowings (continued)

30. s EHRITREMBEE »)

Group
AEE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Analysed into: DITHN A
Bank loans repayable: AR A THREZRN
RITEN :
Within one year or on demand —FANHEEK 3,710,811 2,408,691
In the second year F_oF 1,678,940 576,599
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=—FEFERF
(BREEMEEN) 2,149,311 985,912
Beyond five years hFE 753,490 470,598
8,292,552 4,436,800
Other borrowings repayable: JAR AT BRI A
HiEE :
Within one year or on demand —FRHEEK 707,443 336,582
8,999,995 4,773,382
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30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other  30. 3t 2 {TREMESE

Borrowings (continued)
Bank loans with amount of HK$6,121,443,000 are secured by:

(i)  Certain of the Group’s buildings and hotel properties with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$16,677,000
and HK$42,002,000 as at 31 March 2013 and 2012,
respectively (note 14);

(i) Certain of the Group’s investment properties situated
in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$13,108,315,000 and HK$8,595,019,000
as at 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively (note 15);

(iiy Certain of the Group’s properties under development
situated in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values
of approximately HK$55,350,000 and HK$115,060,000 as
at 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively (note 16);

(iv) Certain of the Group’s leasehold land with aggregate
carrying values of nil and HK$2,530,000 as at 31 March
2018 and 2012, respectively (note 17); and

(v Certain of the Group’s properties held for sale
with aggregate carrying values of approximately
HK$2,339,936,000 and HK$100,476,000 as at 31 March
2018 and 2012, respectively (note 24).

Except for the bank loan equivalent to HK$400.0 million (2012:
Nil) which is denominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear
interest at floating rate of HIBOR+2.75%, all other interest-
bearing borrowings of the Group are denominated in RMB and
bear interest at floating rates that range from 5.40% to 7.54%
per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing
interest rates.

6,121,443,000/8 ST MR 1T E XA N7 &
TEHH

() 2013 F 2012 3 A 31 H &
4 {8 % B 4 16,677,000 /& T &
42,002,000 THASE R TEF K
EE(BiEE14) ¢

(i) M2013F M 201243 A31BE®E
#8185 R 4913,108,315,000 74 7T M
8,595,019,0007% JT K A & B i1 1A
Bl RRER) S TR E W (FIFE15) 5

@iy M 2013 4F K 201243 A 31 H &
M 48 {8 % Bl 49 55,350,000 /& Tt &
115,060,000 7T H) 28 5= B 7 74 R B
AESNE TERPE(MFE16)

(v) 720134 N20129F3 A31 HIRME#&
B9 Bl A K 2,530,000 7T K 2N &2
BETFTHEL (7)) &

V) M2013F K 201243 A31 BE®R
{8 9 Bl #9 2,339,936,000 78 JT M
100,476,000 LR AN & B & THHE
SHEME (MiFE24) -

BIZE B IRTTREZERBIMN2.75%,F B Fl| X
5T ERI400.08 &5 (20124 « ) R1T
BB TABEMIN  AEBRMAEEM
ATEBEHUARBAEMN  WIREGF
5.40%E7.54%K)FEFIRET S ©

REESRTREMEEOREEEL
ATERE - HEEHEEESRENY
B FISRBE A o
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31. Senior Notes

The Group issued the following senior notes in current and prior
years:

U)

On 14 January 2011, the Company issued senior notes
in an aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000 (the
“2011 Notes”). The 2011 Notes are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The 2011 Notes carry
interest at the rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually on January 14 and July 14 in arrears, and will
mature on 14 January 2016, unless redeemed earlier. The
offering price was at 97.381% of the principal amount of
the 2011 Notes.

At any time on or after 14 January 2014, the Company
may redeem the 2011 Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the percentage of principal
amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest
as of (but not including) the redemption date if redeemed
during the twelve month period beginning on 14 January of
each of the years indicated below:

Period Redemption price
2014 106.750%
2015 and thereafter 103.375%

At any time prior to 14 January 2014, the Company may
at its option redeem the 2011 Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2011 Notes plus the applicable premium,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not
including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 14 January 2014, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount
of the 2011 Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or
more sales of common stock of the Company in an equity
offering at a redemption price of 113.5% of the principal
amount of the 2011 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date,
provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2011 Notes originally issued remains
outstanding after each such redemption and any such
redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of
the related sale of the Company’s capital stock and subject
to certain conditions.
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3. BREE

REBERSFEMARMBETATEERE

R20114F1 148 - KRR A TR
& #2%8250,000,000€ ST E L2 1E
([2011EH# |) - 2011 EERFT K
FBERZGBR AT LM c 2011F
BIRFEFRABE5%TE  BEFR
1A14B X7 A14B &S - Wi
2016451 H14 B B HA (G FEIR 2B
B) o BHEEBA201ZERSEEN
97.381% °

R20145%1 A14 B sk 2 & b -
RARIHLZIEER Nl ASRER DL
REERIE  FMEBEERBHUET
BREZA)MBF RAFNFE - BEO
2 2Pk EB 2011 245 (WA T XA~
FFEE1A14BAKRA121E B BEA
fEO) :

A e E
20144 106.750%
2015FE N 2 1% 103.375%

R20145%1 A14 B RIMERER - AQ
A AR E 2011 ZIE R4 EE100%
MERIE  ZMEEERBHUET
BIEZA)2011ZENERRENA R
2 RAMFB(E) - EE2EE
FJEEBD 2011 ZE 4 -

R2014F1 A14 B BiERIEERE © AR
A ATER (DB E R #EIT — IR R
HEARQ B L BIRAEHIRSRIEF
B 20 BBEA S FE113.5% A8
OE ZNE=ECBEH(ETEE
ZB)MRFRREME(RE) - B
Bl & %2011 REAR S BEERIS5%
MEF N D 2011 ZRRETAS
W L65%BNARIER - BEMEA
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31. Senior Notes (continued)

(i)

On 17 October 2012, the Company issued senior notes
in an aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 (the
“2012 Notes”). The 2012 Notes are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The 2012 Notes carry
interest at the rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually on April 17 and October 17 in arrears, and will
mature on 17 October 2017, unless redeemed earlier. The
offering price was at 97.381% of the principal amount of
the 2012 Notes.

At any time on or after 17 October 2015, the Company
may redeem the 2012 Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the percentage of principal
amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest
as of (but not including) the redemption date if redeemed
during the twelve month period beginning on 17 October of
each of the years indicated below:

Period Redemption price
2015 106.750%
2016 and thereafter 103.375%

At any time prior to 17 October 2015, the Company may
at its option redeem the 2012 Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2012 Notes plus the applicable premium,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not
including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 17 October 2015, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount
of the 2012 Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or
more sales of common stock of the Company in an equity
offering at a redemption price of 113.5% of the principal
amount of the 2012 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date,
provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2012 Notes originally issued remains
outstanding after each such redemption and any such
redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of
the related sale of the Company’s capital stock and subject
to certain conditions.

N.BEEB#®

(i)

R2012F10 8178 » KA AT
% #858125,000,000% TR B L =
(201224 |) - 2012 Z A i
BERGMABER AR LM 20122
BIRFRNEA135%5T B + BFEFN4
B17BR10A17THEE S - A
72017F10 A17 B 2 # (BRIFIR
BEO) - BEEA012ZEAE TN
97.381% o

MR 2015410 A 17 B 3 2 1% (£ {a] i
& ARRAIREER T ASER
DEMWBLOE  ZEEEDBH
(BEREEZ BN 2T RAMNFIE -
FBE 2 5k 2f 20122 i (MR R X
FrR&EEZ10A17 BREHA 1218 A
B BB )

HARS FEEE
20154 106.750%
20164 N 2 1% 103.375%

MR 2015410 A 17 B BT {E Al B R
NAT A IRESEN2012EH K458
100% M EEIE - SinEEiE D HE
(ETRBE%HE)2012Z# 83 A%
BUARZFEANFIE(nE) @ EE
2 EMEIEI 2012 K ©

201510 B17 B B{ERIER - &
PRI ATERR DB E R BT — I
IRHEARA T LBEARFTISHIR SR
TE)F5E - 20122 B AR £ % 113.5%
WEDE SmEz=BEAH(E
TEEZB )R RAMTFE (1R
A) BRIZRZ2012ZEARSEFEH
35% * MEEXEEZ2012F KRR %
TASRER V5% BNAER - B
E{r] B BEHE B B A B AN A IR AN 8H
EARZCOHNETRZERET
&4 o
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N.BEEB#®

31. Senior Notes (continued)

The 2011 Notes and 2012 Notes (the “Senior Notes”) contain a
liability component and the above early redemption options:

(i)  Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status
that provided substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the period is calculated by
applying an effective interest rate of approximately 14.62%
and 14.62% per annum to the liability component of the
2011 Notes and 2012 Notes respectively since they were
issued.

(i) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The
directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition and
at 31 March 2013.

On 30 September 2011 and 2 February 2012, the Company
repurchased the 2011 Notes with principal amount of
US$5,000,000 and US$4,000,000, respectively, from the
open market. The total consideration of the repurchase was
US$6,932,000 (equivalent to HK$54,069,000), which includes
repurchase price at 74.15% and 75.80%, respectively, of
principal amount and pro rata accrued and unpaid interest.
The carrying amount of the repurchased 2011 Notes was
US$8,729,000 (equivalent to HK$68,087,000), resulting in a gain
on repurchase of the 2011 Notes amounting to HK$14,018,000
in the prior year. Up to the report date, the repurchased 2011
Notes have been cancelled.
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31.

32.

Senior Notes (continued) N.EBEEE
The Senior Notes recognised in the statement of financial DR BRI RIEANEBLEZETED
position were calculated as follows: TR s
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THT
Carrying amount at the beginning of year REFIHEREE 1,844,984 1,900,083
Additions = 927,527 -
Payment of interest XA (253,773) (262,164)
Repurchase of 2011 Notes fEEI2011 25 - (68,087)
Interest expenses (note 6) FE 5 (Kizke) 334,664 275,152
Carrying amount at the end of year RELRNIREE 2,853,402 1,844,984

The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 March 2013 amounted
to HK$2,991,726,000 (2012: HK$1,669,432,000). The fair value
is calculated using the market price of the Senior Notes on 31

March 2013.

Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

MR2013F3A31H  BEAZEHEHNAF
& # 2,991,726,000 # jT ( 2012 F :
1,669,432,000787T) ° A FETIEREL
EEN2013E3A31 HMMIBEBIRTE -

32. IEERLIE
FR - RELEFRBEEGREEZSNT

Deferred tax liabilities ELEBIEEE
Group rE
Revaluation
of property,
Accelerated Revaluation plant and
tax  of investment Withholding equipments
depreciation properties tax ¥ BER Total
MERERE REWEER ik REER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TET TR THET
At 1 April 2012 R2012F4A1H 108,574 2,480,033 256,739 - 2,845,346
Deferred tax charged to the income FRRNKERATRA
statement during the year (note 10) EERIA10) 34,165 312,861 158,856 - 505,882
Deferred tax charged to other REfm2ERATRA
comprehensive income EREHE - - - 95,485 95,485
Exchange realignment [ % 1,952 38,356 5,652 - 45,960
At 31 March 2013 12013F3A31H 144,691 2,831,250 421,247 95,485 3,492,673
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32. Deferred Tax (continued)

32, IR IE ()

Deferred tax assets BEEMBEEE
Group rEE
Loss available Tax effect of
for offsetting ~ Provision for ~ government
against future impairment  grants relate
Tax effect  taxable profits of trade to assets
of LAT  WHESAR  receivables BBEEY
IHRERN  ERHTEN BWES  BREEN Total
Exe g HERE hBxe @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THL TAL TARL TAL TARL
At 1 April 2012 201264 A1R 232,231 17,091 18,066 - 267,388
Deferred tax credited to the income ERARER AR
statement during the year (note 10) EIERE(FitE10) 159,734 (17,099) 13,300 154,971 310,906
Exchange realignment [ B 5,442 8 426 2,062 7,938
At 31 March 2013 20133 A31R 397,407 - 31,792 157,033 586,232
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE
Group rEEH
Accelerated Revaluation
tax  of investment Withholding
depreciation properties tax Total
MEFIAME REMEER TR fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT
At 1 April 2011 R2011%4A1R 75,093 2,116,343 155,921 2,347,357
Deferred tax charged to the income FRRA IR AR
statement during the year (note 10) EER A (FIFE10) 30,207 279,424 93,589 403,220
Exchange realignment HE X R 3,274 84,266 7,229 94,769
At 31 March 2012 201293 A31H 108,574 2,480,033 256,739 2,845,346
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32. Deferred Tax continued)

32, IEFERRIE ()

Deferred tax assets
Group

ELEHIREE
AEE

Loss available

for offsetting Provision for

against future impairment

Tax effect  taxable profits of trade

of LAT  AJ{H3KEEAR IR receivables
THIEETR  EREAER FEM AR X Total
by B8 T ERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT FAET
At 1 April 2011 ®2011%4 /18 142,753 541 16,709 160,003
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR] (17,704) - - (17,704)

Deferred tax credited to the income FRFFAMZER AR

statement during the year (note 10) EERIA(MIFE10) 100,793 16,529 713 118,035
Exchange realignment IE 5 A 6,389 21 644 7,054
At 31 March 2012 #20124E3 A31H 232,231 17,001 18,066 267,388

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$189,201,000 (2012: HK$120,832,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses in Mainland China of
HK$209,525,000 (2012: HK$104,772,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. In the current year,
the Group accrued withholding tax of HK$158,856,000 (2012:
HK$93,589,000) for those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China.

AEBREAELENDEBR
189,201,00078 7T (20124 : 120,832,000
AIT)  ATEREIEE - DIKEEEER
B R BIARRERBLR T °

AEBNARFBEANEELEDIARER
209,525,000/ 7t (20124 : 104,772,000
AIL) R —ERFRER - AR
AR R ERBRA ©

AR % BB 18 B B IR B 1R — BB RO Y
BRAREL BERAB/ATAEERRE
B B RR B ) DA ¥t SH 5% 5 F] B R O T IR B
B BUERZEFHERRELCHEAER
7= o

RIEFRBEERSHE - R BRAHA L
RSN B EREIMNTEEST RS
ERN10% BT - £IEIE B 2008 F
1H1ERBER - WiE AR 2007F12 H31
H1& BRI EF o fn BIAPEE/GINGEE
BB Al AR AT SRS I6RA0 - BIAT 8
BIERTER - At - AEBARRFEA
A 37 /9 BT B A B 9 k20084 1 A1 H &
FrBRER 2 FIH) IS S A A TB IR © IAARE
[E  AEBBENF HAMA KB A
RAYEH 2 FEFT TR 077 & 158,856,000/% 7T
(20124F : 93,589,000/ 7T) °
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33. Share Capital 33. I
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Authorised: JETE
30,000,000,000 (831 March 2012: 30,000,000,000/% (201243
30,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 H31H : 30,000,000,000
each %) G AR EEO0.01 8 T /Y
EB 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BREITRER
6,053,564,000 (31 March 2012: 6,053,564,0000% (201243
5,987,564,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 H31H : 5,987,564,000
each %) G AR EEO0.01 8 T /Y
B 60,536 59,876
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the movements in issued #HZE2013F3 AN HILFE © BEEITRA
capital were as follows: BEIT ¢
Number of

shares in issue Issued capital

ERITROBE ERTRAE

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 April 2012 R2012F4A1H 5,987,564,000 59,876
Exercise of share options 1T{E HE AR 66,000,000 660
At 31 March 2013 R2013F3A31H 6,053,564,000 60,536
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34. Share Options

34. BERRAE

(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements

The Company has granted certain share options for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Grantees of the share options include directors
and certain employees of the Group. The share options
were approved by the Company on 13 October 2006
(“Pre-IPO Options”).

The number of Pre-IPO Options upon their exercise was
equal to 3% of the Company’s issued ordinary shares
for Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of the listing on the Stock
Exchange that was 180,000,000 ordinary shares. The
options must be exercised within two to three years
following the IPO of the Company, and the exercise price
shall be 50% of the offer price of each share in the IPO at
HK$1.05

All Pre-IPO Options were granted in prior year, and their fair
value of HK$67,521,000 was estimated by Vigers Appraisal
& Consulting Ltd (“Vigers”). All the share option expenses
were recognised in the consolidated income statement in
prior years.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements during the year were as
follows:

(@) BRPRABRERGABRE
[5ES

RABEHE TS THERE  mALRSE
EXEKBIELEBMNA KRS EHE
IR SRR KRB o BRI A BTE
AEEEERETEE - ARFRER
2006F10 13 #L/EERE([BEIX
RRABERMDATERE]) -

BRAFAEERDAEREETE
AR B SR AR R R B R P b
MERARAZEERM ([EHXAHE
Bl ) REBITERRANI% (A
180,000,0000% T i@A% ) - FERRIELL /A
AR RREITE R AR BERDEM
E=FRTE - TEERBRARME
By ERREEEH50% + B11.05
PEIT

FT A &R A B SRR D Bl B AR R
ERBEFERSL  HAFEAS
67,521,000/ 7T + R EISHTE T
BEMAR A E ([ EASHT D#EITHE
RIBEFE - A BRER B RER
BUEERTER o

AT B ER R B R AR EER DA
BRE RN FARAKTEAT

Year ended 31 March

BZ3AALFE
2013 2012

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price
per share Number of per share Number of
IR e options R nE options
FHTEE  BREHA THTEE  BREHE
HK$ ’000 HKS '000
BT T4 BT T3
At beginning of year REA 1.0500 132,000 1.0500 172,000
Exercised during the year FRTE 1.0500 (66,000) = =
Lapsed during the year FERKK 1.0500 (66,000) 1.0500 (40,000)
At end of year RELR 1.0500 - 1.0500 132,000
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34. Share Options (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Pre-IPO Share Option Agreements
(Continued)

The 66,000,000 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 66,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company and new share capital of HK$660,000 and
share premium of HK$93,398,000. HK$24,758,000 was
transferred from share option reserve to retained profits for
those share options lapsed during the current year.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4
September 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide
incentives and reward to selected eligible persons which
includes directors, employees, officers, agents, consultants
or representatives of the Group for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Company or its subsidiaries.
The Share Option Scheme became effective on 30
September 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
“Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

On 2 December 2010, the Company granted 6,000,000
share options under the Share Option Scheme to an
employee, with the exercise price of HK$1.41 per share
and an exercise period ranging from 2 December 2011 to 1
December 2015. The fair value of the share options granted
was estimated by Vigers at HK$1,992,000. The 6,000,000
share options were forfeited during the year, of which share
option expense of HK$745,000 was reversed from share
option reserve to profit or loss (2012: share option expense
of HK$994,000 was recognised) and HK$645,000 was
transferred from share option reserve to retained profits.
There was no outstanding share options as at the end of
reporting period.
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34, BIRE o)

(a

(b)

BXABBRERD A ERE
e ()

FNE 171 H66,000,00017 BEAZAE -
B R R ] #7766,000,000 8 f%
LA R A BR 31 B% 75 660,000 7% 7T & i%
19 3% (8 93,398,000/8 7T ° MANF &
ERBMEREABREREER
24,758,000/ TR EEFH o

B REs S

AN BB R2009F 9 A 4 B H 4985 A%
REETE|([FERRHERTE] D) - M¥ARAR]
Sl H [ B A " VEH B B2 E £ = Bh
MEERAERALT(BEAEES
£ EE =48RS K12 B
RR)IREEE R O3R - BARERTE
E2009F9 A30B 4% - WHE H
BEFE+F (BRIEEUHSKELERT) o
AT BRI — P REIBE N A ER
FHEEE®RE] -

R2010512 28 » ANA GIBEER
5T &l — % & 8§ % [116,000,00015
BhE TEEAERI1I4MEBT
1T 88 £ 201112 A2 H £2015
F1281H - BB AL E
B B A F B 51,992,000 JT °
% 6,000,000 17 B8 I% 4 B 10 F W8
W - NI B A R (R R 8 B B B A 7
$ 745,000/ ST E B 2s 5k (20124 -
SR RS I AE B 2 994,0008 7T ) © B
645,000/ 7T A i AR RE R i BB B = R
BFNE o RS BRI & AR TER
s HEe o
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34, BERAE )
(b) EERRFESTEI(m)

34. Share Options (Continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

On 11 April 2011, a total of 226,900,000 share options
under the Share Option Scheme were granted to an
executive director and certain employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries in respect of their services to the Group.
These share options have an exercise price of HK$1.29 per
share and an exercise period ranging from 11 April 2011
to 10 April 2016. Of the total 226,900,000 share options,
15,000,000 share options were granted to Xu Yang, an
executive director of the Company, and 211,900,000 share
options were granted to certain employees of the Group.

The fair value of the 226,900,000 share options granted
was HK$58,175,000, of which the Group recognised a
share option expense of HK$6,226,000 during the current
year (2012: HK$41,320,000). The 29,100,000 share
options were forfeited during the year and HK$2,957,000
was transferred from share option reserve to retained
profits.

On 27 June 2012, a total of 116,870,000 share options
under the Share Option Scheme were granted to executive
directors and certain employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries in respect of their services to the Group.
These share options have an exercise price of HK$1.15 per
share and an exercise period ranging from 27 June 2012
to 26 June 2017. Of the total 116,870,000 share options,
69,870,000 share options were granted to executive
directors of the Company, and 47,000,000 share options
were granted to certain employees of the Group.

The fair value of the 116,870,000 share options granted
was HK$25,140,000, of which the Group recognised a
share option expense of HK$21,695,000 during the current
year.

R2011E4 8118 - RIBERET
B RARRRENE QR —BHMIT
EERETEERBESERAEHE
12 4 /9 AR 75 3% 1 & £ 226,900,000
MBRE ZEERENTEE
BER1.29%8 T © 17{F H & 2011
FA4HA11BZE2016F4 810H  ©
& # 226,900,000 17 B A% # -
15,000,000 B AR #E B 5% T A2 BIH
TEEFE © $211,900,00017 8 %
BARTAEBETIES -

RAFEE - BT H1226,900,00017 B
REHE ~ N F{E 558,175,000/8 7T © H
rh 7R £ (B 7 R B A 7 S 6,226,000
7670 (20124F © 41,320,000 7T ) °
EAr29,100,00017 BE A E R EIRE
2 2,957,000 7T A BE AR & e
BEREBAE -

R2012F6 A27H © RIEEA T
EMARRREMBARZ BT
EERETERENESTAARSEM
12 A AR 7% B & 116,870,000
BlRE ZEHERENTERES
HFRA1A5B T - (TEE B2012F
6A2TBE2017F6 A26H ° i
4 # 116,870,000 1 17 f# # & -
69,870,00017 & Ix#E B 5 T AN 2 A
1TE % » 347,000,000 BE AL #E R
FAREESETIES -

Fff #% 116,870,000 17 B8 A% # &9 A
3 {E /& 25,140,000 78 7T *© H A &K
SEERAFEARRBREMX
21,695,0005 7T,
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34, BERAE )
(b) EERRFESTEI(m)

34. Share Options (continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

These share options were estimated as at the date of grant
by Vigers, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were

BURETA R B HIER A — R E A 8
S EBBREETER - EREEER
PR B B 85K e IR 1 © TR 7

granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model: TETRAEXMEAE :

Share price at the date of grant (HK$) R B 2 RE(ET) 1.15
Exercise price (HK$) IEECET) 1.15
Dividend vield (%) fi% B2 (%) 3.27
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR B 1% (%) 30.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 47 [ F 1) 2R (%) 0.40
Exercise multiple ITEREE 1.63-2.20

The expected life of the options is based on historical data
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility was determined
based on the movement of the share price of the Company
since listing, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome. No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme during the year:

BRENBRFRINRELBES

o TEDRENETIIRE £h B HEA
RABEZEHMET - RUEER
R FTEQTER - WERERMEK
R AR ) B A1 o

T PR AR R B A AT &
RITHE -

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A3MNBLEE
2013 2012

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price
per share Number of per share Number of
B e options FRRNEE options
FHTEE  BREHA THiTRE  EkEHE
HK$ '000 HK$ ’000
BT T3 BT Fp
At beginning of year REL] 1.2933 218,200 1.4100 6,000
Granted during the year FRFEL 1.1500 116,870 1.2900 226,900
Forfeited during the year FRLM 1.3105 (35,100) 1.2900 (14,700)
At end of year RELL 1.2354 299,970 1.2933 218,200
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34. Share Options (continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

2013

34. IBIRRE )
(b) EBRRETEI )

BERESHR - RTEBRENTTRE

EBRITERDT

20134

Number of options

Exercise price

Exercise period

BREHE TfEE 1T
’000 HK$ per share
FB& FBRBT
76,200 1.2900 11-04-2011 to 10-04-2016
2011548118 £20165F4 5108
47,700 1.2900 11-04-2012 to 10-04-2016
201254811 B &£20165F4H810H
47,700 1.2900 11-04-2013 to 10-04-2016
2013F4A11HE20165F4H810H
11,500 1.2900 11-04-2014 to 10-04-2016
201454811 B E£20165F4 5108
55,435 1.1500 27-06-2012 to 26-06-2017
201256 H27H £20175F6H26H
58,435 1.1500 27-06-2013 to 26-06-2017
2013%56H27HZE2017F6H26H
3,000 1.1500 27-06-2014 to 26-06-2017
201456 H27HE20175F6H26H
299,970
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34. Share Options (Continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2012

34, BERAE )
(b) EERRFESTEl(m)

20125

Number of options

Exercise price

Exercise period

fERREZ B 116 E 1T HA
’000 HKS per share
T AT
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2011 to 1-12-2015
201112 2B £2015F12A1H
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2012 to 1-12-2015
2012F12 A2B £2015F12 A1H
2,000 1.4100 2-12-2013 to 1-12-2015
2013F12 2B £2015F12 818
78,700 1.2900 11-04-2011 to 10-04-2016
201154 11 B &2016F4 A 108
57,400 1.2900 11-04-2012 to 10-04-2016
2012F4 A11B £2016F4 108
57,400 1.2900 11-04-2013 to 10-04-2016
2013F4 A11BE2016F4 A10H
18,700 1.2900 11-04-2014 to 10-04-2016
201454 11 B £2016F4 A10H
218,200

At the end of reporting period, the Company had
299,970,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 4.96%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 299,970,000 additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital HK$2,999,700
and share premium of HK$433,882,800 (before issue
expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a total
of 34,500,000 shares were exercised, of which have an
exercise price of HK$1.29 per share.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 265,470,000 share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 4.39% of the Company’s shares in issue as
at that date.
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R EBRE - RIRERERTE -
KA 8]/ 299,970,000 % A 17 1% B A%
- EERALREEBEEITROA
4.96% ° IRIEARRRIREHEREE
mE @ 2ETERITEBERESS
AR A 7] 3£17299,970,000 4% 28 41
5 I N BB INAR A 2,999, 7007 Tt K
433,882,800/ 7T % 17 4 B (HIBR BE1T
FSZAl) °

REREHIRZ A ££84,500,00017 B
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35. Reserves
(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and the prior year are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 103 to 104 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-
foreign joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits
of the Group’s subsidiaries which are established in the
PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve which is
restricted as to use.

35. f#1E

(a

AEE
AEBNFESBBENAEE RSB
FEENEBE NI IERERFE103E
104 B AR EREFRET -

RIEBEFING ERFRABERLER
ZRER B PR R B S AV B B A R EY
MO BEBERERZRIRBIEEE
R

(b) Company (b) &RAF]
Capital Share Share
redemption option premium Retained
reserve reserve account profits Total
VN
f#fE BERERE ROSER REANE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET THET FAET FET
At 31 March 2011 12011438318 204 64,915 3,050,723 309,642 3,425,484
Profit for the year F A FIE - - - 275,100 275,100
Lapse of share options BRI - (15,004) - 15,004 -
Equity-settled share option DA A E O RE AR
arrangement (note 34) ZHE(FT5E34) - 42,314 - - 42,314
Proposed final dividends BRI E
(note 12) (Fi#E12) = - - (449,067)  (449,067)
At 31 March 2012 201243 A31H 204 92,225 3,050,723 150,679 3,293,831
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35. Reserves (Continued)

35. W)

(b) Company (Continued)

(b) &2 7] )

Capital Share Share
redemption option  premium  Retained
reserve reserve account profits Total
EAEE
e BRERE ROEEER REFE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$°000 HK$’000
T THET THET THEI THER
At 31 March 2012 M201263H31H 204 92,225 3,050,723 150,679 3,293,831
Profit for the year F A FIE - - - 471,248 471,248
Lapse of share options (note 34) B& %424 (Fi5£34) - (28,360) - 28,360 -
Equity-settled share option DA A E R AR
arrangement (note 34) ZHE(Bi5E34) - 27,176 - - 27,176
Final 2012 dividend paid BiT2012RER & - - - (4,950) (4,950)
Exercise of share options I ERRE
(note 34) (BMizE34) - (24,758) 93,398 - 68,640
Proposed final dividends e NN
(note 12) (BfaE12) - - - (605,356)  (605,356)
At 31 March 2013 20133 H31H 204 66,283 3,144,121 39,981 3,250,589

36. Acquisition of a Subsidiary

On 30 November 2012, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement with Jining Hydoo Modern Enterprise Company
Limited (“Jining Hydoo”) to acquire the 100% equity interest
in Hydoo Harbin at a cash consideration of RMB500,000,000
(equivalent to HK$624,950,000). Hydoo Harbin is principally
engaged in the development and operation of the large-
scale integrated logistics and trade centers in Harbin.
The consideration of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$624,950,000) has been paid up by 17 January 2013.

In the opinion of the directors, up to the date of acquisition,
Hydoo Harbin has not carried out any significant business
transactions except for holding certain parcels of land in
Harbin. Therefore, Hydoo Harbin acquired by the Group does
not constitute a business. The above acquisition has been
accounted for by the Group as an acquisition of assets.
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36. Acquisition of a Subsidiary continueq) 36. WiE—RHMBAR (=
The net assets acquired by the Group in the above transaction REFEN FWERZSNHRWER 2 EEF
are as follows: BT
Note HK$’'000
Btk FAT
Net assets acquired: P& = FE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - = KA 14 7,047
Properties under development BERPYIFE 16 734,200
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENFIR © e REMEWKRIE 229,447
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAE R 49,169
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEAMENTIE (394,913
624,950
Satisfied by: BRAR
Cash He 624,950
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in B R RBESEEMRLFEIN
respect of the acquisition is as follows: m
HK$’'000
FAT
Cash consideration ReERE (624,950)
Cash and bank balances acquired P 3R & R IR TS R 49,169

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included &&/EHIE L RBIE 2R S M

in cash flows from investing activities R EEYIN TR (575,781)

37. Pledge of Assets 37. EEIKH
Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings, which are UARSEBEEEERTFNRITREME
secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, BEHBER M BHRERNE14 1516 -

15, 16, 17, 24 and 30 to the financial statements. 17 ~ 24230 °
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38. Contingent Liabilities 38. WAREE
At the end of each reporting period, contingent liabilities not REMEHAR - TIERRAREBERK
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: NEEWT :
Group Company
rEE KATH
2013 2012 2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FaE FET FAT FET FAT
Guarantees given to AT & HERD
banks in connection with ~ EE& M AIERTT
facilities granted to: TR ER -
A subsidiary —ZKHEBAF] (i) - = 400,000 61,645
Third parties B=F5 (i 1,366,416 352,639 - -
China South City EZEMEZECTR)
Enterprise (Heyuan) BRAF]
Co., Ltd. (CREXD
(“Heyuan Enterprise”) (iii - 78,906 - -
1,366,416 431,545 400,000 61,645

(i)  As at 31 March 2013, the banking facilities granted to a
subsidiary subject to guarantees given to the banks by
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$400,000,000 (2012: HK$61,645,000).
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38. Contingent Liabilities continueq)

(i)

(i)

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with
the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the
Group’s trade centers and residential properties and bank
loans entered into by lessees of the Group’s residential
and commercial properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by
these purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible
to repay the outstanding loans together with accrued
interest thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted
purchasers and lessees to banks. The Group is then
entitled to take over the legal titles and usage rights of the
related properties. For trade center units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee period commences from
the dates of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the
purchasers obtain the building ownership certificate which
will then be pledged with the banks. For leased residential
and commercial properties, the guarantees will be released
accordingly along with the repayment of loan principal by
the lessees.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
financial years in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers and lessees of the
Group’s properties. The directors consider that in case of
default on payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

The Group provided guarantees for bank facility in the
amount of HK$78,906,000 to Heyuan Enterprise, as at
31 March 2012. The guarantees provided by the Group
for Heyuan Enterprise (a subsidiary was disposed of in
September 2011) was released at the end of the reporting
period.

38. HAREBE @

(i)

(i)

FTRITEARERZHLREED
FERLAEBEERAEYFE AR
ADRIET B ER M ERITERR - K
SEpZFRITEFIRMBER - RIZ
ZEERER - WREERIABEA
WREFER  AEEEREERM
B3 EREEAE - UERKER
RABAERBITOEMREE - H
% AEEBREZERBYERNEE
EELERE BERXRFPTLOEEE
FEEWETE - EREAAEETER
B E EREUSERIER TRT
MEERZE B S - AEEER
BEVEMS - FEREGEAEAER

AEERYBEFEAYL EE R AR
MEERMARABER RSB E TR
HERESEAENESE -EFR
& i hIRIERFIENIER - Y
FO R EHFER AN REEKRS
EFGE R TR SR ETK -
BERAFELFFEEATE -

REEFTREENRTHERES
F 201243 A 31 H 478,906,000
TCEIR o ANEEBUIRE 2 (722011
FOREHEN KRB AR R
RS B R AR -
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39. Operating Lease Arrangements

(a

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) and
properties sold with cooperation and leasing arrangements
with the purchasers under operating lease arrangements
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years. The
terms of the leases also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

é:(« o]

"L =

@

=HE L5

ERHEA
AEBERBEEHELHHERERE
WE(ME15) REBEERNEERE
ERHNEHLEYE  AEFHIZE0
FHHEES - HEHRFITRERP X
I -

REREHR - AKERBEEBESET
MR G ETEE R T IR HA
ZARKEEKESERRMT

E=
Group ARE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within one year —F R 192,169 174,322
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERF(BREEREMFERN) 444,175 246,209
After five years AFE 530,666 151,645
1,167,010 572,176
As lessee (b) ERABEA
The Group leases certain of its land and buildings, vehicles REBUCEAELHAES T i
and properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases LMER - REREEVS - WhEm—
are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years. ERFHEER -
At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the REMEIR - AEERADFIRE
Company had total future minimum lease payments under A AR ERTYRHE 2 K
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: REARHESAETELAT -
Group Company
rEH NG|
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FHIT FTHET FAT
Within one year —F R 127,525 78,167 1,382 1,441
In the second to fifth years, F£-ZFFHF
inclusive (BHEEEMFENA) 509,821 70,472 - 1,382
Total 4act 637,346 148,639 1,382 2,823
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40. Commitments

41,

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
39(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the
end of each reporting period:

40. HIE

B £ EE39(b) Rt A S TR E AHESD -
REREHR - NEEE THHAE -

Group FEME
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: EETABEREAE -
Properties under development ERPYE 3,636,413 3,129,692

Related Party Transactions

(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the Group had the following material

N BEALRS
(a) BIBRESERBHNZ I  RE
A ANEEEREEATETT THE

transactions with related parties during the year: AR S
Group rEE
2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FHET FHT
Companies in which a director of $ BEES ety
the Company is a controlling /NS
shareholder:
Rental expense and related WAENHASHST R
service fees for office building HEREREE B (i) 1,828 1,822
Rental expense for trade centers X SO RIFEEH X (ii) 725 819
Notes: BEE -

(i) On 23 February 2011, the Company entered into a lease
agreement for the period from 17 March 2011 to 16 March
2014 with Man Sang International Limited, a company of
which a director of the Company is a controlling shareholder.
The total lease expense in 2014 to be approximately
HK$1,800,000. The rental expense and related service
fees for the office building for the year were related to the
leasing of office space provided to the Group by Man Sang
International Limited. The fees were based on terms mutually
agreed between both parties.

(i) The rental expense was related to leasing of trade centers
provided to the Group by related parties. The rental was
based on terms mutually agreed between the parties.

(i)

R20119F2H23H * ARARIERA
BEEERAR(AQA—RESHHE
PERR AR 2R ) 5T AT E 3201143
B17BZE201453A16H ° 20144
H 4870 & 7 < #51,800,000/8 T °
FR - PRENTEESFE RABRR
BEAEREEBRERARRAE
BHARAEEMELH BEHRER
RIS e ERGETH o

HEWARBEATRAREELHE
ZHH “ﬁ? HERETHEER
TEHYERTRETE
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41. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

N EBEALTRS®

Other transaction with a related party (b) EMtEEERS
During the year, Harbin China South City Company Limited, RERNKERBEREBEBREAR(—XK
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company MEZEEENMBAR)  HEEESET
entered into an acquisition agreement with Jining Hydoo T WE—RH B A RN R o THE
to acquire a subsidiary. Jining Hydoo was indirectly SEAEESEREBEEAAN  BhA
beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Choi Hing, a director of AZERBET—NEE  FEARS
Xi’an China South City Company Limited. Further details HABH BN A BHED M E
of the transaction are included in note 36 to the financial 3645z °
statements.
Outstanding balances with related (c) EARAE A L 2 B RET4
parties: B8R ¢
()  Details of the Group’s amounts due from/to its jointly- () AEERZTHREHRNEY
controlled entity and associate as at the end of each A —RERZESEEB R —R
reporting period are disclosed in notes 20 and 21, it N R RIEFE S 2 B TRt &
respectively. 20K 21 5E -
(i) As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial (i) REAEMBERRIERFEE &
position, the balance due to non-controlling interests EENEHRBEHLERBEE 2
was fully repaid (2012: HK$53,113,000) as at the end B FE FEFE PR RE 25 20 TE (2012
of the reporting period. £ : 53,113,000/87T) °
Compensation of key management (d XEEFEEEASTHH .
personnel of the Group:
Group AEH
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Short term employee benefits EHEEER 53,951 36,137
Post-employment benefits BB R 30 24
Share-based payments DA A E M SRR 14,504 3,468
Total compensation paid to SR TEEEEAE
key management personnel EOEa) R 68,485 39,629

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of rental expense
and related service fees for office buildings above also
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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42.

43.

Financial Instruments by Category

Other than held for trading investments at fair value through
profit or loss as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
as disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements designated as
such upon initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities of
the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 are
loans and receivables and financial liabilities stated at amortised
cost, respectively.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Group’s financial assets mainly include cash and bank
balances, receivables and held for trading investments at fair
value through profit or loss.

The Group’s financial liabilities mainly include interest-bearing
bank and other borrowing, senior notes and payables.

Except as indicated below, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
and the Company’s financial instruments as at 31 March 2013
and 2012 are approximate to their fair values.

42

43.

L ERTESE

BREATG IR M AR 27 T R OB BB AL
FEIRZFHEEBEREFREREER
DNHEN BT ERE N SRR EE
RSN - PA20183F 201243 A31H + &
RANMAEENMACREENAED 5
A B R B R UK TR R R SHR AR A BRI &
BmAE-

DNFESER
ARENSREETEDER SRR
# - EUHORRE B IR IA D TSR 2

FIEEERE -

AEENEHAEEIRZBRETERITRE
EE - BERBMENR -

IR AEEMARARNEFTA
M2013 % 201293 A31 B Z BRmE B M H
NEE -

Group and Company AEBRARQT
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AEE
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHTT THET FAT
Senior notes BHRERE 2,853,402 1,844,984 2,991,726 1,669,432

The fair value of senior notes is calculated using the market price
on 31 March 2013.

As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, the Group’s financial
instruments which comprised held for trading investments at fair
value through profit or loss were measured at fair value. The fair
values of held for trading investments at fair value through profit
or loss are based on quoted market prices.

BEEBRNATETHE2013F3 318K
MHEHE -

R2013F K2012F3A31H * AEEME
BT A S BB AN TEYR 2 #HE
EERERUNATEZE - HATFERE
RTBHRE -
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43. Fair Value Hierarchy (continueq)
Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value are not based on observable market data (unobservable

43.

NEEEL @

PNEEER
AEBER TSR  URAREES R
TEZATME :

F—A UAIHBREERRBENERT
152 RE(RERAR) REEAEZ N TE

=4 UHTEESHERRDRSA
FEABAFEZ 8 ABERN T A
82 AVE

F= UHEEBLAFEREATE
MAERABEMSEBCGEFBRRERA)Z
BABURNRHE AT EZATE

inputs)
Assets measured at fair value: BATEFAEZEE
Group REH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& -t F=#K et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHT
As at 31 March 2013 A2013%¥3H31H
Held for trading investments at & i@BEz5 AR FEDIBR 2
fair value through profit or loss ~ #{EB H1& & (fizF27)
(note 27) 117,643 - - 117,643
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— F_H FE= HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiBT FET FBT FiBT
As at 31 March 2012 72012563 H31H
Held for trading investments at & @B 25 AR FETIBR 2
fair value through profit or loss  #{EB EIZ A (Ftzr27)
(note 27) 111,986 - - 111,986

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and 2 and no transfer into or
out of Level 3 (2012: Nil).
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives 44, BB EMREEREREE

and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other loans, senior notes, and cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets such as trade receivables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group’s borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 30 and 31
to the financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the
most favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it
encounters to decide whether it is required to hedge against the
possible interest rate risk that may arise.

On 31 March 2013, if the interest rate of bank borrowings had
increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$29,795,000
(2012: HK$17,900,000).

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group
is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial
guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note 38(ii) to
the financial statements.

AEETZeRIABHERRITIAEAME
R EBEER RS MEHRER %F2
MTATERAKEXBEEES - A%
B ZRAMESREE - PIINERK
X2 EELTNRKE SRR -

AEEERTARELNEZRRBET
Rk - FERR - ABEER - SMNE
R R ERR - EFEHER FMEIA
RS BAEITIRT RGBT « %5 RS
UR I

= 7 b
AEEERAMNERREZHASEENG
B - AEBEEERF R RERERE
TERARMITESOR 1A FE - NEBABUR
EAHEERSREFMFE

AEE B 45 B AT Ak PE B A 2R @B LAR
AT R M e E £ XA -

M20139F3A31H * MIRTTEERFI X
EATHBROS%RMEHEMAZRE
N BIAREBAFER G BEE SR
A /18 10 4929,795,000 3 T (2012 £F :
17,900,000/ 7T) °

FERR
AEBCHEERFEREEREESEY -
FEUE 5 IR M H A R EN EE Rk
REHFHRMAR - MAlfeER D RE S
BENHETEMNRAE - AEBE AR
HEBERMELEERR  BEFER
B 75 R 2R M 5238 (i) P 55 ©
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M. BEEREEEERBEK

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives

and Policies (continued)
Credit risk

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with licensing
banks which are all high credit quality financial institutions. The
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
For the sales of properties, the Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to buyers with appropriate financial
strength and appropriate percentage of down payments. The
Group would not release the property ownership certificates to
the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment. It also has
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers, the Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 25
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

(%8)

FEERE

AEERK  AEEEZEERTAGE
BT HEHASEEEZNS REE -
BT HEME - $Elﬁﬁﬂ%&ﬂf@
ME=ZFETRS - EEMFELIE - K
EEEE hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ BI5E
EIFEERS wE%HMME%Wﬁ%
€  EEREEEENRA - AEETS
MEBHEER - ANEBMES H BT
2 Fr ARRR SRER IR S e AR B @ HA ROE o
AN - AEBEEHEMSREANE S E
BRI AT UL B £ 58 - AFEIR LR AT U )
SREH RARREBIEYR - A5ET
EEMEAETEERRE - MATESHR
BB ZBRPEFREF o

BRAEEE ZEBEEFMEEREET
7¥<%E’UJ§LF§?E’Ui’i*i%ﬁ%ﬂfﬁ’\\ﬁﬁk#&%
MzFosh i EE -

REE SRR
AEENEEREBERRTER - #5

BeREERER N HHFE -

AEBR R RPHESERFNSRAENE
HIER(RRARARITRAZFOMT

Group rEE
2013
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand oneyear twoyears fiveyears five years Total
FEER —FR F-ZE-F F-FRHF hFEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$’000
THET THET THET THET THET THET
Amount due to an R — KRB 2N E]
associate EOrE] 3,141 - - - - 3,141
Financial liabilities FARNES R
included in trade and H A e FRIR Y
other payables SHAE - 4,372,835 - - - 4,372,835
Senior notes BLEE - 385,398 385,398 3,503,448 - 4,274,244
Financial guarantee HE=ZFRT
granted to third parties ~ BIFS#E(R 1,366,416 - - - - 1,366,416
Interest-bearing bank ~ FERITR
and other borrowings HifgE 84,995 4,778,186 1,936,639 2,482,214 848,952 10,130,986
Total @t 1,454,552 9,536,419 2,322,037 5,985,662 848,952 20,147,622
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives

44, M EEEEBRERBEX

and Policies (continued) (%&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER 2
2012
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand oneyear twoyears fiveyears  five years Total
fEE sk —FR F-ZE-F F_EAF HFk& F
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT TAT FAT THT FHAT
Amount due to an R — KRB 2N E]
associate B = - 3,094 = = 3,094
Financial liabilities AFARNES K
included in trade and H A e FRIR Y
other payables CRIEE - 3,308,612 - - - 3,308,612
Senior notes BEERE - 253,773 253,773 2,387,346 - 2,894,892
Interest-bearing bank B RITR
and other borrowings HipfEE 240,097 2,719,840 684,870 1,165,199 514,334 5,324,340
Financial guarantee HEZHRT
granted to third parties B F5#E(R 431,545 = = = - 431,545
Amount due to non- JERT IR
controlling interests A - - 53,113 = = 53,113
Total 4=t 671,642 6,282,225 994,850 3,552,545 514,334 12,015,596
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives 44 B EKREEEERKE

and Policies (continued) (%&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) ARBE SRR 5

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as AARRERABERFENS R A SR
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual MR GZBRERARITIRNAZTOLT ¢

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Company NN
2013
On Within One to Two to
demand oneyear twoyears five years Total
FEEXR —FR B-E-F ETERF st

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
TER TER TER TER TERr

Due to subsidiaries i3RI ENGIE 35,924 - - - 35,924
Financial liabilities included in -~ &t A EL fth fE{ 3408
other payables, accruals and  fE5HIE R KB UiZ & H)

deposits received cHEE - 72,534 - - 72,534
Financial guarantee granted H—RMBARERT

to a subsidiary SR - 400,000 - - 400,000
Senior notes BERE - 385398 385398 3,503,448 4,274,244
Total Fa 35,924 857,932 385,398 3,503,448 4,782,702
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives 44 BIBEBREEBERKE

and Policies (continued) ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) REVE SRS
2012
On Within One to Two to
demand oneyear twoyears five years Total
JEZK —FRN F—ZEZ-F F-_FRF st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HKE000  HK$000  HK$'000
THT TR THET TET THT

Due to subsidiaries FERTHTB A IR 899 = = = 899
Financial liabilities included in &+ A EL A fE( 5018 -
other payables, accruals and ~ fE:HER REKIEEH

deposits received TRIBE - 35,453 - = 35,453
Financial guarantee granted to  #—ZRMB A AR T
a subsidiary TSR - 61,645 = = 61,645
Senior notes BhER - 253,773 253,773 2,387,346 2,894,892
Total HBET 899 350,871 253,773 2,387,346 2,992,889
Foreign exchange risk HPEE B B

The Group’s only investment in Mainland China remains its
operating vehicle, which solely conducts business within
Mainland China. Except for interest payables, repayment
of foreign currency loans obtained to finance the Group’s
operations and any potential future dividend its subsidiaries
might be declared of to its shareholders, the bulk of Group’s
revenue, capital investment and expenses are denominated
in RMB. At the date of approval of the financial statements,
the Group had not experienced any difficulties in obtaining
government approval for its necessary foreign exchange
purchases. During the year, the Group did not issue any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

AEEGEPRAEEGNRERBNAR
RERNA > ZRRHEEPBERELERE
%o REMFE  AEEBEELERTM
RSHINEERHERIAREN B R E A
BEREBR EIRAEM BB BN - NE
BAFDOWA - BERRERFASIIUAAR
BREN - RMBHRRIERS - AEE
AR ABERBINET @ -
ABEEMNE - FR - AEBELELYE
HERmBETEMNERIA -
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives

and Policies (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

4. FEEREEREREE

(48)

SN LB ()
TRETERE LSS R TEER
T AR AR RS AR A RS
ERA AL A BB MGURE - AERA
FBHE S E S EER A BOAFE
IR B o

Group AEE
Increase/
(decrease) in
Changes in  profit before tax
RMB rate BiATF/E#E M,
ARHEE =S H) CRA)
% HK$’000
FAET
2012 20124
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AR 5 9,981
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB i/ 7T 7, A R EE 8 504 3 (5,989)
2013 2013%F
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT H AR 5 5,214
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against BMB & T 7, A R #2504 3 (3,218)
Equity price risk N

The equity price risk of the Group mainly arises from the
changes in market prices for held for trading investments at
fair value through profit or loss. The book values of this type of
financial assets held by the Group are recognised according to
market quotes as at the end of the reporting period.

On 31 March 2013, if the price of listed equity securities
held by the Group had increased/decreased by 10%, and all
other factors remained unchanged and excluding tax items,
the book values of the listed equity securities of the Group
would have increased/decreased by HK$11,764,000 (2012:
HK$11,199,000).
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AEENRERRERZREBEBBEAR
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives

and Policies (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2013 and 31 March 2012.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the total equity. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, less cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting period were as follows:

(%8)

BERER
AEEEAEENEZEERATHRA
SERBBERERBREERNLERMNEESD - N
TRHEEKEERBERESARREE -

AEERBLOE B RN ES) LA EER
QG EEHEREETHEELS
B o AR AREARNGEE  AEER R
GHFEERRBIREHR S - RRER
EBEARNBITHR - AEBEHABSTEM
SN E A E o B Z=2013F3 A 31
B K2012F3A31BIEFE @ WEFHE
AEBEMNEIZE  BERSEF -

AEBRAEARE szﬂ 5 755 B AR A
R RE)EEENEN - BHFRER
AHRBRITREMER @5‘6%‘%%5)@2@@&
ReZENEXREERE - REEHR
EARBELLERWT ¢

Group rEH
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Senior notes (note 31) BEEE(MFES31) 2,853,402 1,844,984
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & B3R1T M EM(EE (FizE30)
(note 30) 8,999,995 4,773,382

Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B RERREEEYR

restricted cash (note 28) R HI3R 2 (Ki5E28) (6,777,842) (3,831,987)
Net debt (E R 5,075,555 2,786,379
Total equity HeaiaER 16,042,761 12,995,291
Gearing ratio BAREFHE 32% 21%
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45. Events After the Reporting Period

(@)

On 9 April 2013, ASEAN City (BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued convertible notes in
principal amount of HK$975,000,000 (the “Convertible
Notes”). The Convertible Notes are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The Convertible
Notes carry interest at the rate of 6.5% per annum, payable
semi-annually on April 9 and October 9 in arrears, and
will mature in 2018. The offering price was at 100% of the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes.

In May 20183. Hefei China South City Company Limited
(“CSC Hefei”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has successfully bid for the land use rights for the first batch
of land located in Feixi County, Hefei City, Anhui Province,
the PRC, with a total site area of approximately 1,356,000
sg.m. at a total consideration of RMB1,034,650,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,293,209,000) at the
auction held on 10 May 2013, 22 May 2013 and 29 May
2013 in which the land was put up for tender, auction
and listing-for-sale by the Hefei Land Resources Bureau.
Auction confirmations have been entered into between the
Feixi Land Resources Bureau and CSC Hefei in respect
of the acquisition of land. The land will be used for the
development of the Hefei project.

46. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 24 June 2013.
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45 FEHEERREE

@ M2013F4A9R8  REHBV)ER
AR —KAARRHE 2 BT
M8 A F])E1TAR S EEA975,000,000
ETTH AT AR R ([ AT HRAR IR ) o

A 2 i R4 10 T D3R R 55

BRARET - I RBREZEFENEE
6.5% @ FEFR4A9B M10A9BRH
BEAS o AW HR2018F R H - &
EAAREREERARSEERN100% °

(b) M2013F58 ' AREZ2ENBA
AARERRARAR([ABRER
W 1) W2013%5 A10 8 » 20134
5H22H Kk201345 A20H £17 2
HE  (ERAEMELERSH
ZIHIRE - HEREME) R
BEBMNRTFEEEMZHE
#A (5 b T 78 491,356,000 F 77 K &
BEER
A R ¥ 1,034,650,000 ( 48 % 7 4
1,293,209,000/87T) - & L&
TRBEA EZEREE E R L 3RET
Z T RIEERAIE

Btz 3 B -

PARHERE
BHE -
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